On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.) der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

vorgelegt von

Svenja Dobbert

aus Siegen

Bonn 2022

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Jörg Löffler, Geographisches Institut, Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Roland Pape, Department of Natural Sciences and Environmental Health, University of South-Eastern Norway

Tag der Promotion: 06.12.2022

Erscheinungsjahr: 2022

Abstract

Arctic-alpine ecosystems are considered hot-spots of environmental change, with rapidly warming conditions causing massive alterations in vegetational structure. These changes and their environmental controls are highly complex and variable across spatial and temporal scales. Yet, despite their numerous implications for the global climate system, the underlying physiological processes and mechanisms at the individual plant scale are still little explored. Using, for the first time systematically and to a greater extent, hourly recordings of shrub stem diameter change provided by dendrometers, paired with on-site environmental conditions, enabled us to shed light on these processes. In this way, growth patterns in three widely distributed shrub species were assessed and linked to thermal and hygric conditions. Starting with a close examination of one evergreen species under extreme environmental conditions, followed by a comparison of evergreen and deciduous species, and, finally, a comparative look at growth patterns across local micro-habitats, our analysis revealed distinct growth strategies, closely linked to species-specific water-use dynamics and cambial rhythms. Within the heterogenous alpine landscape these conditions were mainly attributed to the variation in local micro-habitats, defined by fine-scale topography and consequent variation in snow conditions and exposure. Thus, the overall growth success was mainly controlled by complex seasonal dynamics of soil moisture availability, snow conditions, and associated freeze-thaw cycles and was therefore in many cases decoupled from governing regional climate signals. At the same time, exceedingly high summer temperatures were limiting shrub growth during the main growing season, resulting in more or less pronounced bimodal growth patterns, indicating potential growth limitation with on-going summer warming. While shrubs are currently able to maximize their growth success through a high level of adaptation to local micro-site conditions, their continued growth under rapidly changing conditions is uncertain. However, our results suggest a high level of heterogeneity across spatial and temporal scales. Thus, broad-scale vegetational shifts can not be explained by a singular driver or uniform response pattern. Instead, fine-scale physiological processes and on-site nearground environmental conditions have to be incorporated into our understanding of these changes.

Zusammenfassung

Die arktisch-alpinen Ökosysteme sind als Hot-spot des Umweltwandels bekannt. Rapide ansteigende Temperaturen haben während den vergangenen Jahrzehnten für massive Veränderungen in der Vegetationsstruktur gesorgt. Dennoch sind diese Veränderungen und ihre Treiber räumlich und zeitlich sehr komplex und trotz ihres starken Einflusses auf das globale Klima sind die zu Grunde liegenden physiologischen Prozesse und Mechanismen auf der Ebene der einzelnen Pflanzen noch immer wenig untersucht. Zum ersten Mal wurden hier deshalb in großem Umfang stündliche Dendrometer-Messungen der Stammdickenveränderungen von Sträuchern, zusammen mit hoch aufgelösten, Standort-spezifischen Umweltdaten genutzt, um diese Prozesse genauer zu beleuchten. Auf diese Weise wurden Wachstumsprozesse dreier Straucharten untersucht und mit den standörtlichen thermischen und hygrischen Bedingungen in Verbindung gebracht. Zunächst wurde dabei das Wachstum einer immergrünen Art unter extremen Umweltbedingungen betrachtet. Es folgte ein Vergleich zwischen immergrünen und laubwerfenden Arten und, abschliessend, eine vergleichende Betrachtung der Wachstumsmuster in unterschiedlichen lokalen Mikrohabitaten. Dadurch konnten ausgeprägte Wachstumsstrategien offengelegt werden, die stark mit dem Wasserhaushalt und Wachstumsrythmus der einzelnen Arten in Verbindung stehen. In heterogener alpiner Topographie sind diese Bedingungen Ausdruck der Variabilität in kleinräumigen Mikrohabitaten, die v.a. durch die Variabilität in Schneeverteilung und Sonneneinstrahlung bedingt wird. Der Wachstumserfolg insgesamt ist hauptsächlich durch saisonale Dynamiken bestimmt, darunter die Verfügbarkeit von Bodenwasser, Schneeverteilung, und damit verbundene Frostwechselzyklen. Übergeordnete, regionale Klimavariabilität spielt eine geringere Rolle. Gleichzeitig wird das Wachstum im Sommer durch außergewöhnlich hohe Temperaturen stark negativ beeinträchtigt, wodurch eine mehr oder weniger stark ausgeprägt Bimodalität in den jährlichen Wachstumsmustern entsteht. Dies deutet auf eine mögliche Wachstumslimitierung unter Sommererwärmung hin. Während Sträucher demnach aktuell in der Lage sind, ihren Wachstumserfolg durch ein hohes Maß an Anpassung an kleinräumige Bedingungen zu maximieren, ist es fraglich, in wie weit dieses Wachstum unter sich schnell ändernden Bedingungen fortgesetzt werden kann. Die Ergebnisse dieser Arbeit deuten darauf hin, dass diese Prozesse stark räumlich und zeitlich variieren werden. Die beobachteten Vegetationsveränderungen in den arktisch-alpinen Ökosystemen können demnach nicht durch einen einzelnen Treiber oder allgemeingültiges Antwortmuster erklärt werden. Stattdessen müssen physiologische Prozesse und standort-spezifische kleinräumige Umweltbedingungen in unser Verständnis dieser Veränderungen einbezogen werden.

Ш

On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs Table of contents

Table of contents

AbstractI
ZusammenfassungII
Table of contentsIll
1 Introduction1
2 Material and Methods4
2.1 Focal species4
2.2 Study areas6
2.3 Study design and data collection11
2.3.1 Dendrometer measurements11
2.3.2 Radial stem changes - Growth or water induced swelling?
2.3.3 Environmental measurements15
2.4 Statistical analysis and modelling of growth processes17
3 Results and Discussion18
3.1 Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum19
3.2 Betula nana
3.3 Phyllodoce caerulea26
3.4 General conclusions and synthesis28
4 References
5 The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs – a case study to investigate stem growth responses to environmental conditions
6 Contrasting growth response of evergreen and deciduous arctic-alpine shrub species to climate variability
7 How does spatial heterogeneity affect inter- and intraspecific growth patterns in tundra shrubs? 97

1 Introduction

In alpine ecosystems, where low temperatures prevent tree growth and woody plants reach their upper distribution limit (KÖRNER, 2021), changing vegetation productivity and composition are a highly sensitive indicator of climate and environmental change (LU et al., 2022). In the arctic-alpine regions, rapid warming is outpacing the global average, turning these high-elevation ecosystems into hotspots of change (IPCC, 2021; POST et al., 2019; AMAP, 2021). Lengthening growing seasons (EPSTEIN et al., 2017), changing snow-cover conditions (XU et al., 2013), and extreme winter warming events (BJERKE et al., 2017), are strongly enhancing shrub growth and promote shrub encroachment at the uppermost distribution limit, leading to a wide-spread increase in biomass and coverage of dwarf shrubs, as well as profound changes in species composition (GOTTFRIED et al., 2012; XU et al., 2013; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2015; GAMM et al., 2018; ZHANG et al., 2018). Over the past decades this trend has caused large-scale greening of huge areas of the circumpolar North, confirmed from space with remote sensing methods (MYNENI et al., 1997; JIA et al., 2003; EPSTEIN et al., 2012; BERNER et al., 2020), as well as through extensive ground observations (FORBES et al., 2010; ELMENDORF et al., 2012; MACIAS-FAURIA et al., 2012), and indigenous knowledge (CUERRIER et al., 2015). Consequently, this so-called "Arctic greening," has been identified as one of the clearest examples of the terrestrial impact of climate change (FORBES et al., 2010; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2011; FRASER et al., 2014; CARLSON et al., 2016; BJORKMAN and GALLOIS, 2020; COLLINS et al., 2021; IPCC, 2021). Observed and predicted vegetational shifts of this scale are of immense importance to the carbon balance of ecosystems (JOOS et al., 2001; MISHRA and RILEY, 2012; NAUTA et al., 2014; ALDAY et al. 2020), putting a large carbon pool at risk by promoting carbon release from permafrost thaw (SCHUUR et al., 2013; SCHUUR et al. 2015). At the same time, they have major impacts on the global water cycle (ZWIEBACK et al. 2019) and lead, due to changes in the surface albedo, to self-amplifying feedbacks regarding the global climate system (CHAE et al. 2015; ZHANG et al. 2018; BJORKMAN and GALLOIS. 2020).

However, recent observations revealed the complexity and spatial heterogeneity of the greening trend (MACIAS-FAURIA et al., 2020; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2020), with some areas appearing remarkably stable in the face of rapidly warming conditions (CALLAGHAN et al., 2021), while others even experience a "browning" of vegetation (BHATT et al., 2013; PHOENIX and BJERKE, 2016; LARA et al., 2018; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2020), caused by physical damage related to extreme events (BOKHORST et al., 2009), as well as reductions in productivity (MYERS-SMITH et al., 2020). Indeed, when considering the overall trends of greening, browning and stability, the most recent analysis (1985 to 2016) shows that 37.3% of the Arctic has greened, 4.7% has browned, and 58% showed no significant change (BERNER et al., 2020).

1

On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs 1 Introduction

While this spatial heterogeneity was recognized from space (XU et al, 2013; BERNER et al., 2020), underlying processes and mechanisms of ecological change on the ground are still poorly understood (GAMM et al., 2017; MACIAS-FAURIA et al., 2020; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2020).

Over the past decade, multiple studies explored the complex environmental controls of growth in tundra shrubs and associated shrubification (BLOK et al., 2011; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2015; HOLLESEN et al., 2015; BJORKMAN et al., 2018). Using dendroecological methods, these studies identified temperatures and soil moisture during the main growing season as the most important drivers in controlling cambial activity in shrubs (BLOK et al. 2011, HOLLESEN et al. 2015, ACKERMAN et al., 2017; WEIJERS et al., 2017; FRANCON et al. 2020a). At the same time, plant life, and especially growth processes of low stature shrubs, in arctic and alpine environments is mainly controlled by near-surface climatic conditions, with a strong influence of micro-topography, modifying the general climate conditions (LÖFFLER, 2003; BÄR et al., 2007; KÖRNER, 2012). Therefore, other effects, including small-scale variations in snow protection and snow cover duration caused by winter and spring warming, as well as changes in precipitation, wind exposure and solar insolation might play an additional role in promoting or impeding shrub growth (HOLLESEN et al., 2015; WEIJERS et al., 2018a; FRANCON et al., 2020a). However, since past studies mostly rely on annual measurements of stem or shoot growth, obtained from shrubring series (MACIAS-FAURIA et al., 2012; LE MOULLEC et al., 2019), extraction of micro-cores, or wood anatomical analyses (Rossi et al., 2006; Weijers et al., 2010; Liang et al., 2012; Francon et al., 2020a), the actual, fine-scale physiological processes and mechanisms behind shrub growth remain largely unknown (ACKERMAN et al. 2017). To bridge this knowledge gap, this study presents a novel methodology that aims at the direct exploration of the complex link between environment and stem diameter variation, leading to shrub growth or shrinkage and, ultimately, biomass gain and greening, or biomass loss and decline (Fig. 1).

At the heart of this new methodological approach is the use of fine-scale dendrometers to measure xylem phenology and development at a high temporal resolution. In trees, dendrometers have proven to supply such relevant information with high accuracy, leading to important insights into processes of wood physiology and xylem formation at daily and hourly time scales (DUCHESNE et al. 2012; ROSSI et al. 2016; ZWEIFEL et al. 2021). Previously almost exclusively limited to trees, this tested technology has the potential to provide similarly valuable insigths into growth processes of low stature shrub species, including fine-scale response mechanisms to a changing environment, and information on stem water dynamics and carbon fluxes, with higher quality and resolutions than previously attainable (STEPPE et al., 2015; ZWEIFEL, 2016; GONZÁLEZ-RODRÍGUEZ et al., 2017). Therefore, we here deployed high-precision

dendrometers to bridge the gap between classical dendroecology and the underlying growth physiology of several widely distributed shrub species.

Starting at the intra-species level, we focused on one evergreen shrub species (*Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum*) first, explaining unique growth patterns and adaptation of these patterns under extreme environmental conditions. Here, the application of high-precision dendrometers provided a detailed understanding of the growth processes of this common shrub species and its relation to its immediate environmental surroundings (DOBBERT et al., 2022). Subsequently, we moved to the interspecies level, comparing the highly specialised growth patterns found in *E. hermaphroditum* to a similarly widespread deciduous species (*Betula nana*) at the same sites, revealing highly contrasting growth strategies and environmental controls (DOBBERT et al., 2021a). Finally, a closer look at the spatial variability of these growth strategies within the highly heterogenous alpine landscape gave important insights into the overall plasticity of the examined shrub species and potential range and niche shifts in response to future environmental change. (DOBBERT et al., 2021b). With this project we were thus able to tackle the following questions:

- 1) How and to what extent are fine-scale physiological mechanisms of common shrub species controlled by the specific conditions of their immediate surroundings?
- 2) How do these mechanisms and environmental controls vary on an inter-species level?
- 3) How and to what extent do individual specimens optimize radial growth processes to maximize growth success at contrasting sites within arctic-alpine environemts?
- 4) How is micro-site environmental change potentially affecting fine-scale physiological mechanisms, driving the observed large-scale vegetational shifts?

On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs 2 Material and Methods



Fig. 1: Stem diameter change can be interpreted as an indicator for shrub growth and consequent shrubification, resulting in biomass gain and greening of the affected areas across tundra ecosystems. Thus, we here explore the important link between on-site environmental conditions and stem diameter measurements provided by fine-scale dendrometers. In turn, these environmental conditions (including near and below ground temperatures, soil moisture and global radiation), are a result of the regional climate signal as well as the heterogenous alpine environment, leading to uneven snow distribution, differences in annual soil freezing and thawing, and exposure to solar radiation.

2 Material and Methods

2.1 Focal species

The alpine vegetation of the tundra biome from the treeline upwards is generally sparse and dominated by shrubs, chionophobous lichens and graminoid species (DAHL, 1986), with shrubs close to reaching their elevational limit within our study areas in Central Norway. For this project, we selected three of the most common shrub species found in these areas, two evergreen (*Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum* (Hagerup), crowberry, hereafter *E. hermaphroditum*, and *Phyllodoce caerulea* (Linnaeus), blue mountain heath, hereafter *P. caerulea*), and one deciduous (*Betula nana* (Linnaeus), dwarf birch, hereafter *B. nana*) (Table 1, Fig. 2). Aside from dominating large parts of the alpine ecosystems of Central Norway, all three species have a near circumpolar distribution (BÜNTGEN et al., 2015; HULTÉN, 1968) and exert considerable effects on tundra communities (BELL and TALLIS, 1973; BRET-HARTE et al., 2001; COKER and COKER, 1973; WAHREN et al., 2005). Thus, they play a key role for the greening and browning trends observed in the area (CRAWFORD, 2008; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2015; HULLESEN et al., 2015). For this reason, as well as due to their wide availability, especially *B. nana* and

E. hermaphroditum have been excessively studied in recent years (BRET-HARTE et al., 2001; BIENAU et al., 2014; HOLLESEN et al., 2015; CAHOON et al, 2016; LI et al., 2016; HEIN et al., 2020), with E. hermaphroditum being the first shrub species for which dendroecological ring-width series were developed (BÄR et al., 2006; BÄR et al., 2007).

B. nana and E. hermaphroditum occur across a broad range of micro-habitats and are able to tolerate comparatively low winter temperatures, varying snow cover thickness, and harsh winds to a certain extent (ANDREWS et al., 1980; STUSHNOFF and JUNTTILA, 1986; de GROOT et al., 1997; ÖGREN, 2001; BÄR et al., 2007). However, both species prefer moderate conditions (DIERBEN, 1996), and *B. nana* has been shown to react positively to a warming climate (WAHREN et al., 2005). P. caerulea, on the other hand, usually grows best at habitats with prolonged snow cover (more than 100 days annually) and primarily prefers slopes (COKER and COKER, 1973; KAMEYAMA et al., 2008). B. nana commonly surpasses both E. hermaphroditum and P. caerulea in height (COKER and COKER, 1973; DE GROOT et al., 1997), and is thus likely to influence growth of its competitors by restricting their exposure to solar radiation (BRET-HARTE et al., 2001; BÄR et al., 2007).

' sampled type: evergreen or a	teciduous specie	s distribution: the global o	distribution of th	e respective spec	, ries
Species	Sampled	Positions	Elevation	Туре	Distribution
	specimens		[m a.s.l.]		
	[n]				
Betula nana	34	ridges/	768–1510	deciduous	circumpolar
(Linnaeus)		slopes/depressions			(BÜNTGEN et
dwarf birch					al., 2015)
Empetrum nigrum	58	ridges/	768 – 1565	evergreen	circumpolar
ssp. hermaphroditum		slopes/depressions			(BÜNTGEN et
(Hagerup)					al., 2015)

Table 1: Focal shrub species with sampled specimens: the total number of sampled specimens, positions: the topographical positions at which the respective species was sampled, elevation: the elevational range at which the respective species was

(Hagerup)					al., 2015)
Crowberry					
Phyllodoce caerulea	26	slopes	768–1534	eergreen	circumpolar
(Linnaeus)					(Hultén,
blue mountain heath					1968)



E. hermaphroditum

B. nana

Fig. 2 Photos of the three focal species *Betula nana*, *Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum*, and Phyllodoce caerulea (after Löffler et al. 2021).

2.2 Study areas

The study was conducted in two alpine regions of the Tundra biome in Central Norway, representing a steep oceanic-continental gradient (Fig. 3). The Geiranger/Møre og Romsdal region within the inner fjord section of Norway (62°030 N, 7°150 10 E), features well-developed glacial valleys and deeply incised fjords as a result of repeated glaciations during the Quaternary (HOLTEDAHL, 1967). The region is characterized by a mild periglacial climate with slightly to markedly oceanic climatic conditions. The total annual precipitation is 1500 to 2000 mm in the valleys (Aune, 1993) and the mean annual ambient air temperature is 1.9 °C (range –23.2 to 17.2 °C) (LÖFFLER, 2003). To the east, the Vågå/Innlandet region (61°530 N, 9°150 E) is located approximately 150 km from the coast, yet already within the continental climatic section (MOEN and LILLETHUN, 1999). In contrast to the study region to the west, it is characterized by dry conditions, showing the highest aridity found in Norway, with a total annual precipitation of approximately 300 to 500 mm in the valleys (KLEIVEN, 1959). Here, the mean annual

ambient air temperature is -1.2 °C (range -29.2 to 16.7 °C) (LöFFLER, 2003). Both regions are marked by the complex topography typical for alpine environments, where scales of a few tens of metres can give rise to high microclimatic variation (SCHERRER and KÖRNER, 2011; GRAAE et al., 2017; KÖRNER, 2021), with snowdrift leading to an uneven distribution of the snowpack (WUNDRAM and LÖFFLER, 2008), influencing the local species composition (JONASSON, 1981; ODLAND and MUNKEJORD, 2008) (Fig. 4). Consequently, the on-site environmental conditions monitored for this study vary considerably throughout the year, depending on topographical position (Fig. 5c). During winter, north- and southfacing slopes are usually covered by snow, protecting the existing plants till the middle of May and June, respectively. Contrastingly, plants on the wind-blown ridges are exposed the entire year (BÄR et al., 2007), while local depressions are snow filled till well into the summer months. The study sites were chosen to represent this heterogeneity, as well as the steep elevational gradient found in both regions: All sites were located between the treeline (approximately 750 m a.s.l. in the west and approximately 1000 m a.s.l. in the east) and the highest peak in the region (Dalsnibba (1476 m a.s.l.) in the west and Blåhø (1618 m a.s.l.) in the east, Fig. 6). At the lower study sites (low alpine belt), the vegetation is dominated by shrub and heather communities, while the upper sites (middle alpine belt) are characterised by patchy grassy vegetation, with E. hermaphroditum eventually remaining the exclusive shrub species within a matrix consisting of debris and graminoids (DAHL, 1986; BÄR et al., 2007). Reindeer and other grazing animals are not present in the study area.

On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs 2 Material and Methods



Fig. 3 Study areas in Central Norway with the location the Geiranger/Møre og Romsdal region in the west and Vågå/Innlandet region in the east, marked with orange squares, as well as their location in Norway.



Fig. 4 Micro-topographic gradient and studied topographical positions.

On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs 2 Material and Methods



Fig. 5 Measured on-site environmental parameters. Seasonally aggregated data and inter-annual variation (A), and intraannual regimes throughout the study period with standard deviation indicated by shaded areas (B). Additionally, C shows monthly aggregated variability throughout the year, depending on micro-topographic position.



On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs 2 Material and Methods

Fig. 6 Location of studied specimens along the elevational gradient in the Geiranger/Møre og Romsdal region (A) and the Vågå/Innlandet region (B). If possible, at each elevational band a broad variation of micro-topographic positions and existent species was sampled. The size of the data points gives the respective stem diameter at the start of the study period in 2015. Additionally, for reasons of readability the data points are shifted along the x-axis, here. However, this shift does not represent any spatial pattern in the study sites.

2.3 Study design and data collection

This study was designed to represent the full complexity of arctic-alpine shrub life from the treeline to the highest local peak. Individual specimens were thus monitored along a regional climate gradient (oceanic-continental), the alpine elevation gradient, and along the micro-topographic gradient (Fig. 6). The result was a five-year dataset containing continuous, hourly measurements of shrub stem diameter variation from 2015/01/01 till 2019/12/31, with some additional data from 2014 and 2020, as well as on-site environmental measurements for the same time period. This dataset gave rise to numerous opportunities for exploring climate-growth relations across scales within these highly relevant ecosystems (Fig. 7), with the focus on multi-scale modelling of complex patterns of stem diameter change from microsite environmental conditions, shedding light on the physiological mechanisms behind radial stem growth.



Fig. 7 Temporal and spatial aggregation of the measured data and the information potentially derived from each grouping step.

2.3.1 Dendrometer measurements

Given the current environmental change and uncertain climate prognoses (IPCC, 2021), monitoring forest and tree growth dynamics in a changing environment has become an important field of research and a strong focus of dendroecological studies (BREITSPRECHER and BETHEL, 1990; DUCHESNE et al., 2012; JEŽÍK et al., 2016; VAN DER MAATEN et al., 2018; SMILIANIĆ and WILMKING, 2018; CRUZ-GARCÍA et al., 2019).

The first designs for dendrometers to monitor continuous radial stem change in trees were described in the 1930s and the 1940s (REINEKE, 1932; DAUBENMIRE, 1945). Since then, dendrometers have been widely used in tree physiology and forest sciences, mainly to monitor secondary growth responses to environmental fluctuations (BREITSPRECHER and BETHEL, 1990; DUCHESNE et al., 2012; JEŽÍK et al., 2016; VAN DER MAATEN et al., 2018; SMILJANIĆ and WILMKING, 2018). The stem diameter variability measured by dendrometers is a result of cambial activity and underlying fine-scale, eco-physiological mechanisms, including water-driven turgor pressure changes in the xylem (STEPPE et al., 2015; DREW and Downes, 2009; CUNY et al., 2015; CHAN et al., 2016; ZWEIFEL, 2016; PETERS et al., 2021; KÖRNER, 2021). These processes usually occur at timescales ranging from hours to days (DESLAURIERS et al., 2007; KÖCHER et al., 2012; LIU et al., 2018), which is why the fine temporal resolution gained by dendrometers provides valuable additional insights compared to traditional methods. Modern dendrometers developed in recent decades are able to detect radial stem dimensions at hourly or even shorter intervals (DREW and DOWNES, 2009; LIU et al., 2018) and are thus an effective technique for recording intra-annual tree growth variability. Furthermore, because these dendrometers are designed to measure at a micrometer scale, they have the potential to be used on shrubs to provide fine-scale, intra-annual, continuous, and highly comparable information. Consequently, the first study using band dendrometers to monitor radial stem growth of tree-like shrubs was presented recently (GONZÁLEZ-RODRÍGUEZ et al., 2017).

Here, dendrometer measurements were taken using high-precision dendrometers (type DRO; Ecomatik, Dachau/Germany), with a temperature coefficient of <0.2 μ m K⁻¹, mounted on one major above-ground stem horizontal to the ground surface for each specimen, as close to the assumed root collar as possible (approximately 1–5 cm above the ground). When choosing the individual specimens, positions near stones and small depressions, inside the radius of other larger shrub species, and near patches of wind erosion were avoided to ensure accurate measurements.

However, with this monitoring design two main concerns arose and were addressed during the installation process of the dendrometers: 1) Given the multi-stemmed nature of the monitored species, the question arises to what extent the measured singular stem represents the whole plant. This issue was addressed by BÄR et al. (2006, 2007) through serial sectioning of *E. hermaphroditum* specimens. They came to the conclusion that the major stem represents the whole plant at least partly, with some amount of variation between the stems of the same plant. Here, this variation was accounted for by sampling a high number of individual specimens, increasing the overall sample size. However, the intra-plant variability of secondary growth processes provides a multitude of

12

opportunities for future research and might be specifically addressed through wood anatomical analyses. 2) Furthermore, dendrometer measurements on trees have been influenced by changing bark water content causing hygroscopic shrinkage and swelling of dead tissues and consequent uncertainties in stem diameter measurements (ZWEIFEL and HÄSLER, 2000; GALL et al., 2002; ILEK et al., 2016). Here, comparative studies revealed a complex interplay of xylem as well as phloem growth and pressure-induced size changes, which simultaneously affect radial stem change and are thus captured by the dendrometers (TURCOTTE et al., 2011; ZWEIFEL et al., 2014; OBERHUBER et al., 2020; KNÜSEL et al., 2021). Following a common practice for dendrometer measurements of trees (e.g., GRAMS et al., 2021; OBERHUBER et al., 2020; WANG et al., 2020), the dead outer bark was therefore removed to place the sensor as close to the living tissue as possible and to eliminate the effects of such processes.

2.3.2 Radial stem changes - Growth or water induced swelling?

Dendrometers produce time series of stem diameter variability with exceptionally high resolution, providing important information on cambial activity, including cell formation and cell enlargement, thus presenting an alternative to time-consuming traditional dendroecological methods (DESLAURIERS et al., 2007; DREW and DOWNES, 2009; MILLER et al., 2022). At the same time, the raw measurements provided by dendrometers contain stem swelling and shrinking resulting from water-driven turgor pressure changes in the xylem. The radial stem variation measured by dendrometers might therefore be higher than the actual stem growth in terms of wood production (STEPPE et al. 2006; ZWEIFEL et al. 2006; STEPPE et al., 2015; ZWEIFEL et al., 2016). Separating these co-occurring processes is therefore highly important for mechanistically interpreting radial stem variations. In trees, this issue has been addressed in recent years and two main approaches have emerged (ZWEIFEL and HÄSLER, 2000; DESLAURIERS et al., 2007; ZWEIFEL et al., 2016):

The use of sigmoid growth models (e.g., Gompertz, Weibull) to infer growth rates as well as critical dates of stem growth phenology (i.e., timings of onset, peak and offset) has proven successful for a number of species and is especially used to explore climatic controls of total annual growth and timing of the growing phase (Rossi et al., 2003; DUCHESNE et al., 2012; VAN DER MAATEN et al., 2018; LIU et al., 2019) (Fig. 8). With this approach, the estimates produced by the models are considered proxies of seasonal stem growth dynamics. The growing season is then inferred from the model by defining a threshold, i.e. a growth rate larger than 5 µm per day (DUCHESNE et al., 2012), or 5% of the total annual increment (VAN DER MAATEN et al., 2018) for growth start, and 95% or 97.5% of the total annual increment for growth cessation (ZWEIFEL et al., 2016; VAN DER MAATEN et al., 2018). However, a comparison of different thresholds is not included in most studies using this approach (MILLER et al.,

2022). Furthermore, potential water deficits and rehydration of the tree stems are not considered, which is why it is especially useful in regions with a longer growing season and no pronounced winter shrinkage (VAN DER MAATEN et al., 2018; LIU et al., 2019). Using this modelling approach to identify intraannual growth dynamic in shrubs proved to some extend successful for our focal species (DOBBERT et al., 2022). However, it also provided a challenge since the monitored shrub specimens usually showed a higher variability in stem diameter and a less pronounced growing phase with additional stem shrinking during winter and spring (Fig. 8). Here, a more flexible modelling approach (generalized additive models, GAMs) proved more suitable, since additional patterns of stem change, including a pronounced phase of stem shrinking during winter, as well as bimodal growth patterns in some specimens, were captured (Fig. 10a, 11a, 12a).

An alternative to the modelling approach is the so-called zero growth concept, which became increasingly popular in recent years (CUNY et al., 2015; LAMACQUE et al., 2019; PAPPAS et al., 2020; ZWEIFEL et al., 2021). This approach, which was proposed by ZWEIFEL (2016), assumes zero growth during periods of stem shrinkage, providing a concept of how tree growth responds to water shortages. The assumption is based on empirical and theoretical evidence that radial stem growth is suppressed when tree stems are shrinking due to the transpiration-induced lowering of the turgor pressure, meaning that before cell expansion and cell division is promoted, a turgor threshold of the meristem must be crossed (LOCKHART, 1965). Growth is therefore equivalent to an increase in stem radius when the measured radius is larger than it was at any point in the past. Hence, a cumulative maximum curve can be used to describe growth processes, resulting in a stepwise curve (ZWEIFEL et al., 2016; ZWEIFEL et al., 2021; MILLER et al., 2022). Here, growth is understood as irreversible stem increment, including the formation of new wood cells and neglecting any cell maturation processes (CUNY et al., 2015; RATHGEBER et al., 2016) (Fig. 8). This approach was especially useful for shrub growth in ecosystems of the alpine Tundra, where extreme winter conditions and seasonal soil freezing and thawing, as well as irregularly distributed snow cover led to complex hydraulic fluctuations within the stem, resulting in periodic stem shrinking and swelling (DOBBERT et al., 2021a; DOBBERT et al., 2021b).



Fig. 8 Approaches to derive timing and magnitude of annual radial stem growth from raw measurements of stem diameter change of *E. hermaphroditum* in 2015. Shaded areas show the respective derived growing season. The threshold for the growing season from the Gompertz-model was defined as 5% and 95% of the total annual increment (e.g. VAN DER MAATEN et al., 2018).

2.3.3 Environmental measurements

In the field of alpine ecosystem research, the importance of reliable environmental data with high spatial and temporal resolution is undisputed. However, given the complex alpine topography (BARRY, 2008; KÖRNER, 2021), and the fact that most official meteorological stations are located in valleys (PRICE and BARRY, 1997; WUNDRAM et al., 2010), obtaining such data often provides a challenge in alpine settings. It has therefore become a common practise to use macroclimatic data, such as free atmospheric air temperature (e.g., BÄR et al., 2007; BÄR et al., 2008; HOLLESEN et al., 2015; WEUERS et al., 2018b) or general climate scenarios derived from global circulation models with coarse resolution (SÆTERSDAL and BIRKS, 1997; ENGLER et al., 2009). However, within the complex alpine terrain with contrasting elevations, high topographic heterogeneity, and consequent microhabitat differentiation (BARRY, 2008; WUNDRAM et al., 2010; KÖRNER, 2021), incorporating fine-scale spatial variability of near-surface conditions is essential. Here, temperatures, moisture and radiation were therefore measured directly at each individual site, within the root- and shoot zone of the monitored specimens.

In general, it is believed that temperatures are the driving force behind alpine plant distribution, with thermal constrains defining the upper range limit, as temperatures are decreasing with increasing elevation (KÖRNER and HILTBRUNNER, 2018; KÖRNER, 2021) (Fig. 9), comparable to range limits at high latitudes (RANDIN et al., 2013). However, evidence of advancing alpine shrublines with warming conditions at high elevations is limited (LU et al. 2021; WANG et al., 2021). At the same time, especially air temperature has been identified as the key driver of shrub growth (ROSSI et al., 2016), linking recent warming to the greening trend observed in high latitude regions (MYERS-SMITH et al., 2015; ELMENDORF

et al., 2012; HOLLESEN et al., 2015). While seasonal xylem formation in shrubs is still poorly understood (Rossi et al., 2016), multiple studies agree upon the negative effects of low air temperatures during the growing season on cambial activity (GRIČAR et al., 2006; BÄR et al., 2008; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2015). At the same time, soil temperatures were found to be similarly important for shrub growth, controlling microbial activity and composition, as well as nutrient and liquid water availability, and soil freezing and thawing processes (BJÖRK and MOLAU, 2007; BÄR et al., 2008). For this project, soil temperatures (°C) were measured at a depth of 15 cm below the ground surface (i.e., within the root zone) and air temperatures at 15 cm above the ground surface (i.e., within the shoot zone), at all sites. Temperatures were measured at 1 min intervals and recorded as hourly means using Onset's HOBO loggers (type H21-002) and type S-TMB-M002 temperature sensors (±0.2 °C accuracy). For the air temperature measurements, the sensors were equipped with passively ventilated radiation shields. As expected, air and soil temperatures followed a similar regime within the studied regions, with temperatures rising in April or May and staying high for a comparatively short period throughout the summer months before falling again in autumn and reaching their lowest values during winter (Fig. 5). Within the studied period, the year 2015 was characterized by a relatively long winter, with lasting low temperatures throughout the meteorological spring and reoccurring soil freezing. In contrast, the years 2019 and 2018 were characterized by relatively short, cold winters with an early rise in spring temperatures and unusually high summer temperatures (Fig. 5).

In recent years, the spatial and temporal heterogeneity of the shrubification trend, often decoupled from warming conditions (MARTIN et al., 2017; BRODIE et al., 2019; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2020), has shifted the focus from thermal conditions during the growing season to consider additional environmental factors controlling growth processes and, consequently, shrubline dynamics and vegetational shifts (MYERS-SMITH et al., 2015; MARTIN et al., 2017; BJORKMAN et al., 2020; WANG et al., 2021). Such conditions include seasonal soil moisture availability and snow cover dynamics (GRYTNES et al. 2014; ACKERMAN et al., 2017; WANG et al., 2021), shaping micro-site conditions within the heterogenous alpine regions (LöFFLER, 2005). To identify the soil moisture constraints caused by cold and dry conditions and regular soil freezing directly within in the root zone of the observed specimens, the volumetric soil water content (m³/m³) 15 cm below the soil surface was measured at all sites. The uncalibrated soil moisture was measured at 1 min intervals and recorded as hourly means using Onset's HOBO type S-SMD-M005 soil moisture sensors (±3 % accuracy). Similar to the temperature regimes, the resulting soil moisture curves followed a distinct annual pattern, rising in spring with thawing soils and sinking in autumn with the winter frosts (Fig. 5). Consequently, fine-scale fluctuations in soil moisture contained important information on freeze-thaw cycles and timing of snowmelt. In

2015, for instance, soil moisture rose gradually, indicating reoccurring freezing conditions. In contrast, the years 2019 and 2018 experienced considerable spring cold snaps (as evident by drops in the soil moisture regimes), indicating renewed soil freezing.

Additionally, the exposed ridge positions provided the opportunity to measure global radiation within the shoot zone (W m⁻²) at 1 cm above the ground surface in close proximity to each plant using Onset's HOBO type S-LIB-M003 silicon pyranometers ($\pm 10 \text{ W m}^{-2}$ accuracy). We made sure that those measurements were not affected by the canopy.



Fig. 9 Observed on-site environmental conditions along the elevational gradient within the two studied regions. Dotted lines represent the treeline and highest peak in each region: Light grey for the Geiranger/Møre og Romsdal region, and dark grey for the Vågå/Innlandet region.

2.4 Statistical analysis and modelling of growth processes

All statistical analysis was carried out using the R statistical software version 4.1.2 (R CORE TEAM, 2021). For practical reasons concerning the processing speed of the mathematical operations performed for the analysis, the hourly measurements were first aggregated to daily mean values. Patterns of stem diameter change were then modelled from the aggregated dendrometer measurements using generalized additive models (GAMs, WOOD, 2006) with the mgcv R package (WOOD, 2011). Compared to other approaches commonly used to model growth processes, GAMs allow the data to determine the shape of the response curves and make no prior assumption about the functional relationship between the variables (YEE and MITCHELL, 1991). They are thus especially suited for modelling flexible data and non-linear patterns. Stem diameter change was modelled with restricted maximum likelihood as a smoothing function of seasonality, expressed as day of the year. The individual specimens and years were included as random effects into the model to account for intra-annual and inter-plant variation.

For inter-annual comparison, total annual growth was then calculated for each individual specimen following the zero growth approach described in chapter 2.3.2. Mathematically, annual growth can therefore be described as the maximum stem diameter measured during one year minus the maximum stem diameter measured during the previous year, thus capturing irreversible stem expansion and excluding reversible stem shrinking and swelling. In turn, these water-related changes in stem diameter were defined as tree water deficit, an indicator of the individual specimen's internal water status and potential drought stress (ZWEIFEL et al., 2005) (Fig. 8).

To relate the on-site environmental conditions to overall growth success of the individual plants, the relationship was modelled with linear mixed effects models, using the Imer function from the Ime4 R package (BATES et al., 2015). This widely used modelling approach is highly suitable for grouped data (ALLER et al., 2019; BOLKER et al., 2009; HENN et al., 2018; FIRN et al., 2019) and was therefore chosen to incorporate the complex spatial and temporal variation within the study design. Similarily to the approach presented in DOBBERT et al. (2021b), (log-transformed) total annual growth entered into the analysis as dependent variable, while environmental parameters entered as dependent variables. Species, season, and topographical position were implemented into the models as nested random effects, controlling variation in slope and intercept.

Linear mixed effects models were also used to explore the variation in the stem diameter change patterns captured by the dendrometers, as well as the variability within the micro-site environmental conditions. For this purpose, total annual growth, as well as mean values of each measured environmental variable (including shoot zone temperature, root zone temperature, and root zone soil moisture) were modelled from a set of grouping factors, which entered into the models as random effects. These included spatial factors (study region, elevation, topographical position), as well as temporal factors (Year, Season, Day of the year (DOY)). The percentage of variance explained by each factor was then derived from the models using the VarCorr function (BATES et al., 2015) in R. To represent the study design within the model structure, we nested topographical position within the region and elevation factors, and DOY within the season and year factors. The final models included no fixed effects. All environmental data were standardized (scaled by means and standard deviations) prior to model fitting to make the results comparable (GRACE and BOLLEN, 2005).

3 Results and Discussion

Linking the findings of DOBBERT et al. (2021a, 2021b, 2022) allows for a nuanced, novel perspective on intra-annual growth dynamics, fine-scale physiological mechanisms of stem change, and

environmental controls. The detailed data on stem diameter change provided by the dendrometers forms the base of this work. Similar to measurements of radial stem change in trees, the recorded processes can be interpreted as a result of irreversible stem increment, or growth, associated with cambial activity (Rossi et al., 2008; STEPPE et al., 2015; ZWEIFEL, 2016), as well as reversible expansion or shrinking, related to changes in turgor pressure and xylem water tension (LINTUNEN et al. 2016; LINDFORS et al., 2019) (see chapter 2.3.2). Thus, the information recorded by the dendrometers can be directly linked to the overall physiology and biological mechanism of the individual plant (MARTIN et al., 2017). In turn, this physiology and growth mechanism at each micro-site is a result of regional genotypic variation (CHEVIN et al., 2010; HOFFMANN and SGRÒ, 2011; EIDESEN et al., 2013) and physiological plasticity within the shrub species, a remodelling of the plant's physiology to meet local environmental conditions (CALLAWAY et al., 2003; SEEBACHER et al., 2015). The data presented here therefore contains detailed information on adaptive strategies, resilience, and vulnerabilities of the three focal shrub species in a rapidly changing ecosystem (DUPUTIÉ et al., 2015; ZWEIFEL, 2016; MARTIN et al., 2017).

For the first time, this data allowed for a detailed look at the physiology and growth mechanism of *E. hermaphroditum* at the exposed ridge positions, revealing high intra-species variability in radial stem growth but strong synchrony in response patterns to the local environment, with unique adaptive strategies reflected in highly specialized patterns of stem increment and shrinking (DOBBERT et al., 2022). Subsequently, our comparative analysis showed how these strategies and patterns are highly species-specific, potentially altering species composition with changing environmental conditions (DOBBERT et al., 2021a). At the same time, the heterogenous alpine topography found in the studied regions added to the overall complexity, with growth processes strongly related to fine-scale snow-cover variation and associated freezing and thawing (DOBBERT et al., 2021b). Coming from a nuanced, fine-scale understanding of the individual species' growth processes on an intra-annual scale (with *E. hermaphroditum* being the main focus here), we were thus able to infere important general knowledge on shrub growth and community structure, and the observed large-scale vegetational shifts.

3.1 Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum

As it was the first shrub species for which dendroecologically meaningful ring width chronologies were created (BÄR et al., 2007), the evergreen shrub *E. hermaphroditum*, or crowberry, has become one of the most extensively studied species in high-latitude shrub communities (BÄR et al., 2008; BIENAU et al., 2014; ANGERS-BLONDIN and BOUDREAU, 2017; HEIN et al., 2020). In accordance with previous findings

defining a wide thermal niche for E. hermaphroditum (LÖFFLER and PAPE, 2020), the species showed the widest range across the studied regions (Fig. 6) and was present at all topographical positions, from the snow-filled depressions to the exposed ridges. Consequently, spatial variation in annual growth processes at these diverse sites was mainly controlled by topographically driven variability in soil moisture conditions, caused by the heterogenous snow distribution within the studied regions. E. *hermaphroditum* also had the highest upper distribution limit, remaining the exclusive shrub species at high elevations, with changing environmental conditions with elevation showing little effects on growth success (Fig. 10e). Overall, these findings suggest a high plasticity and capacity to adapt to extreme conditions in diverse environments (BIENAU et al., 2014; DOBBERT et al., 2021b), with little impact of larger-scale, regional climate signals. Accordingly, modelling stem diameter change dynamics on an intra-annual scale revealed complex patters of stem change, highly adapted to the specific conditions at the respective micro-topographical positions (Fig. 10a). At the exposed, windblown ridges, for instance, E. hermaphroditum showed a distinct and strongly pronounced phase of stem shrinkage during the winter months (Fig, 10a, 10g), which can be interpreted as a form of active cell dehydration in the stem to protect the cells from frost damage (FONTI et al., 2010; SCHOTT and ROTH-NEBELSICK 2018). It is thus a direct physiological adaptation to the temperature extremes experienced at these sites, where protective snow cover is missing during most of the year (Fig. 5) (DOBBERT et al., 2021a). Additionally, E. hermaphroditum proved not only able to survive at these extreme positions but might profit from photosynthetic opportunities provided by the high global radiation, directly reaching the individual plants (KÖRNER, 2015; SACCONE et al., 2017, DOBBERT et al., 2021a), thus allowing them to benefit from prolonged snow-free periods during the winter months (SPERRY, 2003; FONTI et al., 2010; BOWLING et al. 2018). In order to continue photosynthetic activity in this way, and remain energetically effective in synthesizing carbohydrates despite limited nutrition and soil moisture availability, the evergreen species has to sustain water transport to the canopy to some extent (FONTI et al., 2010; GIMENO et al., 2012; WYKA and OLEKSYN, 2014; LÖFFLER and PAPE, 2020; DOBBERT et al., 2021a). These processes are reflected in the high synchrony between short periods of soil thawing in winter and stem diameter fluctuations (Fig. 10f), exposing the plants to a high risk of frost damage, while allowing for resource acquisition early in the season (DOBBERT et al., 2021a). In accordance with past studies, this phase of early season stem expansion in spring proved especially complex, yet crucial for the individual specimen's growth success during the following years (FONTI et al., 2010; KRAB et al., 2017; VENN and GREEN, 2018; WEIJERS et al., 2018a; DESCALS et al., 2020). Especially at the north-facing slopes, which were usually protected from extreme soil temperatures and soil freezing by an isolating snow cover lasting till well into the spring months, E. hermaphroditum proved vulnerable to spring cold-snaps after an early growth start. In most cases, the individual specimens

were able to start stem increment and growth directly after snowmelt, utilizing the liquid water in the root zone available after soil thawing to replenish stem water and start growth processes (BRÅTHEN et al., 2018; WEIJERS et al., 2018a; CABON et al., 2020; DESCALS et al., 2020; ZWEIFEL et al., 2021). However, an early growth start left these specimens vulnerable to low temperatures and soil freezing in spring leading to reduced growth and stem shrinking during the following years, indicating cell damage (DOBBERT et al., 2021b) (Fig. 10b). Thus, E. hermaphroditum showed the overall least growth success at the slopes and thrived in the depressions, where freezing events in spring were usually absent. Here, the species showed a surprisingly bimodal growth curve, with a short phase of growth cessation or shrinkage in early summer, which was to some extent present at all topographical positions, implying a clear limitation of summer growth (Fig. 10a). This limitation was closely linked to exceptionally high summer temperatures (Fig. 10h), and can thus be interpreted as a reaction to a temperature-induced increase in transpiration after depletion of snowmelt water in spring, interrupting growth processes (SABATER et al., 2019; ZWEIFEL et al., 2021). E. hermaphroditum is therefore highly sensitive to changing thermal conditions and the rapidly warming summers observed across the tundra biome (IPCC, 2021). With the cambial rhythm strongly controlled by thermal conditions and snow cover influencing soil freezing and thawing and associated soil moisture availability, as well as exposure to global radiation and associated photosynthetic opportunities, the highly cold-adapted species might struggle to adapt to warming summer conditions and altering snow distribution. Thus, E. hermaphroditum will most likely show negative growth responses in a warming environment, with prolonged phases of summer dormancy. At the same time, the species' high physiological plasticity, enabling the individual plants to match their growth mechanism to fine-scale microsite conditions, might similarly allow for the development of coping strategies resulting in a highly complex, non-uniform response to warming conditions across *E. hermaphroditum* populations.

On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs 3 Results and Discussion



Fig. 10 Growth patterns and climate-growth relations of *E. hermaphroditum*. (A) Intra-annual stem diameter change predicted by generalized additive models (GAMs). Transparent, dotted curves show daily means of measured stem diameter change in relation to the start of the year for all individual dendrometers. Coloured lines show modelled stem diameter change from these raw data for the three focal species and topographical positions. Sampling site and year were included as random effects into the model. (B) Average daily stem diameter change at each topographical position (dotted lines) and cumulative maxima (solid lines) with spring cold spells marked in blue. Cold spells were defined as frost periods (shoot zone temperatures < 0 °C) after the first temperature rise (shoot zone temperatures > 0 °C) in spring. Depressions were not included here, since they did not experience any cold spells in spring. (C) Total annual stem diameter change at each

topographical position. (D) Random effects derived from linear mixed effects models for each season and topographical position. Total annual growth entered into the analysis as dependent variable, and environmental parameters entered as dependant variables. Season and topographical position entered as nested random effects. The error bars represent the 95% confidence intervals. (E) Partitioned variance in total annual growth and environmental parameters, explained by variation in spatial and temporal grouping variables from linear mixed effects models with the grouping variables entering as random effects. (H) Averaged daily stem diameter change and environmental conditions during the winter 2014/2015 with short phases of soil thawing marked in grey. (G) Minimum tree water deficit during each season, representing the maximum stem shrinkage experienced during this season. The values were obtained by calculating the minimum value from the tree water deficit curves, derived by subtracting the measured daily stem diameter change from the cumulative maximum curves (Zero growth curves). (H) Linear regression for total annual growth and the number of days with shoot zone temperatures > 15 °C (GDD15).

3.2 Betula nana

Similar to E. hermaphroditum, the widespread dwarf shrub B. nana, or dwarf birch, has become a focus species for exploring climate-growth relations across the arctic and tundra biome in recent decades (BRET-HARTE et al., 2001; HOLLESEN et al., 2015; CAHOON et al., 2016; Li et al., 2016; NIELSEN et al., 2017). Most of these studies highlight the deciduous species positive growth response to warming conditions and lengthening growing seasons, making it a key contributor to the observed greening trend (DESLIPPE et al., 2011; HOLLESEN et al., 2015; NIELSEN et al., 2017). Within the regions studied here, temperatures proved indeed crucial in promoting secondary growth processes, especially at the south-facing slopes (DOBBERT et al., 2021b) (Fig. 11d). Here, B. nana was highly adapted to the isolating snow and might benefit from warmer winters with pronounced snow cover and early snowmelt, providing increased nutrition availability (STURM et al. 2005, HAGEDORN et al. 2014) and high soil moisture content. The early flowering species is then able to start budburst and leaf-forming processes early in the season (MORGNER et al., 2010; HALLINGER et al. 2010, BLOK et al. 2015) and can thus profit from the predicted lengthening of the growing season (Fig. 11g). At the same time, the observed *B. nana* specimens at the mostly snow free ridge positions, showed a high level of frost resistance through active stem shrinking during the winter months (DOBBERT et al., 2021a). While E. hermaphroditum profited from generally narrow vessels here, which embolize less readily than wide ones and can thus be interpreted as an adaptation to extreme conditions (CARLQUIST and ZONA, 1988; Gorsuch et al., 2001), B. nana usually has a wider mean vessel diameter. However, recent studies suggest that B. nana specimens are able to actively adapt vessel lumen to environmental conditions, thus altering a key anatomical trait in order to increase frost resistance (NIELSEN et al., 2017). Like E. hermaphroditum, the species is thus able to grow at extreme positions and occupy a wide thermal niche (LÖFFLER and PAPE, 2020). Yet, in contrast to the evergreen species, spatial growth variability of *B. nana* was to some extent influenced by the regional climate signal, with higher soil moisture availability promoting shrub growth in the eastern

study region (Fig. 11c, 11e). At the same time, falling temperatures with increasing elevation limited the species' range at the highest study sites (Fig. 11e). This is in accordance with general assumptions made for alpine regions, naming declining temperatures with elevation and latitude the main constraining factor for plant growth in these ecosystems (KÖRNER, 2021). However, similar to E. hermaphroditum, cambial activity in B. nana showed no clearly defined thermal thresholds (Rossi et al., 2006; GRAAE et al., 2018; KÖRNER, 2021; RAUNKIÆR, 2015). Instead, modelling the intra-annual growth pattern of B. nana also revealed a bimodal growth curve, with rapid stem expansion in spring, linked to snowmelt and soil thawing (DOBBERT et al., 2021b), followed by a short phase of stem contraction before a main growing phase in summer (Fig. 11a, 11f). This indicates a clear limitation of summer growth, as well as possible difficulties of the species to adapt to rapidly warming conditions (FRANCON et al., 2020b; DOBBERT et al., 2021b). Hence, deciduous species like B. nana might profit from lengthening growing seasons, experience an upward range expansion with warming conditions, and gain a competitive advantage over evergreen species like E. hermaphroditum at exposed positions, where these species currently rely on their ability to benefit from cold, snow-free winters by continued photosynthetic activity. Yet, an increase in summer heat waves and associated drought might mitigate these effects, potentially altering species composition and reversing the greening trend (DOBBERT et al., 2021a; DOBBERT et al., 2021b).

On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs 3 Results and Discussion



Fig. 11 Growth patterns and climate-growth relations of B. nana. (A) Intra-annual stem diameter change predicted by generalized additive models (GAMs). Transparent, dotted curves show daily means of measured stem diameter change in relation to the start of the year for all individual dendrometers. Coloured lines show modelled stem diameter change from these raw data for the three focal species and topographical positions. Sampling site and year were included as random effects into the model. (B) Average daily stem diameter change at each topographical position (dotted lines) and cumulative maxima (solid lines) with spring cold spells marked in blue. Cold spells were defined as frost periods (shoot zone temperatures < 0 °C) after the first temperature rise (shoot zone temperatures > 0 °C) in spring. (C) Total annual stem diameter change at each topographical position. (D) Random effects derived from linear mixed effects models for each season and topographical position. Total annual growth entered into the analysis as dependent variable, and environmental parameters entered as dependant variables. Season and topographical position entered as nested random effects. The error bars represent the 95% confidence intervals. (E) Partitioned variance in total annual growth and environmental parameters, explained by variation in spatial and temporal grouping variables from linear mixed effects models with the grouping variables entering as random effects. (F) Minimum tree water deficit during each season, representing the maximum stem shrinkage experienced during this season. The values were obtained by calculating the minimum value from the tree water deficit curves, derived by subtracting the measured daily stem diameter change from the cumulative maximum curves (Zero growth curves). (G) Linear regression for total annual growth and growing season length.

3.3 Phyllodoce caerulea

In contrast to both *E. hermaphroditum* and *B. nana*, the dendroecological potential of the evergreen species P. caerulea, or blue mountain heath, has not yet been explored, with very little studies focusing on the physiology of the species. However, it has been noted that *P. caerulea* is usually able to tolerate very short growing seasons and prolonged snow cover (COKER and COKER, 1973; KUDO, 1991). Accordingly, the species was mostly confined to the north- and south-facing slopes within our studied regions, indicating a high adaptation to those positions where snow cover provided protection from extreme temperatures until well into spring, when growth processes begun. Consequently, the species' growth success was mostly influenced by soil moisture conditions in spring and its growth pattern closely linked to seasonal fluctuations in soil moisture availability (Fig.12d, 12e), linked to soil freezing and thawing, as well as snow cover and snowmelt. Thus, P. caerulea growth was also to some extend influenced by the regional climate signal, mostly due to differences in precipitation (Fig. 12e). The individual specimens are most likely not able to adjust their growth patterns and physiological processes to extreme environmental conditions, including the low winter temperatures found at the exposed ridges and high soil moisture levels within the depressions. This suggests a comparatively low plasticity, indicating a low adaptive capacity. Thus, P. caerulea will most likely not be able to cope with the profound changes in winter snow conditions predicted for the region (CALLAGHAN et al. 2011; BIENAU et al., 2014; IPCC, 2021). With the species' growth mechanism highly adapted to prolonged snow cover, an earlier onset of snowmelt (CALLAGHAN et al. 2011) might leave the specimens vulnerable to spring soil freezing, exposing them to unexpected frost-stress. This will most likely impede P. caerulea's growth success closely linked to changes in snow conditions.

On growth patterns and mechanisms in arctic-alpine shrubs 3 Results and Discussion



Fig. 12 Growth patterns and climate-growth relations of *P. caerulea*. (A) Intra-annual stem diameter change predicted by generalized additive models (GAMs). Transparent, dotted curves show daily means of measured stem diameter change in relation to the start of the year for all individual dendrometers. Coloured lines show modelled stem diameter change from these raw data for the three focal species and topographical positions. Sampling site and year were included as random effects into the model. (B) Average daily stem diameter change at each topographical position (dotted lines) and cumulative maxima (solid lines) with spring cold spells marked in blue. Cold spells were defined as frost periods (shoot zone temperatures < 0 °C) after the first temperature rise (shoot zone temperatures > 0 °C) in spring. (C) Total annual stem diameter change at each topographical position. (D) Random effects derived from linear mixed effects models for each season and topographical position. Total annual growth entered into the analysis as dependent variable, and environmental parameters entered as dependant variables. Season and topographical position entered as nested random effects. The error bars represent the 95% confidence intervals. (E) Partitioned variance in total annual growth and environmental parameters, explained by variation in spatial and temporal grouping variables from linear mixed effects models with the grouping variables entering as random effects. (F) Minimum tree water deficit during each season, representing the maximum stem shrinkage experienced during this season. The values were obtained by calculating the minimum value from the tree water deficit curves, derived by subtracting the measured daily stem diameter change from the cumulative maximum curves (Zero growth curves).

3.4 General conclusions and synthesis

This study provides new insights into the environmental controls and physiological mechanisms behind secondary growth processes of alpine shrubs. These processes, visible in distinct intra-annual patterns of stem diameter change, were closely linked to species-specific water-use dynamics and cambial rhythm. Especially soil moisture availability and snow conditions at the specific sites proved key drivers of radial stem growth in arctic and alpine regions (DOBBERT et al., 2022), and our analysis revealed contrasting and inter-annually nuanced response patterns for evergreen and deciduous species (DOBBERT et al., 2021a). On an intra-species level, the individual plant's fine scale physiolgical growth mechanism was highly adjusted to its immediate, near- and below-ground surroundings and therefore strongly controlled by the variation in local micro-habitats, which is mainly defined by fine-scale topography and snow distribution within the heterogenous alpine setting (ROPARS et al., 2015, Ropars et al., 2017; YOUNG et al., 2016, NIELSEN et al., 2017; DOBBERT et al., 2021b). How and to what extent the species were able to adjust to this variation, including specific coping strategies under extreme conditions, varied between the three focal species. How do these mechanisms and environmental controls vary on an inter-species level While stem diameter change in all three species followed clear periodic annual cycles of cambial activity and dormancy, closely linked to the climatic regime of the tundra biome, the overall growth success was controlled by fine-scale micro-climatic conditions and therefore in many cases decoupled from governing regional climate signals (PAPE and LÖFFLER 2016; PAPE and LÖFFLER 2017), resulting in a high level of variation in total annual growth between individual sites, specimens and years (DOBBERT et al., 2021a; DOBBERT et al., 2021b; DOBBERT et al., 2022). Conversely, the main drivers of this variation were to a lesser extent atmospheric temperatures and growing season length (Rossi et al., 2008; Rossi et al., 2016), but rather complex seasonal dynamics of soil moisture availability, snow conditions, and associated freeze-thaw cycles (DOBBERT et al., 2021b; DOBBERT et al., 2022).

Overall, we can confirm that shrubs, similar to trees (GRIČAR et al., 2015) develop distinct, speciesspecific strategies of wood formation to function optimally in local conditions and maximize growth success. However, in a rapidly changing environment, this adaptation becomes critically challenged. Species already occupying a wide range of micro-habitats are usually able to closely match their growth mechanism to a variety of differing environmental conditions through physiological adjustment, resulting in growth success at most topographical positions (CRAWFORD, 2008; WIPF, 2010; BIENAU et al., 2014). Given their high phenotypic plasticity, these species (here *E. hermaphroditum* and *B. nana*) have a higher ability to adapt and are thus more likely to persist locally under rapidly changing conditions (JONASSON, 1981; TURCOTTE and LEVINE, 2016, PFENNIGWERTH et al., 2017, GRAAE et al., 2018).

28

Physiological plasticity can, thus, be directly linked to a species ability to cope with change (e.g., Pérez-RAMOS et al., 2019; SEEBACHER et al., 2015). At the same time, species with low phenotypic plasticity, currently relying on highly specific environmental conditions (here *P. caerulea*), might not be able to adjust. While already altering species composition, the observed and predicted changes in the tundra biome (Post, 2019; IPCC, 2021), might therefore potentially reduce species richness in these ecosystems by promoting growth in already dominant species with wide ecological niches and high adaptive capacity. At the same, all three focal species proved sensitive to exceedingly high summer temperatures (DOBBERT et al., 2021a; DOBBERT et al., 2022) with summer temperatures clearly limiting cambial activity during the main growing season (FRANCON et al., 2020b), resulting in a bimodal growth curve and potentially negative growth responses with on-going summer warming. If the species' adaptive capacity is sufficient to match the rapidly rising temperatures predicted for these highly relevant regions therefore remains to be explored in future studies. In general, the findings presented here confirm that there is a strong link between secondary growth of shrubs and changing environmental conditions, including summer and winter warming, as well as altered snow regimes and consequent changes in soil moisture. This link, however, is not uniform and highly variable over spatial and temporal scales (ELMENDORF et al., 2012; MYERS-SMITH et al., 2015), which is why generalizing assumptions across large parts of the arctic and alpine regions might be misleading. Here, a detailed perspective on fine-scale physiological processes and species-specific response patterns to on-site near-ground environmental conditions is key for a profound understanding of broad-scale vegetational changes, including the observed greening and browning trends.

4 References

- ACKERMAN, D.; GRIFFIN, D.; HOBBIE, S. E.; FINLAY, J. C. (2017): Arctic shrub growth trajectories differ across soil moisture levels. *Glob Chang Biol* 23 (10), pp. 4294–4302. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.13677.
- ALDAY, J. G.; CAMARERO, J. J.; REVILLA, J.; RESCO DE DIOS, V. (2020): Similar diurnal, seasonal and annual rhythms in radial root expansion across two coexisting Mediterranean oak species. *Tree Physiol* 40 (7), pp. 956–968. DOI: 10.1093/treephys/tpaa041.
- ALLER, A. E.; EKLÖF, J. S.; GULLSTRÖM, M.; KLOIBER, U.; LINDERHOLM, H. W.; NORDLUND, L. M. (2019): Temporal variability of a protected multispecific tropical seagrass meadow in response to environmental change. *Environ Monit Assess* 191 (12), p.759–774. DOI: 10.1007/s10661-019-7977-z.
- AMAP (2021): Arctic Climate Change Update 2021: Key Trends and Impacts. Summary for Policymakers. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Tromsø, Norway.
- ANDREWS, J. T.; MODE, W. N.; WEBBER, P. J.; MILLER, G. H.; JACOBS, J. D. (1980): Report on the Distribution of Dwarf Birches and Present Pollen Rain, Baffin Island, N.W.T., Canada. *Arctic* 33 (1). DOI: 10.14430/arctic2547.
- ANGERS-BLONDIN, S.; BOUDREAU, S. (2017): Expansion Dynamics and Performance of the Dwarf Shrub Empetrum hermaphroditum (Ericaceae) on a Subarctic Sand Dune System, Nunavik (Canada). *Arct Antarct Alp Res* 49 (2), pp. 201–211. DOI: 10.1657/AAAR0016-020.
- AUNE, B. (1993): National atlas of Norway: climate. Norwegian Mapping Authority, Hønefoss, Norway.
- BÄR, A.; BRÄUNING, A.; LÖFFLER, J. (2006): Dendroecology of dwarf shrubs in the high mountains of
 Norway A methodological approach. *Dendrochronologia* 24 (1), pp. 17–27. DOI: 10.1016/j.dendro.2006.05.001.
- BÄR, A.; BRÄUNING, A.; LÖFFLER, J. (2007): Ring-Width chronologies of the alpine dwarf shrub *Empetrum hermaphroditum* from Norwegian mountains. *IAWA J* 28 (3), pp. 325–338. DOI: 10.1163/22941932-90001644.
- BÄR, A.; PAPE, R.; BRÄUNING, A.; LÖFFLER, J. (2008): Growth-ring variations of dwarf shrubs reflect regional climate signals in alpine environments rather than topoclimatic differences. *J Biogeogr* 35 (4), pp. 625–636. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2007.01804.x.
- BARRY, R. G. (2008): Mountain weather and climate. 3rd ed. *Cambridge University Press,* Cambridge.
- BATES, D.; MÄCHLER, M.; BOLKER, B.; WALKER, S. (2015): Fitting Linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. *J* Stat Soft 67 (1), pp. 1–51. DOI: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01.

BELL, J. N. B.; TALLIS, J. H. (1973): Empetrum Nigrum L. J Ecol 61 (1), pp. 289–305. DOI: 10.2307/2258934.

BERNER, L. T.; MASSEY, R.; JANTZ, P.; FORBES, B. C.; MACIAS-FAURIA, M.; MYERS-SMITH, I. et al. (2020): Summer warming explains widespread but not uniform greening in the Arctic tundra biome. *Nat Commun* 11 (1), e4621. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-18479-5.

- BHATT, U.; WALKER, D.; RAYNOLDS, M.; BIENIEK, P.; EPSTEIN, H.; COMISO, J. et al. (2013): Recent Declines in
 Warming and Vegetation Greening Trends over Pan-Arctic Tundra. *Remote Sens* 5 (9), pp. 4229–4254. DOI: 10.3390/rs5094229.
- BIENAU, M. J.; HATTERMANN, D.; KRÖNCKE, M.; KRETZ, L.; OTTE, A.; EISERHARDT, W. L. et al. (2014): Snow cover consistently affects growth and reproduction of Empetrum hermaphroditum across latitudinal and local climatic gradients. *Alp Botany* 124 (2), pp. 115–129. DOI: 10.1007/s00035-014-0137-8.
- BIENAU, M. J.; ECKSTEIN, R. L.; OTTE, A.; DURKA, W. (2016): Clonality increases with snow depth in the arctic dwarf shrub Empetrum hermaphroditum. *Am J Bot* 103 (12), pp. 2105–2114. DOI: 10.3732/ajb.1600229.
- BJERKE, J. W.; BOKHORST, S.; CALLAGHAN, T. V.; PHOENIX, G. K. (2017): Persistent reduction of segment growth and photosynthesis in a widespread and important sub-Arctic moss species after cessation of three years of experimental winter warming. *Funct Ecol* 31 (1), pp. 127–134. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2435.12703.
- ВJÖRK, R. G.; MOLAU, U. (2007): Ecology of alpine snowbeds and the impact of global change. *Arct Antarct Alp Res* 39 (1), pp. 34–43. DOI: 10.1657/1523-0430(2007)39[34:EOASAT]2.0.CO;2.
- BJORKMAN, A. D.; MYERS-SMITH, I. H.; ELMENDORF, S. C.; NORMAND, S.; RÜGER, N.; BECK, P. S. A. et al. (2018): Plant functional trait change across a warming tundra biome. *Nature* 562, pp. 57–62. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-018-0563-7.
- BJORKMAN, A. D.; GALLOIS, E. C. (2020): Winter in a warming Arctic. *Nature Clim Change* 10 (12), pp. 1071–1073. DOI: 10.1038/s41558-020-0900-3.
- BLOK, D.; SASS-KLAASSEN, U.; SCHAEPMAN-STRUB, G.; HEIJMANS, M. M. P. D.; SAUREN, P.; BERENDSE, F. (2011):
 What are the main climate drivers for shrub growth in Northeastern Siberian tundra?
 Biogeosciences Discuss 8 (1), pp. 771–799. DOI: 10.5194/bgd-8-771-2011.
- BLOK, D.; WEIJERS, S.; WELKER, J. M.; COOPER, E. J.; MICHELSEN, A.; LÖFFLER, J.; ELBERLING, B. (2015): Deepened winter snow increases stem growth and alters stem δ13 C and δ15 N in evergreen dwarf shrub *Cassiope tetragona* in high-arctic Svalbard tundra. *Environ Res Lett* 10 (4), e44008. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/4/044008.
- Вокнопят, S.; BJERKE, J. W.; DAVEY, M. P.; TAULAVUORI, K.; TAULAVUORI, E.; LAINE, K. et al. (2009): Impacts of extreme winter warming events on plant physiology in a sub-Arctic heath community. *Physiol Plant* 140 (2), pp. 128–140. DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3054.2010.01386.x.
- BOLKER, B. M.; BROOKS, M. E.; CLARK, C. J.; GEANGE, S. W.; POULSEN, J. R.; STEVENS, M. H. H.; WHITE, J.-S. S.
 (2009): Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends Ecol Evol* 24 (3), pp. 127–135. DOI: 10.1016/j.tree.2008.10.008.
- BOWLING, D. R.; LOGAN, B. A.; HUFKENS, K.; AUBRECHT, D. M.; RICHARDSON, A. D.; BURNS, S. P. et al. (2018): Limitations to winter and spring photosynthesis of a Rocky Mountain subalpine forest. *Agric For Meteorol* 252, pp. 241–255. DOI: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2018.01.025.
- BRÅTHEN, K. A.; GONZALEZ, V. T.; YOCCOZ, N. G. (2018): Gatekeepers to the effects of climate warming?
 Niche construction restricts plant community changes along a temperature gradient. *Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst* 30, pp. 71–81. DOI: 10.1016/j.ppees.2017.06.005.
- BREITSPRECHER, A.; BETHEL, J. S. (1990): Stem-growth periodicity of trees in a tropical wet forest of Costa Rica. *Ecol* 71 (3), pp. 1156–1164. DOI: 10.2307/1937383.
- BRET-HARTE, M. SYNDONIA; SHAVER, GAIUS R.; ZOERNER, JENNIFER P.; JOHNSTONE, JILL F.; WAGNER, JOANNA L.;
 CHAVEZ, ANDREAS S. et al. (2001): Developmental plasticity allows *Betula nana* to dominate
 Tundra subjected to an altered environment. *Ecol* 82 (1), pp. 18–32. DOI: 10.1890/0012-9658(2001)082[0018:DPABNT]2.0.CO;2.
- BRODIE, J. F.; ROLAND, C. A.; STEHN, S. E.; SMIRNOVA, E. (2019): Variability in the expansion of trees and shrubs in boreal Alaska. *Ecol* 100 (5), e02660. DOI: 10.1002/ecy.2660.
- BÜNTGEN, U.; HELLMANN, LENA; TEGEL, WILLY; NORMAND, SIGNE; MYERS-SMITH, ISLA; KIRDYANOV, ALEXANDER V. et al. (2015): Temperature-induced recruitment pulses of Arctic dwarf shrub communities. J Ecol 103 (2), pp. 489–501. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.12361.
- CABON, A.; PETERS, R. L.; FONTI, P.; MARTÍNEZ-VILALTA, J.; CÁCERES, M. DE (2020): Temperature and water potential co-limit stem cambial activity along a steep elevational gradient. *New Phytol* 226 (5), pp. 1325–1340. DOI: 10.1111/nph.16456.
- CAHOON, S. M. P.; SULLIVAN, P. F.; POST, E. (2016): Greater abundance of Betula nana and early onset of the growing season increase ecosystem CO2 uptake in West Greenland. *Ecosystems* 19 (7), pp. 1149–1163. DOI: 10.1007/s10021-016-9997-7.
- CALLAGHAN, T. V.; CAZZOLLA G., R.; PHOENIX, G. (2021): The need to understand the stability of arctic vegetation during rapid climate change: An assessment of imbalance in the literature. *Ambio* 51 (4), pp. 1034–1044. DOI: 10.1007/s13280-021-01607-w.
- CALLAWAY, R. M.; PENNINGS, S. C.; RICHARDS, C. L. (2003): Phenotypic plasticity and interactions among plants. *Ecol* 84 (5), pp. 1115–1128. DOI: 10.1890/0012-9658(2003)084[1115:PPAIAP]2.0.CO;2.
- CARLQUIST, S.; ZONA, S. (1988): Wood Anatomy of *Papaveraceae*, with Comments on Vessel Restriction Patterns. *IAWA J* 9 (3), pp. 253–267. DOI: 10.1163/22941932-90001073.
- CARLSON, B. Z.; CORONA, M. C.; DENTANT, C.; BONET, R.; THUILLER, W.; CHOLER, P. (2016): Observed long-term greening of alpine vegetation—a case study in the French Alps. *Environ Res Lett* 12 (11), e114006. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/aa84bd.

- CHAE, Y.; KANG, S. M.; JEONG, S.-J.; KIM, B.; FRIERSON, D. M. W. (2015): Arctic greening can cause earlier seasonality of Arctic amplification. *Geophys Res Lett* 42 (2), pp. 536–541. DOI: 10.1002/2014GL061841.
- CHAN, T.; HÖLTTÄ, T.; BERNINGER, F.; MÄKINEN, H.; NÖJD, P.; MENCUCCINI, M.; NIKINMAA, E. (2016): Separating water-potential induced swelling and shrinking from measured radial stem variations reveals a cambial growth and osmotic concentration signal. *Plant Cell Environ* 39 (2), pp. 233–244. DOI: 10.1111/pce.12541.
- CHEVIN, L.-M.; LANDE, R.; MACE, G. M. (2010): Adaptation, plasticity, and extinction in a changing environment: towards a predictive theory. *PLOS Biol* 8 (4), e1000357. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000357.
- COKER, P. D.; COKER, A. M. (1973): *Phyllodoce Caerulea* (L.) Bab. *J Ecol* 61 (3), p. 901–913. DOI: 10.2307/2258657.
- COLLINS, C. G.; ELMENDORF, S. C.; HOLLISTER, R. D.; HENRY, G. H. R.; CLARK, K.; BJORKMAN, A. D. ET al. (2021): Experimental warming differentially affects vegetative and reproductive phenology of tundra plants. *Nat Commun* 12 (1), 3442. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-021-23841-2.
- CRAWFORD, R. M. M. (2008): Cold climate plants in a warmer world. *Plant Ecol Divers* 1 (2), pp. 285–297. DOI: 10.1080/17550870802407332.
- CRUZ-GARCÍA, R.; BALZANO, A.; ČUFAR, K.; SCHARNWEBER, T.; SMILJANIĆ, M.; WILMKING, M. (2019): Combining Dendrometer Series and Xylogenesis Imagery—DevX, a Simple Visualization Tool to Explore Plant Secondary Growth Phenology. *Front For Glob Change* 2, 60. DOI: 10.3389/ffgc.2019.00060.
- CUERRIER, A.; BRUNET, N. D.; GÉRIN-LAJOIE, J.; DOWNING, A.; LÉVESQUE, E. (2015): The study of Inuit knowledge of climate change in Nunavik, Quebec: A mixed methods approach. *Hum Ecol* 43 (3), pp. 379–394. DOI: 10.1007/s10745-015-9750-4.
- CUNY, H. E.; RATHGEBER, C. B. K.; FRANK, D.; FONTI, P.; MÄKINEN, H.; PRISLAN, P. et al. (2015): Woody biomass production lags stem-girth increase by over one month in coniferous forests. *Nat Plants* 1, p. 15160. DOI: 10.1038/nplants.2015.160.
- DAHL, E. (1986): Zonation in arctic and alpine tundra and fellfield ecobiomes. Nicholas Polunin (Ed.): Ecosystem theory and application. *Wiley (Environmental monographs & symposia),* Chichester, pp. 35–62.
- DAUBENMIRE, R. F. (1945): An improved type of precision dendrometer. *Ecology* 26, pp. 97–98.
- DESCALS, A.; VERGER, A.; FILELLA, I.; BALDOCCHI, D.; JANSSENS, I. A.; FU, Y. H. et al. (2020): Soil thawing regulates the spring growth onset in tundra and alpine biomes. *The Sci Total Environ* 742, 140637. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140637.

- DESLAURIERS, A.; ROSSI, S.; ANFODILLO, T. (2007): Dendrometer and intra-annual tree growth: What kind of information can be inferred? *Dendrochronologia* 25 (2), pp. 113–124. DOI: 10.1016/j.dendro.2007.05.003.
- DESLIPPE, J. R.; SIMARD, S. W. (2011): Below-ground carbon transfer among Betula nana may increase with warming in Arctic tundra. *New Phytol* 192 (3), pp. 689–698. DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03835.x.
- DIERBEN, K. (1996): Vegetation Nordeuropas. Ulmer (UTB für Wissenschaft : Große Reihe), Stuttgart.
- DOBBERT, S.; PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2021a): Contrasting growth response of evergreen and deciduous arctic-alpine shrub species to climate variability. *Ecosphere* 12 (8), e03688. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.3688.
- DOBBERT, S.; PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2021b): How does spatial heterogeneity affect inter- and intraspecific growth patterns in tundra shrubs? *J Ecol* 109 (12), p. 4115–4131. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.13784.
- DOBBERT, S.; PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2022): The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs a case study to investigate stem growth responses to environmental conditions. *Biogeosciences* 19 (7), pp. 1933–1958. DOI: 10.5194/bg-19-1933-2022.
- DREW, D. M.; DOWNES, G. M. (2009): The use of precision dendrometers in research on daily stem size and wood property variation: A review. *Dendrochronologia* 27 (2), pp. 159–172. DOI: 10.1016/j.dendro.2009.06.008.
- DUCHESNE, L.; HOULE, D.; D'ORANGEVILLE, L. (2012): Influence of climate on seasonal patterns of stem increment of balsam fir in a boreal forest of Québec, Canada. *Agric For Meteorol* 162-163, pp. 108–114. DOI: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.04.016.
- DUPUTIÉ, A.; RUTSCHMANN, A.; RONCE, O.; CHUINE, I. (2015): Phenological plasticity will not help all species adapt to climate change. *Glob Chang Biol* 21 (8), pp. 3062–3073. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.12914.
- EIDESEN, P. B.; EHRICH, D.; BAKKESTUEN, V.; ALSOS, I. G.; GILG, O.; TABERLET, P.; BROCHMANN, C. (2013): Genetic roadmap of the Arctic: plant dispersal highways, traffic barriers and capitals of diversity. *New Phytol* 200 (3), pp. 898–910. DOI: 10.1111/nph.12412.
- ELMENDORF, S. C.; HENRY, G. H. R.; HOLLISTER, R. D.; BJÖRK, R. G.; BOULANGER-LAPOINTE, N.; COOPER, E. J. et al. (2012): Plot-scale evidence of tundra vegetation change and links to recent summer warming. *Nature Clim Change* 2 (6), pp. 453–457. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate1465.
- ENGLER, R.; RANDIN, C. F.; VITTOZ, P.; CZÁKA, T.; BENISTON, M.; ZIMMERMANN, N. E.; GUISAN, A. (2009): Predicting future distributions of mountain plants under climate change: does dispersal capacity matter? *Ecography* 32 (1), pp. 34–45. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0587.2009.05789.x.

- EPSTEIN, H. E.; RAYNOLDS, M. K.; WALKER, D. A.; BHATT, U. S.; TUCKER, COMPTON J.; PINZON, JORGE E. (2012): Dynamics of aboveground phytomass of the circumpolar Arctic tundra during the past three decades. *Environ Res Lett* 7 (1), 015506. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/7/1/015506.
- EPSTEIN, H. E.; BHATT, U.; RAYNOLDS, M.; WALKER, D.; FORBES, B.; HORSTKOTTE, T. et al. (2017): Tundra Greenness. *Arctic Report Card, NOOA*. Retrieved from www.arctic.noaa.gov.
- FIRN, J.; NGUYEN, H.; SCHÜTZ, M.; RISCH, A. C. (2019): Leaf trait variability between and within subalpine grassland species differs depending on site conditions and herbivory. *Proc Royal Soc B* 286 (1907), 20190429. DOI: 10.1098/rspb.2019.0429.
- FONTI, P.; ARX, G. VON; GARCÍA-GONZÁLEZ, I.; EILMANN, B.; SASS-KLAASSEN, U.; GÄRTNER, H.; ECKSTEIN, D. (2010): Studying global change through investigation of the plastic responses of xylem anatomy in tree rings. New Phytol 185 (1), pp. 42–53. DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.03030.x.
- FORBES, BRUCE C.; MACIAS-FAURIA, M.; ZETTERBERG, P. (2010): Russian Arctic warming and 'greening' are closely tracked by tundra shrub willows. *Glob Chang Biol* 16 (5), pp. 1542–1554. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02047.x.
- FRANCON, L.; CORONA, C.; TILL-BOTTRAUD, I.; CHOLER, P.; CARLSON, B. Z.; CHARRIER, G. et al. (2020a): Assessing the effects of earlier snow melt-out on alpine shrub growth: The sooner the better? *Ecol Indic* 115, 106455. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106455.
- FRANCON, L.; CORONA, C.; TILL-BOTTRAUD, I.; CARLSON, B. Z.; STOFFEL, M. (2020b): Some (do not) like it hot: shrub growth is hampered by heat and drought at the alpine treeline in recent decades. *Am J Bot* 107 (4), pp. 607–617. DOI: 10.1002/ajb2.1459.
- FRASER, R. H.; LANTZ, T. C.; OLTHOF, I.; KOKELJ, S. V.; SIMS, R. A. (2014): Warming-Induced Shrub Expansion and Lichen Decline in the Western Canadian Arctic. *Ecosystems* 17 (7), pp. 1151–1168. DOI: 10.1007/s10021-014-9783-3.
- GALL, R.; LANDOLT, W.; SCHLEPPI, P.; MICHELLOD, V.; BUCHER, J. B. (2002): Water content and bark thickness of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) stems: phloem water capacitance and xylem sap flow. *Tree Physiol* 22 (9), pp. 613–623. DOI: 10.1093/treephys/22.9.613.
- GAMM, C. M.; SULLIVAN, P. F.; BUCHWAL, A.; DIAL, R. J.; YOUNG, A. B.; WATTS, D. A. et al. (2018): Declining growth of deciduous shrubs in the warming climate of continental western Greenland. *J Ecol* 106 (2), pp. 640–654. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.12882.
- GIMENO, T. E.; CAMARERO, J. J.; GRANDA, E.; PÍAS, B.; VALLADARES, F. (2012): Enhanced growth of *Juniperus thurifera* under a warmer climate is explained by a positive carbon gain under cold and drought. *Tree Physiol* 32 (3), pp. 326–336. DOI: 10.1093/treephys/tps011.
- GORSUCH, D. M.; OBERBAUER, S. F.; FISHER, J. B. (2001): Comparative vessel anatomy of arctic deciduous and evergreen dicots. *Am J Bot* 88 (9), pp. 1643–1649. DOI: 10.2307/3558409.

- GOTTFRIED, M.; PAULI, H.; FUTSCHIK, A.; AKHALKATSI, M.; BARANČOK, P.; BENITO A., JOSÉ L. et al. (2012): Continent-wide response of mountain vegetation to climate change. *Nature Clim Change* 2 (2), pp. 111–115. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate1329.
- GRAAE, B. J.; VANDVIK, V.; ARMBRUSTER, W. S.; EISERHARDT, W. L.; SVENNING, J.-C.; HYLANDER, K. et al. (2018):
 Stay or go how topographic complexity influences alpine plant population and community responses to climate change. *Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst* 30, pp. 41–50. DOI: 10.1016/j.ppees.2017.09.008.
- GRACE, J. B.; BOLLEN, K. A. (2005): Interpreting the Results from Multiple Regression and Structural Equation Models. *Bull Ecol Soc Am* 86 (4), pp. 283–295. DOI: 10.1890/0012-9623(2005)86[283:ITRFMR]2.0.CO;2.
- GRAMS, T. E. E.; HESSE, B. D.; GEBHARDT, T.; WEIKL, F.; RÖTZER, T.; KOVACS, B. et al. (2021): The Kroof experiment: realization and efficacy of a recurrent drought experiment plus recovery in a beech/spruce forest. *Ecosphere* 12 (3), e03399. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.3399.
- GRICAR, J.; ZUPANCIC, M.; CUFAR, K.; KOCH, G.; SCHMITT, U.; OVEN, P. (2006): Effect of local heating and cooling on cambial activity and cell differentiation in the stem of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*).
 Ann Bot 97 (6), pp. 943–951. DOI: 10.1093/aob/mcl050.
- GROOT, W. J. DE; THOMAS, P. A.; WEIN, R. W. (1997): *Betula nana* L. and *Betula glandulosa* Michx. *J Ecol* 85 (2), p. 241–264. DOI: 10.2307/2960655.
- GRYTNES, J.-A.; KAPFER, J.; JURASINSKI, G.; BIRKS, H. H.; HENRIKSEN, H.; KLANDERUD, K. et al. (2014): Identifying the driving factors behind observed elevational range shifts on European mountains. *Global Ecol Biogeogr* 23 (8), pp. 876–884. DOI: 10.1111/geb.12170
- GONZÁLEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, Á. M.; BRITO, P.; LORENZO, J. R.; GRUBER, A.; OBERHUBER, W.; WIESER, G. (2017): Seasonal cycles of sap flow and stem radius variation of *Spartocytisus supranubius* in the alpine zone of Tenerife, Canary Islands. *Alp Botany* 127 (2), pp. 97–108. DOI: 10.1007/s00035-017-0189-7.
- HAGEDORN, F.; SHIYATOV, S. G.; MAZEPA, V. S.; DEVI, N. M.; GRIGOR'EV, A. A.; BARTYSH, A. A. et al. (2014): Treeline advances along the Urals mountain range - driven by improved winter conditions? *Glob Chang Biol* 20 (11), pp. 3530–3543. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.12613.
- HALLINGER, M.; MANTHEY, M.; WILMKING, M. (2010): Establishing a missing link: warm summers and winter snow cover promote shrub expansion into alpine tundra in Scandinavia. *New Phytol* 186 (4), pp. 890–899. DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03223.x.
- HEIN, N.; MERKELBACH, J.; ZECH, K.; WEIJERS, S. (2020): Drought sensitivity of *Empetrum nigrum* shrub growth at the species' southern lowland distribution range margin. *Plant Ecol* DOI: 10.1007/s11258-020-01107-z.

- HENN, J. J.; BUZZARD, V.; ENQUIST, B. J.; HALBRITTER, A. H.; KLANDERUD, K.; MAITNER, B. S. et al. (2018): Intraspecific Trait Variation and Phenotypic Plasticity Mediate Alpine Plant Species Response to Climate Change. *Front Plant Sci* 9, p. 1548. DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2018.01548.
- HOFFMANN, A. A.; SGRÒ, C. M. (2011): Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. *Nature* 470 (7335), pp. 479–485. DOI: 10.1038/nature09670.
- HOLLESEN, J.; BUCHWAL, A.; RACHLEWICZ, G.; HANSEN, B. U.; HANSEN, M. O.; STECHER, O.; ELBERLING, B. (2015):
 Winter warming as an important co-driver for *Betula nana* growth in western Greenland during the past century. *Global Chang Biol* 21 (6), pp. 2410–2423. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.12913.
- HOLTEDAHL, H. (1967): Notes on the Formation of Fjords and Fjord-Valleys. *Geogr Ann A* 49 (2-4), pp. 88–203. DOI: 10.1080/04353676.1967.11879749.
- HULTÉN, E. (1968): Flora of Alaska and Neighboring Territories. A Manual of the Vascular Plants. Stanford University Press.
- ILEK, A.; KUCZA, J.; MORKISZ, K. (2017): Hygroscopicity of the bark of selected forest tree species. *Iforest* 10 (1), pp. 220–226. DOI: 10.3832/ifor1979-009.
- IPCC (2021): Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Cambridge University Press*. Geneva, Swizerland.
- JEŽÍK, M.; BLAŽENEC, M.; KUČERA, J.; STRELCOVÁ, K.; DITMAROVÁ, L. (2016): The response of intra-annual stem circumference increase of young European beech provenances to 2012-2014 weather variability. *Iforest* 9 (6), pp. 960–969. DOI: 10.3832/ifor1829-009.
- JIA, G. J.; EPSTEIN, HOWARD E.; WALKER, DONALD A. (2003): Greening of arctic Alaska, 1981–2001. *Geophys Res Lett* 30 (20), 2067. DOI: 10.1029/2003GL018268.
- JONASSON, S. (1981): Plant communities and species distribution of low alpine Betula nana heaths in Northernmost Sweden. *Plant Ecol* 44 (1), pp. 51–64. DOI: 10.1007/BF00119804.
- JOOS, F.; PRENTICE, I. C.; SITCH, S.; MEYER, R.; HOOSS, G.; PLATTNER, G.-K. et al. (2001): Global warming feedbacks on terrestrial carbon uptake under the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Emission Scenarios. *Global Biogeochem Cycles* 15 (4), pp. 891–907. DOI: 10.1029/2000GB001375.
- KAMEYAMA, Y.; KASAGI, T.; KUDO, G. (2008): A hybrid zone dominated by fertile F1s of two alpine shrub species, *Phyllodoce caerulea* and *Phyllodoce aleutica*, along a snowmelt gradient. *J Evol Biol* 21, pp. 588–597. DOI: 10.1111/j.1420-9101.2007.01476.x.
- KLEIVEN, M. (1959): Studies on the xerophile vegetation in northern Gudbrandsdalen, Norway. *Nytt Mag Bot* 7, pp. 1–60.

- KNÜSEL, S.; PETERS, R. L.; HAENI, M.; WILHELM, M.; ZWEIFEL, R. (2021): Processing and Extraction of Seasonal Tree Physiological Parameters from Stem Radius Time Series. *Forests* 12 (6), 765. DOI: 10.3390/f12060765.
- KÖCHER, P.; HORNA, V.; LEUSCHNER, C. (2012): Environmental control of daily stem growth patterns in five temperate broad-leaved tree species. *Tree Physiol* 32 (8), pp. 1021–1032. DOI: 10.1093/treephys/tps049.
- KÖRNER, C. (2012): Treelines will be understood once the functional difference between a tree and a shrub is. *Ambio* 41 Suppl 3, pp. 197–206. DOI: 10.1007/s13280-012-0313-2 (2012).
- KÖRNER, C. (2015): Paradigm shift in plant growth control. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 25, pp. 107–114. DOI: 10.1016/j.pbi.2015.05.003.
- KÖRNER, C.; HILTBRUNNER, E. (2018): The 90 ways to describe plant temperature. In Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics 30, pp. 16–21. DOI: 10.1016/j.ppees.2017.04.004.
- KÖRNER, C. (2021): Alpine Plant Life. 3rd ed. Springer International Publishing, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- KRAB, E. J.; ROENNEFARTH, J.; BECHER, M.; BLUME-WERRY, G.; KEUPER, F.; KLAMINDER, J. et al. (2017): Winter warming effects on tundra shrub performance are species-specific and dependent on spring conditions. *J Ecol* 106 (2), pp. 599–612. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.12872.
- KUDO, G. (1991): Effects of snow-free period on the phenology of alpine plants inhabiting snow patches. *Arct Alp Res* 23 (4), pp. 436–443. DOI: 10.1080/00040851.1991.12002863.
- LAMACQUE, L.; CHARRIER, G.; SANTOS FARNESE, F. DOS; LEMAIRE, B.; AMÉGLIO, T.; HERBETTE, S. (2019): Droughtinduced mortality: stem diameter variation reveals a point of no return in lavender species. *Environ Sci* 1, pp. 1–25. DOI: 10.1101/848879.
- LARA, M. J.; NITZE, I.; GROSSE, G.; MARTIN, P.; MCGUIRE, A. D. (2018): Reduced arctic tundra productivity linked with landform and climate change interactions. *Sci Rep* 8 (1), 2345. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-20692-8.
- LE MOULLEC, M.; BUCHWAL, A.; WAL, R.; SANDAL, L.; HANSEN, B. B. (2019): Annual ring growth of a widespread high arctic shrub reflects past fluctuations in community-level plant biomass. *J Ecol* 107 (1), pp. 436–451. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.13036.
- LI, B.; HEIJMANS, M. M. P. D.; BERENDSE, F.; BLOK, D.; MAXIMOV, T.; SASS-KLAASSEN, U. (2016): The role of summer precipitation and summer temperature in establishment and growth of dwarf shrub *Betula nana* in northeast Siberian tundra. *Polar Biol* 39 (7), pp. 1245–1255. DOI: 10.1007/s00300-015-1847-0.
- LIANG, E.; LU, X.; REN, P.; LI, X.; ZHU, L.; ECKSTEIN, D. (2012): Annual increments of juniper dwarf shrubs above the tree line on the central Tibetan Plateau: a useful climatic proxy. *Ann Bot* 109 (4), pp. 721–728. DOI: 10.1093/aob/mcr315.

- LINDFORS, L.; ATHERTON, J.; RIIKONEN, A.; HÖLTTÄ, T. (2019): A mechanistic model of winter stem diameter dynamics reveals the time constant of diameter changes and the elastic modulus across tissues and species. *Agric For Meteorol* 272-273, pp. 20–29. DOI: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.03.016.
- LINTUNEN, A.; PALJAKKA, T.; JYSKE, T.; PELTONIEMI, M.; STERCK, F.; ARX, G. VON ET al. (2016): Osmolality and non-structural carbohydrate composition in the secondary phloem of trees across a latitudinal gradient in Europe. *Front Plant Sci* 7, 726. DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00726.
- LIU, X.; NIE, Y.; WEN, F. (2018): Seasonal dynamics of stem radial increment of *Pinus taiwanensis* Hayata and its response to environmental factors in the Lushan Mountains, southeastern China. *Forests* 9 (7), 387. DOI: 10.3390/f9070387.
- LIU, X.; WANG, C.; ZHAO, J. (2019): Seasonal drought effects on intra-annual stem growth of taiwan pine along an elevational gradient in subtropical China. *Forests* 10 (12), 1128. DOI: 10.3390/f10121128.
- LOCKHART, J. A. (1965): An analysis of irreversible plant cell elongation. *J Theor Biol* 8 (2), pp. 264–275. DOI: 10.1016/0022-5193(65)90077-9.
- LÖFFLER, J. (2003): Micro-climatic determination of vegetation patterns along topographical, altitudinal, and oceanic-continental gradients in the high mountains of Norway. *Erdkunde* 57 (3), pp. 232– 249. DOI: 10.3112/erdkunde.2003.03.05.
- LÖFFLER, J. (2005): Snow cover dynamics, soil moisture variability and vegetation ecology in high mountain catchments of central Norway. *Hydrol Process* 19 (12), pp. 2385–2405. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.5891.
- LÖFFLER, J.; PAPE, R. (2020): Thermal niche predictors of alpine plant species. *Ecology* 101 (1), e02891. DOI: 10.1002/ecy.2891.
- LÖFFLER, J.; DOBBERT, S.; PAPE, R.; WUNDRAM, D. (2021): Dendrometer measurements of arctic-alpine dwarf shrubs and micro-environmental drivers of plant growth Dataset from long-term alpine ecosystem research in central Norway. *Erdkunde* 75, DP311201. DOI: 10.3112/erdkunde.2021.dp.01.
- LU, X.; LIANG, E.; WANG, Y.; BABST, F.; CAMARERO, J. J. (2021): Mountain treelines climb slowly despite rapid climate warming. *Global Ecol Biogeogr* 30 (1), pp. 305–315. DOI: 10.1111/geb.13214.
- LU, X.; LIANG, E.; BABST, F.; CAMARERO, J. J.; BÜNTGEN, U. (2022): Warming-induced tipping points of Arctic and alpine shrub recruitment. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 119 (9). DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2118120119.
- MACIAS-FAURIA, M.; FORBES, B. C.; ZETTERBERG, P.; KUMPULA, T. (2012): Eurasian Arctic greening reveals teleconnections and the potential for structurally novel ecosystems. *Nature Clim Change* 2 (8), pp. 613–618. DOI: 10.1038/NCLIMATE1558.

- MACIAS-FAURIA, M.; JEPSON, P.; ZIMOV, N.; MALHI, Y. (2020): Pleistocene Arctic megafaunal ecological engineering as a natural climate solution? *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B* 375 (1794), 20190122. DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0122.
- MARTIN, A. C.; JEFFERS, E. S.; PETROKOFSKY, G.; MYERS-SMITH, I.; MACIAS-FAURIA, M. (2017): Shrub growth and expansion in the Arctic tundra: an assessment of controlling factors using an evidence-based approach. *Environ Res Lett* 12 (8), 85007. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/aa7989.
- MILLER, T. W.; STANGLER, DOMINIK F.; LARYSCH, E.; HONER, H.; SEIFERT, T.; KAHLE, H.-P. (2022): A methodological framework to optimize models predicting critical dates of xylem phenology based on dendrometer data. *Dendrochronologia* 72, 125940. DOI: 10.1016/j.dendro.2022.125940.
- MISHRA, U.; RILEY, W. J. (2012): Alaskan soil carbon stocks: spatial variability and dependence on environmental factors. *Biogeosciences* 9 (9), pp. 3637–3645. DOI: 10.5194/bg-9-3637-2012.
- MOEN, A.; LILLETHUN, A. (1999): National atlas of Norway: vegetation. Norwegian Mapping Authority.
- MORGNER, E.; ELBERLING, B.; STREBEL, D.; COOPER, E. J. (2010): The importance of winter in annual ecosystem respiration in the High Arctic: effects of snow depth in two vegetation types. *Pol Res* 29 (1), pp. 58–74. DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-8369.2010.00151.x.
- MYERS-SMITH, I. H.; FORBES, B. C.; WILMKING, M.; HALLINGER, M.; LANTZ, T.; BLOK, D. et al. (2011): Shrub expansion in tundra ecosystems: dynamics, impacts and research priorities. *Environ Res Lett* 6 (4), 45509. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/6/4/045509.
- MYERS-SMITH, I. H.; ELMENDORF, S. C.; BECK, P. S. A.; WILMKING, M.; HALLINGER, M.; BLOK, D. et al. (2015): Climate sensitivity of shrub growth across the tundra biome. *Nature Clim Change* 5 (9), pp. 887–891. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2697.
- MYERS-SMITH, I. H.; KERBY, J. T.; PHOENIX, G. K.; BJERKE, J. W.; EPSTEIN, H. E.; ASSMANN, J. J. et al. (2020): Complexity revealed in the greening of the Arctic. *Nature Clim Change* 10 (2), pp. 106–117. DOI: 10.1038/s41558-019-0688-1.
- MYNENI, R. B.; KEELING, C. D.; TUCKER, C. J.; ASRAR, G.; NEMANI, R. R. (1997): Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991. *Nature* 386, pp. 698–702. DOI: 10.1038/386698a0.
- NAUTA, A. L.; HEIJMANS, M. M. P. D.; BLOK, D.; LIMPENS, J.; ELBERLING, B.; GALLAGHER, A. et al. (2015): Permafrost collapse after shrub removal shifts tundra ecosystem to a methane source. *Nature Clim Change* 5 (1), pp. 67–70. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2446.
- NIELSEN, S. S.; ARX, G. VON; DAMGAARD, C. F.; ABERMANN, J.; BUCHWAL, A.; BÜNTGEN, U. et al. (2017): Xylem anatomical trait variability provides insight on the climate-growth relationship of *Betula nana* in western Greenland. *Arct Antarct Alp Res* 49 (3), pp. 359–371. DOI: 10.1657/AAAR0016-041.

- OBERHUBER, W.; SEHRT, M.; KITZ, F. (2020): Hygroscopic properties of thin dead outer bark layers strongly influence stem diameter variations on short and long time scales in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). Agric For Meteorol 290, 108026. DOI: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2020.108026.
- ODLAND, A.; MUNKEJORD, H. K. (2008): Plants as indicators of snow layer duration in southern Norwegian mountains. *Ecol Indic* 8 (1), pp. 57–68. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2006.12.005.
- ÖGREN, E. (2001): Effects of climatic warming on cold hardiness of some northern woody plants assessed from simulation experiments. *Physiol Plant* 112 (1), pp. 71–77. DOI: 10.1034/j.1399-3054.2001.1120110.x.
- PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2016): Spatial patterns of alpine phytomass, primary productivity, and related calorific resources. *Ecosphere* 7 (6), e01347. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.1347.
- PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2017): Determinants of arctic-alpine pasture resources: the need for a spatially and functionally fine-scaled perspective. *Geogr Ann A* 99 (4), pp. 353–370. DOI: 10.1080/04353676.2017.1368833.
- PAPPAS, C.; PETERS, R. L.; FONTI, P. (2020): Linking variability of tree water use and growth with species resilience to environmental changes. *Ecography* 43 (9), pp. 1386–1399. DOI: 10.1111/ecog.04968.
- PÉREZ-RAMOS, I. M.; MATÍAS, L.; GÓMEZ-APARICIO, L.; GODOY, Ó. (2019): Functional traits and phenotypic plasticity modulate species coexistence across contrasting climatic conditions. *Nat Comm* 10 (1), 2555. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-019-10453-0.
- PETERS, R. L.; STEPPE, K.; CUNY, H. E.; PAUW, D. J. W. DE; FRANK, D. C.; SCHAUB, M. et al. (2021): Turgor a limiting factor for radial growth in mature conifers along an elevational gradient. *New Phytol* 229 (1), pp. 213–229. DOI: 10.1111/nph.16872.
- PFENNIGWERTH, A. A.; BAILEY, J. K.; SCHWEITZER, J. A. (2017): Trait variation along elevation gradients in a dominant woody shrub is population-specific and driven by plasticity. *AoB PLANTS* 9 (4), plx027. DOI: 10.1093/aobpla/plx027.
- PHOENIX, G. K.; BJERKE, J. W. (2016): Arctic browning: extreme events and trends reversing arctic greening. *Glob Chang Biol* 22 (9), pp. 2960–2962. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.13261.
- POST, E.; ALLEY, R. B.; CHRISTENSEN, T. R.; MACIAS-FAURIA, M.; FORBES, B. C.; GOOSEFF, M. N. et al. (2019): The polar regions in a 2°C warmer world. *Sci Adv* 5 (12), eaaw9883. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.aaw9883.
- PRICE, M. F.; BARRY, R. G. (1997): Climate change. B. MESSERLI, J. D. IVES (Eds.): Mountains of the World. A Global Priority. *Taylor & Francis*, New York, pp. 409–445.
- R CORE TEAM (2021): R: A language and environment for statistical computing. *R Foundation for Statistical Computing.* Retrieved from https://www.R-project.org/.

- RANDIN, C. F.; PAULSEN, J.; VITASSE, Y.; KOLLAS, C.; WOHLGEMUTH, T.; ZIMMERMANN, N. E.; KÖRNER, C. (2013):
 Do the elevational limits of deciduous tree species match their thermal latitudinal limits? *Glob Ecol Biogeogr* 22 (8), pp. 913–923. DOI: 10.1111/geb.12040.
- RAUNKIÆR, C. (2015): Life forms of plants and statistical plant geography. *Isha Books; Facsimile Publishers*, New Delhi.
- RATHGEBER, C. B. K.; CUNY, H. E.; FONTI, P. (2016): Biological basis of tree-ring formation: A Crash Course. Front Plant Sci 7, 734. DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00734.
- REINEKE, L. H. (1932): A precision dendrometer. J For 30, pp. 692–697.
- ROPARS, P.; LÉVESQUE, E.; BOUDREAU, S. (2015): How do climate and topography influence the greening of the forest-tundra ecotone in northern Québec? A dendrochronological analysis of *Betula glandulosa*. *J Ecology* 103 (3), pp. 679–690. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.12394.
- ROPARS, P.; ANGERS-BLONDIN, S.; GAGNON, M.; MYERS-SMITH, I. H.; LÉVESQUE, E.; BOUDREAU, S. (2017): Different parts, different stories: climate sensitivity of growth is stronger in root collars vs. stems in tundra shrubs. *Glob Chang Biol* 23 (8), pp. 3281–3291. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.13631.
- ROSSI, S.; DESLAURIERS, A.; MORIN, H. (2003): Application of the Gompertz equation for the study of xylem cell development. *Dendrochronologia* 21 (1), pp. 33–39. DOI: 10.1078/1125-7865-00034.
- ROSSI, S.; DESLAURIERS, A.; ANFODILLO, T.; MORIN, H.; SARACINO, A.; MOTTA, R.; BORGHETTI, M. (2006): Conifers in cold environments synchronize maximum growth rate of tree-ring formation with day length. *New Phytol* 170 (2), pp. 301–310. DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01660.x.
- ROSSI, S.; DESLAURIERS, A.; GRIÇAR, J.; SEO, J.-W.; RATHGEBER, C. B. K.; ANFODILLO, T. et al. (2008): Critical temperatures for xylogenesis in conifers of cold climates. *Glob Ecol Biogeogr* 17 (6), pp. 696–707. DOI: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2008.00417.x.
- ROSSI, S.; ANFODILLO, T.; ČUFAR, K.; CUNY, H. E.; DESLAURIERS, A.; FONTI, P. et al. (2016): Pattern of xylem phenology in conifers of cold ecosystems at the Northern Hemisphere. *Glob Change Biol* 22 (11), pp. 3804–3813. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.13317.
- SABATER, A. M.; WARD, H. C.; HILL, T. C.; GORNALL, J. L.; WADE, T. J.; EVANS, J. G. et al. (2019): Transpiration from subarctic deciduous woodlands: environmental controls and contribution to ecosystem evapotranspiration. *Ecohydrology*. DOI: 10.1002/ECO.2190.
- SACCONE, P.; HOIKKA, K.; VIRTANEN, R. (2017): What if plant functional types conceal species-specific responses to environment? Study on arctic shrub communities. *Ecology* 98 (6), pp. 1600–1612. DOI: 10.1002/ecy.1817.
- SAETERSDAL, M.; BIRKS, H. J. B. (1997): A comparative ecological study of Norwegian mountain plants in relation to possible future climatic change. J Biogeography 24 (2), pp. 127–152. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2699.1997.00096.x.

- SCHERRER, D.; KÖRNER, C. (2011): Topographically controlled thermal-habitat differentiation buffers alpine plant diversity against climate warming. In Journal of Biogeography 38 (2), pp. 406–416. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2010.02407.x.
- SCHOTT, R. T.; ROTH-NEBELSICK, A. (2018): Ice nucleation in stems of trees and shrubs with different frost resistance. *IAWA J* 39 (2), pp. 177–190. DOI: 10.1163/22941932-20180201.
- SCHUUR, E. A. G.; ABBOTT, B. W.; BOWDEN, W. B.; BROVKIN, V.; CAMILL, P.; CANADELL, J. G. et al. (2013): Expert assessment of vulnerability of permafrost carbon to climate change. *Clim Change* 119 (2), pp. 359–374. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-013-0730-7.
- SCHUUR, E. A. G.; MCGUIRE, A. D.; SCHÄDEL, C.; GROSSE, G.; HARDEN, J. W.; HAYES, D. J. et al. (2015): Climate change and the permafrost carbon feedback. *Nature* 520 (7546), pp. 171–179. DOI: 10.1038/nature14338.
- SEEBACHER, F.; WHITE, C. R.; FRANKLIN, C. E. (2015): Physiological plasticity increases resilience of ectothermic animals to climate change. *Nature Clim Change* 5 (1), pp. 61–66. DOI: 10.1038/NCLIMATE2457.
- SMILJANIĆ, M.; WILMKING, M. (2018): Drivers of stem radial variation and its pattern in peatland Scots pines: A pilot study. *Dendrochronologia* 47, pp. 30–37. DOI: 10.1016/j.dendro.2017.12.001.
- SPERRY, J. S. (2003): Evolution of Water Transport and Xylem Structure. *Int J Plant Sci* 164 (S3), pp. 115-127. DOI: 10.1086/368398
- STEPPE, K.; PAUW, D. J. W. DE; LEMEUR, R.; VANROLLEGHEM, P. A. (2006): A mathematical model linking tree sap flow dynamics to daily stem diameter fluctuations and radial stem growth. *Tree Physiol* 26 (3), pp. 257–273. DOI: 10.1093/treephys/26.3.257.
- STEPPE, K.; STERCK, F.; DESLAURIERS, A. (2015): Diel growth dynamics in tree stems: linking anatomy and ecophysiology. *Trends Plant Sci* 20 (6), pp. 335–343. DOI: 10.1016/j.tplants.2015.03.015.
- STURM, M.; SCHIMEL, J.; MICHAELSON, G.; WELKER, J. M.; OBERBAUER, S. F.; LISTON, G. E. et al. (2005): Winter biological processes could help convert arctic Tundra to shrubland. *Biosci* 55 (1), p. 17–26. DOI: 10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0017:WBPCHC]2.0.CO;2.
- STUSHNOFF, C.; JUNTTILA, O. (1986): Seasonal development of cold stress resistance in several plant species at a coastal and a continental location in North Norway. *Pol Biol* 5 (3), pp. 129–133. DOI: 10.1007/BF00441691.
- TURCOTTE, A.; ROSSI, S.; DESLAURIERS, A.; KRAUSE, C.; MORIN, H. (2011): Dynamics of depletion and replenishment of water storage in stem and roots of black spruce measured by dendrometers. *Front Plant Sci* 2, p. 2–21. DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2011.00021.
- TURCOTTE, M. M.; LEVINE, J. M. (2016): Phenotypic Plasticity and Species Coexistence. *Trends Ecol Evol* 31 (10), pp. 803–813. DOI: 10.1016/j.tree.2016.07.013.

- VAN DER MAATEN, E.; PAPE, J.; VAN DER MAATEN-THEUNISSEN, M.; SCHARNWEBER, T.; SMILJANIC, M.; CRUZ-GARCÍA,
 R.; WILMKING, M. (2018): Distinct growth phenology but similar daily stem dynamics in three
 co-occurring broadleaved tree species. *Tree Physiol* 38 (12), pp. 1820–1828. DOI: 10.1093/treephys/tpy042.
- VENN, S. E.; GREEN, K. (2018): Evergreen alpine shrubs have high freezing resistance in spring, irrespective of snowmelt timing and exposure to frost: an investigation from the Snowy Mountains, Australia. *Plant Ecol* 219 (2), pp. 209–216. DOI: 10.1007/s11258-017-0789-8.
- WAHREN, C.-H. A.; WALKER, M. D.; BRET-HARTE, M. S. (2005): Vegetation responses in Alaskan arctic tundra after 8 years of a summer warming and winter snow manipulation experiment. *Glob Chang Biol* 11 (4), pp. 537–552. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.00927.x.
- WANG, Y.; WANG, Y.; LI, Z.; YU, P.; HAN, X. (2020): Interannual variation of transpiration and its modeling of a larch plantation in semiarid northwest China. *Forests* 11 (12), 1303. DOI: 10.3390/f11121303.
- WANG, S.; CALLAWAY, R. M. (2021): Plasticity in response to plant-plant interactions and water availability. *Ecology*, e03361. DOI: 10.1002/ecy.3361.
- WEIJERS, S.; BROEKMAN, R.; ROZEMA, J. (2010): Dendrochronology in the High Arctic: July air temperatures reconstructed from annual shoot length growth of the circumarctic dwarf shrub Cassiope tetragona. *Quat Sci Rev* 29 (27-28), pp. 3831–3842. DOI: 10.1016/j.quascirev.2010.09.003.
- WEIJERS, S.; BUCHWAL, A.; BLOK, D.; LÖFFLER, J.; ELBERLING, B. (2017): High Arctic summer warming tracked by increased Cassiope tetragona growth in the world's northernmost polar desert. *Glob Chang Biol* 23 (11), pp. 5006–5020. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.13747.
- WEIJERS, S.; BECKERS, N.; LÖFFLER, J. (2018a): Recent spring warming limits near-treeline deciduous and evergreen alpine dwarf shrub growth. *Ecosphere* 9 (6), e02328. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.2328.
- WEIJERS, S.; PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J.; MYERS-SMITH, I. H. (2018b): Contrasting shrub species respond to early summer temperatures leading to correspondence of shrub growth patterns. *Environ Res Lett* 13 (3), 34005. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/aaa5b8.
- WIPF, S. (2010): Phenology, growth, and fecundity of eight subarctic tundra species in response to snowmelt manipulations. *Plant Ecol* 207 (1), pp. 53–66. DOI: 10.1007/s11258-009-9653-9.
- WOOD, S. N. (2006): Generalized additive models. An introduction with R. *Chapman & Hall/CRC (Texts in statistical science),* Boca Raton.
- WOOD, S. N. (2011): Fast stable restricted maximum likelihood and marginal likelihood estimation of semiparametric generalized linear models. J R Stat Soc B Stat Methodol 73 (1), pp. 3–36. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9868.2010.00749.x.

- WUNDRAM, D.; LÖFFLER, J. (2008): High-resolution spatial analysis of mountain landscapes using a lowaltitude remote sensing approach. *Int J Remote Sens* 29 (4), pp. 961–974. DOI: 10.1080/01431160701352113.
- WUNDRAM, D.; PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2010): Alpine soil temperature variability at multiple scales. Arct Antarct Alp Res 42 (1), pp. 117-128. DOI: 10.1657/1938-4246-42.1.117.
- WYKA, T. P.; OLEKSYN, J. (2014): Photosynthetic ecophysiology of evergreen leaves in the woody angiosperms a review. *Dendrobiology* 72, pp. 3–27. DOI: 10.12657/denbio.072.001.
- XU, L.; MYNENI, R. B.; CHAPIN III, F. S.; CALLAGHAN, T. V.; PINZON, J. E.; TUCKER, C. J. et al. (2013): Temperature and vegetation seasonality diminishment over northern lands. *Nature Clim Change* 3 (6), pp. 581–586. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate1836.
- YEE, T. W.; MITCHELL, N. D. (1991): Generalized additive models in plant ecology. *J Veg Sci* 2 (5), pp. 587–602. DOI: 10.2307/3236170.
- YOUNG, A. B.; WATTS, D. A.; TAYLOR, A. H.; POST, E. (2016): Species and site differences influence climateshrub growth responses in West Greenland. *Dendrochronologia* 37, pp. 69–78. DOI: 10.1016/j.dendro.2015.12.007.
- ZHANG, W.; MILLER, P. A.; JANSSON, C.; SAMUELSSON, P.; MAO, J.; SMITH, B. (2018): Self-amplifying feedbacks accelerate greening and warming of the Arctic. *Geophys Res Lett* 45 (14), pp. 7102–7111. DOI: 10.1029/2018GL077830.
- ZWEIFEL, R.; HÄSLER, R. (2000): Frost-induced reversible shrinkage of bark of mature subalpine conifers. Agric For Meteorol 102 (4), pp. 213–222. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00135-0.
- ZWEIFEL, R.; ZIMMERMANN, L.; NEWBERY, D. M. (2005): Modeling tree water deficit from microclimate: an approach to quantifying drought stress. *Tree Physiol* 25 (2), pp. 147–156. DOI: 10.1093/treephys/25.2.147.
- ZWEIFEL, R.; ZIMMERMANN, L.; ZEUGIN, F.; NEWBERY, D. M. (2006): Intra-annual radial growth and water relations of trees: implications towards a growth mechanism. *J Exp Bot* 57 (6), pp. 1445–1459. DOI: 10.1093/jxb/erj125.
- ZWEIFEL, R.; DREW, D. M.; SCHWEINGRUBER, F.; DOWNES, G. M. (2014): Xylem as the main origin of stem radius changes in Eucalyptus. *Funct Plant Biol* 41 (5), pp. 520–534. DOI: 10.1071/FP13240.
- ZWEIFEL, R.; HAENI, M.; BUCHMANN, N.; EUGSTER, W. (2016): Are trees able to grow in periods of stem shrinkage? *New Phytol* 211 (3), pp. 839–849. DOI: 10.1111/nph.13995.
- ZWEIFEL, R.; STERCK, F.; BRAUN, S.; BUCHMANN, N.; EUGSTER, W.; GESSLER, A. et al. (2021): Why trees grow at night. *New Phytol* 231 (6), pp. 2174-2185. DOI: 10.1111/nph.17552.

ZWIEBACK, S.; CHANG, Q.; MARSH, P.; BERG, A. (2019): Shrub tundra ecohydrology: rainfall interception is a major component of the water balance. *Environ Res Lett* 14 (5), 55005. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/ab1049.

5 The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs – a case study to investigate stem growth responses to environmental conditions

DOBBERT, S.; PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2022): The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs – a case study to investigate stem growth responses to environmental conditions. *Biogeosciences* 19 (7), pp. 1933–1958. DOI: 10.5194/bg-19-1933-2022.

Abstract

Considering the recent widespread greening and browning trends associated with shrubs in arctic– alpine ecosystems, further understanding of how these shrubs respond in a rapidly changing environment is of crucial importance.

We here monitor shrub growth, using high-precision dendrometers to produce fine-scale intra-annual growth patterns from hourly stem diameter variability in a widespread evergreen species (*Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum*). Measurements were taken at a micrometer scale for the period 2015 till 2018 on exposed and mostly snow-free ridge positions. With the same temporal resolution, we collected near-ground environmental data and identified on-site controls of growth behavior.

We found high inter-plant variability in radial stem growth but strong similarities in response patterns to the local environment. Our results suggest that the evergreen species is highly adapted to the specific local conditions, remaining partly photosynthetically active during the snow-free winter, which facilitates carbohydrate accumulation for early-season physiological activities. Additionally, we discovered a phase of radial stem shrinkage during the winter months, which can be attributed to an active cell water reduction to protect the plant from frost damage.

We conclude that soil moisture availability and winter snow conditions are the main drivers of radial stem growth of *E. hermaphroditum* in arctic and alpine regions and could negatively affect the species' distribution in a warming climate.

47



The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs – a case study to investigate stem growth responses to environmental conditions

Svenja Dobbert¹, Roland Pape², and Jörg Löffler¹

¹Department of Geography, University of Bonn, Meckenheimer Allee 166, 53115 Bonn, Germany ²Department of Natural Sciences and Environmental Health, University of South-Eastern Norway, Gullbringvegen 36, 3800 Bø, Norway

Correspondence: Jörg Löffler (joerg.loeffler@uni-bonn.de)

Received: 15 April 2021 – Discussion started: 10 May 2021 Revised: 14 February 2022 – Accepted: 15 February 2022 – Published: 5 April 2022

Abstract. Considering the recent widespread greening and browning trends associated with shrubs in arctic–alpine ecosystems, further understanding of how these shrubs respond in a rapidly changing environment is of crucial importance.

We here monitor shrub growth, using high-precision dendrometers to produce fine-scale intra-annual growth patterns from hourly stem diameter variability in a widespread evergreen species (*Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum*). Measurements were taken at a micrometer scale for the period 2015 till 2018 on exposed and mostly snow-free ridge positions. With the same temporal resolution, we collected near-ground environmental data and identified on-site controls of growth behavior.

We found high inter-plant variability in radial stem growth but strong similarities in response patterns to the local environment. Our results suggest that the evergreen species is highly adapted to the specific local conditions, remaining partly photosynthetically active during the snow-free winter, which facilitates carbohydrate accumulation for early-season physiological activities. Additionally, we discovered a phase of radial stem shrinkage during the winter months, which can be attributed to an active cell water reduction to protect the plant from frost damage.

We conclude that soil moisture availability and winter snow conditions are the main drivers of radial stem growth of *E. hermaphroditum* in arctic and alpine regions and could negatively affect the species' distribution in a warming climate.

1 Introduction

Arctic and alpine ecosystems are especially sensitive to recent climate variability, with temperatures increasing thrice as much as the global average in the past decades, caused by a rising concentration of atmospheric CO₂ and accompanied by a substantial lengthening of the growing period (e.g., IPCC, 2014; Post et al., 2019; AMAP, 2021). This trend has favored growth, abundance, and biomass production of numerous shrub species, resulting in a widespread, yet spatially heterogenic, greening of the affected areas – with potentially global effects (Myers-Smith et al., 2011; Gough et al., 2015; Brodie et al., 2019; Myers-Smith et al., 2020). The observed greening has been verified using remote sensing techniques (e.g., Carlson et al., 2017) and is caused by both evergreen and broadleaved species, although in different ways (Vowles and Björk, 2019; Weijers and Löffler, 2020). Relations between carbon assimilation through photosynthesis, environmentally controlled wood formation, and associated plant growth were shown to be complex, complicating the understanding of underlying processes, as well as predictions of future trends (Fatichi et al., 2019; Peters et al., 2021). In general, shrubs are considered one of the most responsive plant functional groups to climate variability (Elmendorf et al., 2012). Their expanding trend, in turn, has been associated with climatic feedbacks, such as influence on surface albedo and frozen-ground processes (Sturm et al., 2001; Chapin et al., 2005; Blok et al., 2011; Aartsma et al., 2021). Therefore, an understanding of shrub growth physiology and its environmental controls is of crucial importance.

Over the past decade, dendroecological studies have identified temperatures and soil moisture as the most important drivers in controlling cambial activity in shrubs, potentially independent of carbon assimilation (Van der Wal and Stien, 2014; Cabon et al., 2020). Here, conditions during the main growing season have proven especially important (Elmendorf et al., 2012; Hollesen et al., 2015; Ackerman et al., 2017; Weijers et al., 2017). Additionally, most recent studies have suggested that snow cover and winter warming may play an important role in promoting shrub growth (Hollesen et al., 2015; Weijers et al., 2018a; Francon et al., 2020), as well as spring warming (Weijers et al., 2018a). Yet, an increased frequency of spring freezing events might counteract these positive effects (Choler, 2018). Collectively, these studies agree on the fine-scale complexity of growth behavior, niche shifts, and local adaptation of shrubs in arctic and alpine regions, with a multitude of still little understood, site-related environmental drivers (Graae et al., 2018; Pape and Löffler, 2017; Löffler and Pape, 2020). Such studies, however, mostly rely on measurements of stem or shoot growth, obtained from shrub-ring series (Macias-Fauria et al., 2012; Shetti, 2018; Le Moullec et al., 2019), extraction of micro-cores, or wood anatomical analyses (Rossi et al., 2006; Weijers et al., 2010; Liang et al., 2012; Francon et al., 2020) – all of which are conducted at an inter-annual timescale, which might not be sufficient in explaining the observed complexity due to a too coarse temporal resolution.

High-resolution data, as provided by dendrometer measurements, have the potential to bridge this knowledge gap. They are likely to provide valuable insights into fine-scale response mechanisms to a changing environment, including information on stem water dynamics and carbon fluxes, with higher quality and resolutions than previously attainable (Fritts, 1976; De Schepper and Steppe, 2010; Steppe et al., 2015; Zweifel, 2016; González-Rodríguez et al., 2017). In general, stem diameter increase can be described as a result of cambial division and cell enlargement, which are in turn closely linked to temperature and water potential and therefore strongly affected by environmental stressors. Thus, stem diameter variability is closely related to cambial activity and underlying fine-scale, eco-physiological mechanisms, including water-driven turgor pressure changes in the xylem (Steppe et al., 2015; Drew and Downes, 2009; Cuny et al., 2015; Chan et al., 2016; Zweifel, 2016; Peters et al., 2021; Körner, 2021). Because cambial activity occurs at timescales ranging from hours to days (Deslauriers et al., 2007; Köcher et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2018), the fine temporal resolution that is gained by dendrometers provides valuable additional insights compared to traditional methods. These include intraannual and seasonal growth behavior of shrubs in alpine environments, thereby bridging existing knowledge gaps regarding plant productivity in remote ecosystems (Le Moullec et al., 2019).

In tree physiology and forest sciences, dendrometers have already proven useful for monitoring tree responses to environmental fluctuations (Breitsprecher and Bethel, 1990; Duchesne et al., 2012; Ježík et al., 2016; Van der Maaten et al., 2018; Smiljanić and Wilmking, 2018), as recent dendrometers can detect radial stem dimensions at hourly or even shorter intervals (Drew and Downes, 2009; Liu et al., 2018). Starting with the early designs, first described in the 1930s and the 1940s (Reineke, 1932; Daubenmire, 1945), dendrometers have been widely used, focusing on long-term monitoring of growth responses to environmental variables (e.g., Duchesne et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2018; Van der Maaten et al., 2018). Recently, a first study using band dendrometers to monitor radial stem growth of tree-like shrubs was presented (González-Rodríguez et al., 2017). Because current dendrometers are designed to measure at a micrometer scale, they have the potential to be used on shrubs to provide fine-scale, intra-annual, continuous, and highly comparable information (Dobbert et al., 2021a, b).

In this context, we monitored intra- and inter-annual stem diameter variability at alpine ridge positions, testing this novel approach using high-precision dendrometer data derived from individual specimens of the shrub species Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum (hereafter E. hermaphroditum), an evergreen shrub that is almost circumpolar in distribution (Bell and Tallis, 1973) and abundant in the Scandes mountain chain. E. hermaphroditum has been identified as a niche constructor species with strong direct effects on tundra communities, including a potential slowing of process rates and lowering of biodiversity with E. hermaphroditum encroachment (Bråthen et al., 2018). Because of its complex response to variation in snow cover, it is most common at positions with either shallow or relatively deep snow cover (Bienau et al., 2014, 2016). Additionally, E. hermaphroditum has been described as comparatively resistant to low winter temperatures (Stushnoff and Junttila, 1986; Ögren, 2001) and is usually not affected by grazing (Weijers and Löffler, 2020). The species' stem anatomy was described by Carlquist (1989) and is characterized by a narrow vessel diameter, which can be interpreted as a form of adaptation to drought or physiological drought due to cold as it impedes embolism formation (Fig. A1 in Appendix A). In general, the family of heath-like shrubs is known to match extreme environments by adapting stem anatomy (Carlquist, 1989) and generally occurs in a wide phytogeographic range at various sites along the alpine elevational gradient. We therefore expect to find the monitored specimens highly adapted to their local environment at the exposed ridge positions, possibly independent from larger-scale environmental variability associated with the elevational gradient. Thus, we aim to (1) explain major growth patterns and their variation between years and specimens, (2) identify the most important environmental drivers controlling these patterns across sites, and (3) gain insights into potential response to environmental change. The main objective of our work is thus to gain detailed understanding of the growth patterns of one common arcticalpine dwarf shrub (*Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum*) and its relation to its immediate environmental surroundings. With this, we hope to bridge the gap between observed large-scale vegetational shifts and the fine-scale physiological mechanisms driving these complex changes within the highly relevant arctic–alpine ecosystems.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Study sites

We conducted our study in two alpine mountain regions of central Norway. To the west, the Geiranger, Møre og Romsdal, region $(62^{\circ}03' \text{ N}, 7^{\circ}15' \text{ E})$ is located within the slightly to markedly oceanic climatic section (O1–O2; Moen, 1999) of the inner fjords. It is characterized by humid conditions, with total annual precipitation of 1500-2000 mm in the valleys (Aune, 1993) and a mean annual ambient air temperature of 1.9 °C (range -23.2 to 17.2 °C) (Löffler, 2003). To the east, the Vågåmo, Innlandet, region (61°53' N, 9°15' E) is located within the continental climatic section (C1; Moen, 1999). The total annual precipitation is low, approximately 300-500 mm in the valleys (Kleiven, 1959), and the mean annual ambient air temperature is -1.2 °C (range -29.2 to 16.7 °C) (Löffler, 2003). Our own measurements in the alpine parts of the studied regions indicated that the annual liquid precipitation was 900 mm in the west and 375 mm in the east. The additional amount of snow and its water equivalent remains unknown, but snowdrift leads to an uneven distribution of the snowpack within the complex alpine topography (Löffler, 2007).

Across both regions, we chose micro-topographical positions at exposed, wind-blown ridges as study sites. These positions likely represent the most extreme thermal regimes, with discontinuous snow cover and deeply frozen ground during winter. Within the framework of our long-term alpine ecosystem research project (LTAER; e.g., Löffler and Finch, 2005; Hein et al., 2014; Frindte et al., 2019; Löffler et al., 2021), sites were stratified randomly chosen along the elevational gradient to represent the full elevational range of the focal species within our sampled sites. The elevational gradient was stratified into six elevational bands from the treeline upwards, shifted by 100 m between regions to account for slightly different conditions and a diverging position of the treeline. In the oceanic region, we used 900, 1000, 1100, 1200, 1300, and 1400 m a.s.l. (above sea level), in accordance with the treeline in this region, which is located at about 750 to 800 m a.s.l. In the continental region, we used 1000, 1100, 1200, 1300, 1400, and 1500 m a.s.l. Here, the treeline is situated slightly higher, at about 1000 m a.s.l. (Rößler et al., 2008; Rößler and Löffler, 2007). Thus, all of our studied sites were located above the treeline. Our study design resulted in a total of 12 sites, i.e., 2 regions × 6 elevational bands, with one specimen monitored per site (N = 12), resulting in 48 annual dendrometer curves, i.e., 12×4 years. A summary of the total stem diameter variation and environmental conditions measured at each site is presented in Fig. A2.

2.2 Dendrometric data and monitoring setup

Here, we applied a technological approach, commonly used for trees, to our multi-stemmed specimens of E. hermaphroditum, taking radial stem measurements using dendrometers. The general idea was to apply wellestablished methods from dendroecology and tree growth analysis within a novel setting to assess intra- and interannual variation in growth patterns and environmental factors controlling this variation. We mounted our dendrometers on one major aboveground stem of a randomly chosen specimen per site, horizontally to the ground surface and as close to the assumed root collar as possible. During this process, we removed the dead outer bark (periderm) to place the sensor as close to the living tissue as possible, following a common practice for dendrometer measurements of trees (Oberhuber et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020; Grams et al., 2021). This ensures that hygroscopic shrinkage and swelling of dead tissues from the outer bark do not influence the diameter measurements. Such processes have been previously addressed in trees (Zweifel and Häsler, 2000; Gall et al., 2002; Ilek et al., 2016), and comparative studies revealed a complex interplay of xylem as well as phloem growth and pressure-induced size changes, which simultaneously affect radial stem change and are thus captured by the dendrometers (Turcotte et al., 2011; Zweifel et al., 2014b; Oberhuber et al., 2020; Knüsel et al., 2021) (Fig. A1). Additionally, we avoided specific micro-positions near stones and depressions, inside the radius of other larger shrub species, and near patches of wind erosion (Fig. A3). Stem diameter data were measured at 1 min intervals using dendrometers (type DRO; Ecomatik, Dachau, Germany). The sensor has a temperature coefficient of $< 0.2 \,\mu\text{m}\,\text{K}^{-1}$. To ensure that the dendrometers produce meaningful data, unaffected by the mounting process and bark removal, we tested the study design for several years before presenting the final study period here. In order to facilitate the following analysis, we aggregated the measured hourly values to obtain daily stem diameter variability, defined as the maximum stem diameter measured each day, following the "daily maximum approach" (Deslauriers et al., 2007). This approach assumes suppressed radial growth during times of stem shrinking, in accordance with Zweifel (2016). All calculations were made using R statistical software (R Development Core Team, 2020).

2.3 Analysis of seasonal growth patterns

To assess major growth patterns and growth variation between years, we first defined specific parameters and dates of annual stem growth for each year, resulting in a set of growth-defining parameters for each individual dendrometer curve. This included (a) total growth, defined as growth-induced stem expansion. To separate this expansion from reversible shrinking and swelling associated with stem water fluctuations, we chose the approach proposed by Zweifel (2016), which assumes radial stem growth to be suppressed during times of stem shrinking due to the transpiration-induced lowering of the turgor pressure, preventing cell expansion and cell division. Growth is thus defined as an increase in stem radius when the measured radius is larger than it was at any point in the past. Consequently, total growth realized throughout the year can be derived from the original measured data by calculating the sum of the cumulative maxima (Zweifel et al., 2014a; Zweifel, 2016; Zweifel et al., 2021). Following this approach, we were able to extract the growth-induced stem increment during the main growing season, as well as patterns of radial stem shrinkage (expressed as stem water deficit and derived by subtracting daily stem diameter values from the previously obtained cumulative growth curves; Zweifel, 2016). From these patterns we derived (b) peak shrinking, which we defined as the maximum stem water deficit and which usually occurred during the winter months. Subsequently, we aimed to further define the timing of the main growing season, calculating accurate dates for the parameter (c) peak growth (maximum daily growth rate), as well as (d) growth initiation (start of the growing season) and (e) growth cessation (end of the growing season). Here, we found sigmoid Gompertz models to be the best fit for our growth curves. Although multiple models have been used to describe growth, the Gompertz equation is the most widely used in dendrochronological studies and has been proven to explain the variations in dendrometer measurements (for trees) well (e.g., Rossi et al., 2003, 2006; Duchesne et al., 2012; Van der Maaten et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2019). The equation used for the model was Eq. (1):

$$y(t) = \alpha \times \exp(-\beta \times \exp(-k \times t)), \tag{1}$$

where α is the upper asymptote, β is the *x*-axis placement parameter, and *k* is the growth rate. We calculated these input parameters from our original data using the equations defined by Fekedulegn et al. (1999). To assess how well the models fit our data, we calculated a goodness-of-fit (GoF) measure using the least-squares method with the formula Eq. (2):

GoF =
$$1 - (\Sigma (f - f^2)^2 / \Sigma f^2),$$
 (2)

where f is the original and f^2 is the modeled stem diameter.

We determined growth initiation (onset) and cessation (offset) from this modeled curve. Since raw dendrometer data are known to deliver rough estimates of cambial activity and less reliable critical dates (Deslauriers et al., 2007; van der Maaten et al., 2018; Cruz-García et al., 2019), this modeling approach allowed us to clearly define the main growth phase and ensure high comparability between years and specimens. Growth initiation and cessation were defined as the time when 10% and 90%, respectively, of the total annual modeled growth occurred. We chose these thresholds in accordance with our data, and they were slightly higher than the thresholds used in similar studies for trees (e.g., Van der Maaten-Theunissen et al., 2013; Van der Maaten et al., 2018; Drew and Downes, 2009). This is a result of the unique growth patterns of the sampled shrubs.

Some of our specimens did not experience any growth in specific years. Years with no or little growth have been detected in other shrubs, for example, in *Salix arctica* by Polunin (1955). Buchwal et al. (2013) assumed such mechanisms to be related to carbon allocation and to occur irregularly along the stem because growth is not homogeneously allocated within the different plant segments. In accordance with their findings for *Salix polaris*, the specimens might preferentially allocate resources to less exposed parts (e.g., roots) in these years. In general, such partial dormancy (Preece et al., 2012) might reflect insufficient resources for homogenous growth across the entire plant. We did not calculate a growing season for these years, and the analyses proceeded separately, excluding them from most of our calculations.

2.4 Environmental data collection

To identify the thermal constraints of our species at both the critical location and the timescale of action (cf. Körner and Hiltbrunner, 2018), we measured soil temperatures ($^{\circ}$ C) at a depth of 15 cm below the ground surface (i.e., within the root zone, hereafter T_{RZ}) and air temperatures 15 cm above the ground surface (i.e., within the shoot zone, hereafter T_{SZ}), at all sites. Temperatures were measured at 1 min intervals and recorded as hourly means using Onset's HOBO loggers (type H21-002) and type S-TMB-M002 temperature sensors (± 0.2 °C accuracy). For the T_{SZ} measurements, the sensors were equipped with passively ventilated radiation shields. Moreover, to identify the soil moisture constraints in the root zone of our specimens, we measured the volumetric soil water content $(m^3 m^{-3})$ 15 cm below the soil surface (hereafter SM_{RZ}) at all sites. The uncalibrated SM_{RZ} was measured at 1 min intervals and recorded as hourly means using Onset's HOBO type S-SMD-M005 soil moisture sensors (±3 % accuracy). Additionally, we measured the shoot zone global radiation $(W m^{-2})$ at 1 cm above the ground surface in close proximity to the plant (hereafter GR_{SZ}) using Onset's HOBO type S-LIB-M003 silicon pyranometers ($\pm 10 \,\mathrm{W}\,\mathrm{m}^{-2}$ accuracy). We made sure that those measurements were not affected by the canopy. Our data covered a period of 4 full calendar years from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018. Missing data did not occur at the chosen sites.

We did not explicitly measure data regarding snow cover but calculated snow cover from the daily shoot zone temperature amplitude and validated those calculations using radiation sensor measurements. We assumed that a daily amplitude of less than 5 % of the maximum amplitude reached throughout the year indicated that a layer of snow restricted daily air temperature fluctuations at the measured height of 15 cm. The respective periods were therefore defined as snow-covered. However, because of the chosen positions on wind-blown ridges, most of our monitored sites did not experience long periods of snow cover. Nonetheless, snow and its presumed effects, such as mitigating extreme negative temperatures by acting as an isolating barrier and, hence, reducing the effects of frost (Körner, 2021; Bienau et al., 2014), might play a role in influencing the growth response and were therefore included in our analysis.

For further analysis and to assess inter-annual variability, we calculated a set of 25 annual parameters from the collected raw data (Table 1), defining the near-ground environmental conditions experienced by each specimen for each year, based on the expected effects on different growth mechanisms.

2.5 Statistical analysis of climate–growth relations and potential drivers of radial stem change

To analyze the effect of the on-site environmental conditions on the observed growth patterns and to identify the most important environmental drivers controlling these patterns across sites, we utilized linear mixed-effect models, alongside correlation analyses. All statistical analyses were carried out in R (R Development Core Team, 2020), and site-specific values of the previously defined growth-defining and environmental parameters for each sampled specimen and year were entered into each analysis to overcome common misconceptions regarding the averaging of environmental data (cf. Körner and Hiltbrunner, 2018; Löffler and Pape, 2020).

First, we were interested in how the timing and duration of the growing season are linked to total realized growth and the observed shrinking phase during the winter months. Therefore, we tested relations among our previously defined parameters (cf. Sect. 2.3) by modeling total annual growth and peak shrinking (dependent variables) from growth initiation, cessation, and peak growth (independent variables), using linear mixed-effect models with the study sites included as a random effect to account for inter-site variability (Table 2).

Having thus identified the role of these parameters in determining overall growth, we then analyzed the environment–growth relationship by modeling the parameters (total annual growth, peak shrinking, growth initiation, peak growth, and growth cessation) from the potential microenvironmental drivers presented in Table 1, similarly using linear mixed-effect models with the study sites included as a random effect. Since we observed a prominent period of radial stem shrinking during the winter months, we additionally included two parameters defining the timing of this period here (start of the shrinking period and day of year (DOY) on which peak shrinking occurred).

In addition to these inter-annual assessments of growth patterns and environmental controls, we subsequently analyzed the fine-scale, intra-annual seasonality in stem diameter variability to gain insight into seasonal response patterns of stem shrinking and swelling to local environmental surroundings. We performed a moving-window correlation, correlating daily rates of stem diameter variability (compared to the previous day) with measured daily environmental values for each of our four environmental parameters (i.e., T_{RZ} , T_{SZ} , GR_{SZ}, and SM_{RZ}). Coefficients are calculated over lagged time windows of 3 and 30 d, after testing window widths of up to 6 months. Overall, window width showed surprisingly little effect on the results.

3 Results

3.1 Intra-annual stem diameter variability and growth patterns

In general, the seasonal variability in stem diameter was well explained by non-linear, sigmoid regressions (Gompertz curves) with a GoF between 0.90 and 0.94 (Fig. 1), and all specimens experienced distinct growing seasons starting in May or June, with little variation between the two study regions (Fig. A4). Moreover, our data revealed a distinct phase of radial stem shrinking following the growing phase towards the end of the year, starting in October, with remarkably little variation in timing between years (on average starting between the 287th and the 311th Julian day). In most cases, the stem radius remained below the previously achieved maximum for the entire winter and started to increase again with the following year's growing season (Fig. 1). The start of this shrinking period was significantly linked to the day when peak growth occurred (R = 0.50; p = 0.004), as well as to growth initiation (R = 0.40; p = 0.023) and cessation (R = 0.52; p = 0.0023).

The observed total annual growth ranged from 11 µm in 2017 to 65 µm in 2016, on average (Table 3), with high variation between specimens and sites. Some specimens (31 % of the dendrometer curves) experienced zero growth in one or more years, and these dormant years were linked to comparatively long periods of snow cover during the previous winter, with a highly negative correlation between stem diameter change and the number of snow-free days (R = -0.60; p = 0.024; Fig. A5) during these years. Interestingly, patterns of stem diameter variability and timing of the growing season were similar in the two studied regions (Fig. A4). Furthermore, while our data showed slight differences in total annual growth between the two regions (Fig. A6), there were no clear overall patterns in our data related to the elevational gradient or study regions, beyond the high inter-specimen variability observed in the whole dataset (Fig. A2c). Our chosen growth parameters – growth initiation, peak growth, and growth cessation - together explained 88 % of the variance in total annual growth, with peak growth (the maximum daily growth rate) having by far the greatest influence, indicating

Parameter	2015	2016	2017	2018
Shoot zone temperature (T_{SZ})				
Day when maximum T_{SZ} is reached [DOY]	183 (0.1)	203 (0.14)	203 (0.01)	208 (0)
First day on which $T_{SZ} > 0 \circ C$ [DOY]	100 (0.37)	74 (0.47)	25 (0.80)	104 (0.02)
Annual T_{SZ} sum [°C]	37.28 (11.65)	47.96 (7.91)	16.21 (28.54)	199.96 (1.78)
T_{SZ} sum at growth initiation [°C]	-291.87 (0.74)	-421.91 (1.95)	-189.45 (1.86)	-384.76 (2.13)
Number of days with $T_{SZ} > 0 \degree C$ (growing degree days, GDD0) [days]	175 (0.14)	169 (0.09)	165 (0.11)	173 (0.11)
Number of days with $T_{SZ} > 5 ^{\circ}C$ (growing degree days, GDD5) [days]	82 (0.23)	117 (0.12)	100 (0.24)	121 (0.11)
Number of days with $T_{SZ} > 10 ^{\circ}\text{C}$ (growing degree days, GDD10) [days]	21 (0.37)	32 (0.44)	12 (0.65)	57 (0.19)
Root zone temperature $(T_{\rm RZ})$				
Day when maximum T_{RZ} is reached [DOY]	186 (0)	206 (0)	204 (0)	197 (0.03)
First day on which $T_{RZ} > 1 ^{\circ}C$ [DOY]	146 (0.09)	140 (0.04)	139 (0.04)	127 (0.03)
Annual T_{RZ} sum [°C]	358.52 (1.17)	351.23 (1.03)	339.15 (1.19)	477.58 (0.65)
$T_{\rm RZ}$ sum at growth initiation [°C]	-127.05 (2.93)	-326.05 (4.74)	-116.97 (2.25)	-303.43 (3.64)
Number of days with $T_{RZ} > 0$ °C (growing degree days, GDD0) [days]	182 (0.16)	170 (0.09)	176 (0.11)	196 (0.11)
Number of days with $T_{RZ} > 5 ^{\circ}C$ (growing degree days, GDD5) [days]	96 (0.21)	124 (0.06)	117 (0.17)	119 (0.08)
Number of days with $T_{RZ} > 10 ^{\circ}C$ (growing degree days, GDD10) [days]	7 (1.01)	14 (0.99)	10 (1.04)	57 (0.25)
Soil moisture (SM _{RZ})				
Day when maximum soil moisture is reached [DOY]	197 (0.37)	219 (0.36)	193 (0.36)	222 (0.43)
Day when minimum soil moisture is reached in autumn [DOY]	351 (0.32)	342 (0.03)	351 (0.02)	353 (0.03)
Annual soil moisture sum $[m^3 m^{-3}]$	54.65 (0.26)	52.78 (0.23)	55.52 (0.22)	54.51 (0.22)
First day on which soil moisture $> 0.15 \text{ m}^3 \text{ m}^{-3}$ [DOY]	135 (0.05)	128 (0.07)	126 (0.08)	110 (0.04)
Global radiation (GR _{SZ})				
Day when maximum global radiation is reached [DOY]	171 (0.09)	156 (0.02)	181 (0.06)	177 (0.1)
First day when global radiation $> 50 \text{ W m}^{-2}$ [DOY]	74 (0.38)	75 (0.31)	85 (0.27)	76 (0.27)
Annual global radiation sum $[W m^{-2}]$	26 686.66 (0.18)	27 742.87 (0.14)	25 863.3 (0.21)	31 229 (0.15)
Global radiation sum at growth initiation [W m ⁻²]	16 342.47 (0.22)	15 435.76 (0.32)	16 197.58 (0.38)	15 928.75 (0.55)
Snow				
Number of snow-free days [days]	361 (0.05)	361 (0.23)	358 (0.22)	356 (0.05)
First autumn frost ($T_{\text{RZ}} < 0 ^{\circ}\text{C}$) [DOY]	320 (0.04)	296 (0.03)	310 (0.05)	301 (0.05)

Table 1. Summary of calculated environmental parameters (means) for each year. Numbers in parentheses represent inter-site variability (coefficient of variation, CV).

Table 2. Results of linear mixed-effect modeling of total annual growth (measured cumulative stem diameter increment in comparison to the previous year's maximum stem diameter) and annual peak shrinking (maximum stem water deficit), modeled from growth parameters (growth initiation, growth cessation, and peak growth). Sites (including study region and elevation) entered into the models as random effects. R^2 for the models was calculated using the r.squaredGLMM function from the MuMIn package (Barton, 2020).

Dependent variable	Independent variable (fixed effect)	Estimate	Standard error	T statistic	p value
Total annual growth	Growth initiation	-0.285	0.177	-1.615	0.117
	Growth cessation	0.383	0.161	2.377	0.025^{*}
	Peak growth	25.103	2.02	12.433	< 0.001***
Model R^2 (conditional)	0.876				
Partial R^2 (marginal)	0.83				
Annual peak shrinking	Growth initiation	0.071	0.23	0.307	0.761
	Growth cessation	0.040	0.252	0.157	0.877
	Peak growth	0.540	0.119	4.518	< 0.001***
Model R^2 (conditional)	0.745				
Partial R^2 (marginal)	0.309				

Asterisks indicate the significance based on the p value: * is significant (p value < 0.1); *** is strongly significant (p value < 0.01).



Figure 1. Observed and modeled variability in stem diameter. (a) Growing seasons derived from fitted Gompertz models and timing of peak shrinking defined as the maximum stem water deficit (triangles). (b) Averaged measured daily stem diameter variability and fitted Gompertz models (a goodness-of-fit (GoF) measure was calculated using the least-squares method). Models were fitted to zero growth curves derived from the original measurements as cumulative maxima (thin lines), assuming zero growth during phases of prolonged stem shrinkage. In this way, annual growth and, consequently, growth start are directly linked to growth during the previous year, and additional rehydrating processes before the start of the main growing season are excluded. Shaded areas indicate standard deviation, showing the variability among the specimens. (c) Daily growth rates derived from Gompertz models. (d) Stem water deficit defined as reversible radial stem variability at times when no growth-induced irreversible stem expansion was measured. Black bars indicate meteorological seasons, while dashed lines show timing of the respective growing seasons to aid visual interpretation.

Year	2015	2016	2017	2018
Stem diameter change (measured variation between start and end	31.74 (1.4)	63.86 (0.63)	11.35 (6.35)	19.91 (1.93)
of the year) [µm]				
Stem radial growth (growth-induced, irreversible stem increment compared	31.81 (1.17)	64.66 (1.06)	11.38 (2.01)	17.45 (1.38)
to the previous year) [µm]				
Stem radial shrinking (stem shrinking during the winter months, after the	34.52 (0.83)	28.19 (0.9)	39.16 (0.81)	41.62 (0.79)
end of the main growing season) [µm]				
Day peak shrinking occurs [DOY]	362 (0.18)	363 (0.06)	349 (0.23)	356 (0.3)
Day shrinking starts [DOY]	311 (0.49)	306 (0.2)	289 (0.14)	287 (0.18)
Growth initiation [DOY]	198 (0.3)	174 (0.33)	193 (0.28)	167 (0.38)
Growth cessation [DOY]	267 (0.22)	292 (0.26)	235 (0.17)	222 (0.26)
Growth duration [days]	69 (0.84)	118 (0.73)	42 (1.69)	55 (0.88)
Peak growth (maximum daily growth rate) [µm]	0.48 (1.39)	0.55 (1.34)	0.29 (2.25)	0.35 (1.95)
Day peak growth occurs [DOY]	215 (0.21)	204 (0.28)	205 (0.13)	182 (0.23)
Mean daily growth [µm]	0.11 (1.19)	0.22 (1.26)	0.05 (2)	0.08 (1.38)

that the overall duration of the growth phase was less important for overall growth than the daily growth rate. For stem contraction (shrinking), the same parameters explained 75 % of the variance (Table 2 and Fig. A7), suggesting that the observed winter shrinking in *E. hermaphroditum* might be linked to growth during the growing season.

3.2 On-site environmental conditions

The different near-surface regimes of T_{RZ} , T_{SZ} , SM_{RZ} , and GR_{SZ} at our monitored sites are illustrated in Fig. 2. Averaged values for all sites (N = 12) are summarized in Table 4. In all four monitored years, our sampled specimens experienced the highest temperatures during summer and, due to the exposed, wind-blown nature of the studied sites, only short periods of shallow snow cover during winter (Fig. 3). The period in which our specimens were snow-covered varied considerably between the monitored winters and between sites. The winter of 2015/16 had comparatively little snow, whereas 2017/18 was snow-covered for the longest period. In 2018, the highest mean temperatures were expressed because of exceptionally high summer temperatures (number of days with $T_{SZ} > 10 \,^{\circ}\text{C} - \text{i.e.}$, GDD10 – is 57), whereas 2015 and 2017 both experienced shorter periods of high temperatures. Temperatures varied slightly among sites (Table 4 and Fig. A2), with a noticeable but not linear temperature decline with elevation. As expected, the shoot and root zone temperature curves were well coupled. Additionally, we detected slight variability between the two studied regions but overall similar seasonal temperature patterns on the measured microscale (Figs. 3 and A1), which differs from the regional climate signal. Global radiation showed similar patterns at all sites as well, following the course of the astronomic sun angle, with a mid-summer maximum; however, there were large variations according to cloud coverage. As such, 2018 experienced a short period of temperature and radiation decrease during summer (Fig. 2).

3.3 Environmental controls of stem diameter variability

We investigated how the specific on-site environmental conditions were linked to the parameters described above. Moving-window correlations revealed a high seasonal variation in the relation of stem diameter variability and environmental conditions, with additional high variation across years. Overall, on-site environmental conditions had comparatively strong explanatory power during spring, when many of the specimens started stem increment. This spring stem increment was positively linked to radiation during cold spring conditions in 2015 and 2017 and showed no clear relation to spring temperatures (Figs. 2 and 4).

The linear mixed models (Fig. 5) confirmed the lack of uniformity, indicating that a multitude of environmental drivers influenced growth, albeit to a very low degree and with high inter-annual variation. During 2016, the year with the highest radial stem growth, we also measured the highest number of days with soil temperatures above 5 °C, with temperatures rising quickly and steadily to 5 °C without reaching continuously higher values during the summer (Fig. 2). This indicates that optimum growth conditions lie within a soil temperature span of 5 to 10 °C. At the same time, maximum soil moisture had a strong positive influence on total annual growth, and growth was also linked to the timing of soil moisture rise in spring, resulting from thawing soils. Overall, our results indicate a strong influence of soil moisture on growth processes, with especially winter stem diameter variability closely linked to soil moisture availability and singular thawing events (Fig. A8). Growth initiation, on the other hand, was closely linked to radiation and winter temperatures. Here, our results show no clear influence of ris-



Figure 2. Micro-environmental data. Daily mean values of shoot and root zone temperatures (**b**), soil moisture (**c**), and global radiation (**d**). Measurements were taken at each site individually but were averaged here over all sites for visualization. Shaded areas indicate standard deviations. Bars (**a**) show time spans for certain environmental conditions, with narrow bars marking the time at which the given condition was present at one or more (but not all) of the monitored sites, whereas broad bars mark the time for which the given condition was detected at all sites.

Table 4. Summary of collected environmental data: annual mean, minimum, and maximum values as well as mean values for each meteorological season. Numbers in parentheses represent site variability (coefficient of variation, CV).

Environmental parameter	Year	Mean	Min	Max	Mean spring	Mean summer	Mean autumn	Mean winter
Shoot zone temperature [°C]	2015 2016 2017 2018	0.10 (11.65) 0.13 (7.91) 0.04 (28.54) 0.55 (1.78)	-13.66 (0.16) -19.53 (0.12) -15.70 (0.08) -19.373 (0.19)	21.24 (0.09) 21.10 (0.07) 21.97 (0.06) 25.156 (0.06)	-2.44 (0.49) -1.39 (0.83) -1.68 (0.73) -1.071 (0.89)	6.95 (0.18) 8.40 (0.14) 7.28 (0.16) 10.029 (0.11)	1.29 (0.99) 0.30 (3.46) -0.07 (11.84) 0.214 (5.14)	$\begin{array}{r} -5.50\ (0.27)\\ -6.86\ (0.17)\\ -5.48\ (0.30)\\ -7.782\ (0.25)\end{array}$
Root zone temperature [°C]	2015 2016 2017 2018	0.98 (1.17) 0.96 (1.03) 0.93 (1.2) 1.31 (0.65)	-7.01 (0.24) -13.16 (0.15) -9.76 (0.17) -11.03 (0.19)	14.27 (0.08) 14.37 (0.1) 13.57 (0.11) 16.79 (0.1)	$\begin{array}{c} -1.80 \ (0.59) \\ -1.48 \ (0.72) \\ -1.67 \ (0.57) \\ -1.76 \ (0.49) \end{array}$	7.04 (0.19) 8.76 (0.13) 7.71 (0.14) 10.45 (0.11)	2.48 (0.44) 2.03 (0.41) 1.87 (0.59) 1.67 (0.47)	-3.88 (0.33) -5.52 (0.22) -4.30 (0.4) -5.27 (0.31)
Soil moisture [m ³ m ⁻³]	2015 2016 2017 2018	0.15 (0.26) 0.14 (0.23) 0.15 (0.22) 0.15 (0.22)	0.05 (0.56) 0.06 (0.44) 0.05 (0.45) 0.05 (0.45)	0.28 (0.19) 0.27 (0.16) 0.27 (0.12) 0.312 (0.1)	0.09 (0.37) 0.12 (0.23) 0.10 (0.21) 0.13 (0.22)	0.23 (0.16) 0.23 (0.15) 0.24 (0.13) 0.21 (0.18)	0.15 (0.25) 0.12 (0.29) 0.14 (0.28) 0.14 (0.26)	0.06 (0.73) 0.06 (0.047) 0.07 (0.68) 0.06 (0.49)
Global radiation [W m ⁻²]	2015 2016 2017 2018	73.11 (0.18) 75.80 (0.14) 70.86 (0.21) 85.57 (0.15)	0 0 0 0	809.34 (0.54) 823.93 (0.34) 791.81 (0.55) 846.38 (0.23)	74.38 (0.09) 93.94 (0.12) 78.45 (0.11) 117.15 (0.13)	169.70 (4.32) 165.04 (5.49) 166.59 (5.38) 190.84 (7.12)	41.82 (0.15) 39.51 (0.24) 32.27 (0.14) 28.59 (0.23)	4.72 (0.81) 3.53 (0.77) 4.26 (0.76) 3.25 (0.85)



Figure 3. Mean monthly shoot (a) and root (b) zone temperatures from 2015 to 2018, for visualization purposes averaged (i) over the measured sites per study region and (ii) over all measured sites.

ing spring temperatures, and, counterintuitively, high winter temperatures led to a delayed growth start (Fig. 5).

4 Discussion

In this study, we demonstrated that our focal species Empetrum hermaphroditum displayed distinct annual patterns of stem diameter variability in response to near-ground environmental drivers and in close accordance with distinct conditions caused by the local topographical characteristics of the studied wind-blown ridge positions. Previous dendroecological studies of shrub growth have commonly used macroclimatic data, such as free atmospheric air temperature, in combination with ring width measurements (e.g., Bär et al., 2007, 2008; Hollesen et al., 2015; Weijers et al., 2018a). While a direct comparison of annual growth derived from our dendrometer measurements and such ring width measurements at the studied sites revealed high synchrony (Fig. A9), dendrometer measurements have the potential to reveal much deeper insights into complex functional aspects of stem diameter variability and, in combination with on-site environmental data, might help in rethinking climate-growth relations. For example, while a phase of winter stem shrinking has been described in trees (Winget and Kozlowski, 1964; Zweifel and Häsler, 2000), the distinct and strongly pronounced phase found in our sampled specimens might be described as a unique feature of shrub growth, which we documented for the first time in this study. The reason why this phase has not been described earlier might be attributable to the methods used in the past to measure stem change in shrubs, which were insufficient to document intra-annual variability at the appropriate timescale. High-precision dendrometers can reveal these patterns in stem diameter variability, demonstrating the large amount of additional information gained from this method compared to traditional measuring methods (Knüsel et al., 2021). For our focal species *Empetrum hermaphroditum*, dendrometer measurements yielded several novel insights into phenology and growth physiology.

At the same time, common challenges of dendrometer use, including the separation of reversible (water-related) and irreversible (growth-related) stem increment, which have been widely discussed for trees (Zweifel, 2016; Cruz-García et al., 2019; Knüsel et al., 2021) proved similarly complex for our data. Here, the observed strong contraction and expansion patterns of the stems, most likely controlled by stem water variability within the plant, linked to the extreme thawing



Window width [days] --- 3 --- 30

Figure 4. Moving Pearson's correlation coefficients for daily rates of radial stem diameter variability against measured daily values of on-site environmental parameters (T_{SZ} , T_{RZ} , SM_{RZ} , GR_{SZ}). Results are shown for window widths of 3 (solid lines) and 30 (dashed lines) days. Non-significance (p > 0.05) is indicated by transparency, and black bars show meteorological seasons. All individual specimens are entered into the analysis separately.



Figure 5. Fixed effects and associated confidence intervals from linear mixed-effect models, modeling key parameters of stem change (dependent variables) from key environmental parameters characterizing on-site environmental conditions (for years with a total annual growth > 0). The environmental parameters are presented in Table 1, while the dependent variables included (i) total annual growth, defined as irreversible stem increment in comparison to the previous year; (ii) total annual shrinking, defined as stem shrinking during the winter months, after the end of the growing season; (iii) timing of the main growing season (start and end); (iv) peak growth, defined as the maximum daily growth rate; and (v) timing of the winter shrinking phase, including the start of stem shrinking (usually co-occurring with the maximum annual stem diameter) and peak shrinking, or the day when the minimum winter stem diameter is reached. All dates were given as day of the year (DOY). Only those environmental parameters which were significantly linked to at least one growth parameter are included in the plot. Nontransparent colors indicate significance.

and freezing processes prominent at our study sites, provided an additional challenge. To fully explore these processes and possible links to transpiration dynamics and carbon fluxes, on-site measurements of the vapor pressure deficit, as a measure of atmospheric water demand, might yield additional insights (Novick et al., 2016; Peters et al., 2021; Zweifel et al., 2021). Furthermore, our study showed high inter-plant and inter-site variation in total annual growth, which has been previously described in E. hermaphroditum (Bär et al., 2008) and could be a result of internal growth variation within the multi-stemmed plant itself, which has not yet been fully explored (Bär et al., 2007). Overall, further studies are necessary to fully explore how dendrometer measurements compare to traditional measurement methods and which methodical adjustments are necessary for the extraction of physiologically meaningful data. Still, the comparative data presented in Fig. A9 clearly show that both types of measure-

ment have the potential to reveal important physiological aspects of stem diameter variability and growth.

4.1 Radial stem growth variation

In general, we found total annual growth to be largely determined by peak growth. Thus, we cannot confirm a clear relation of the growing-season length and overall growth (Rammig et al., 2010; Blok et al., 2011; Prislan et al., 2019). The predominant role of peak growth in controlling total growth suggested that the shrubs were usually able to invest in new cells following the rise in water availability caused by thawing conditions in spring, most likely affected by prior carbohydrate storage. At the same time, an early growth start after favorable winter conditions may not be efficient in terms of total growth if conditions in early summer prevent the survival of the formed cells. For most snow-free ridges, bud-

1944

S. Dobbert et al.: The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs

burst and flowering are not influenced by snowmelt and can therefore occur early on, causing high vulnerability to late frost events (Weijers et al., 2018b). This is in accordance with the findings of Choler (2018) and Weijers et al. (2018a), who suggested a strong influence of subzero temperatures in spring, counteracting improved conditions during summer, which would lead to the observed decoupling of the growingseason length from total realized growth. In our data, we found strong evidence of this relation in inter-annual comparison, with low growth rates in 2018 despite favorable summer conditions after an early growth start followed by a short cold snap and ground frost. Additionally, for some specimens we found total annual growth to be limited by long periods of snow cover during the previous winter, which might prevent E. hermaphroditum from photosynthetic activity and resource accumulation and thus may limit a crucial precondition of growth success. In accordance with Buchwal et al. (2013), we assumed that during years of no apparent radial growth, dwarf shrubs might prioritize growth in the more protected and long-living belowground segments, instead of investing in the more vulnerable shoots. This ability to reduce cambial activity to a minimum and cease aboveground wood formation is a trait common among woody plants (Wilmking et al., 2012).

4.2 Environmental controls of shrub growth

E. hermaphroditum at the monitored ridge positions is faced with unique near-ground environmental conditions, which are a feature of the heterogeneous topography that characterizes alpine terrain (Scherrer and Körner, 2011). These conditions are caused by the exposed, wind-blown nature of the ridges and thus are distinctly different from the immediate surroundings and to some extent decoupled from the regional climate signal. They include high exposure to global radiation and very little, temporary snow cover during the winter months, associated with very low temperatures (Wundram et al., 2010). In general, the effects of winter snow cover on shrub growth are a critical topic in arctic and alpine ecology, with findings ranging from positive (Blok et al., 2015; Addis and Bret-Harte, 2019) to negative (Schmidt et al., 2010) growth responses, depending on the snow depth and vegetation type.

Our results highlight the importance of the unique winter conditions for early growth, indicating that for our sampled evergreen species, the degree to which photosynthetic activity was effective in synthesizing carbohydrates during the winter months was especially important. During this time, extreme temperatures prevent cell production and differentiation, resulting in a carbon overflow (Körner, 2015; Saccone et al., 2017), which gives *E. hermaphroditum* the ability to start growth activity as soon as liquid water is available in the root zone (Starr and Oberbauer, 2003). In general, carbon assimilation may be greater or lower than the demand for plant functions, resulting in periods of carbon surplus and deficit, respectively (e.g., Martínez-Vilalta et al., 2016). Though there is never a critical depletion of carbohydrates in alpine plants, resources at or shortly after snowmelt and thus at the onset of the growing season are still diminished due to respiratory consumption during winter (Körner, 2021). Any surplus of carbohydrates gained by photosynthetic activity in late winter and spring is, therefore, likely to be beneficial for growth throughout the growing period. Such continued photosynthetic activity was found in E. hermaphroditum, as well as several other evergreen shrub species before (e.g., Gimeno et al., 2012; Bienau et al., 2014; Wyka and Oleksyn, 2014; Blok et al., 2015), and photosynthetic activity of high-latitude vascular plants and shrubs has previously been observed under extreme thermal conditions (Semikhatova et al., 1992; Lundell et al., 2008). Accordingly, we concluded that growth initiation might be driven by the constantly increasing radiation with the astronomic rise of the angle of the sun. At that time of the year, energy transfer from global radiation into thermal heat was low, but radiation was high enough for photosynthetic activity, which might explain the decoupling of thermal and radiation drivers of growth initiation. Under snow-free conditions, it is likely that, in our study design, global radiation is directly linked to soil thawing close to the soil surface, which was previously linked to growth onset (Descals et al., 2020). Furthermore, we found growth initiation in E. hermaphroditum to be positively linked to winter temperatures, indicating that low winter temperatures were correlated with an early start of the growing season, in contrast to common assumptions relating high temperatures during late winter to an early growth start (Dolezal et al., 2020). This highlights the influence of high radiation on energy storage during periods of absent snow cover, which are usually accompanied by low temperatures, whereas mild winters are often associated with cloudy, humid weather and snow cover on the ridges.

Photosynthetic activity during winter, however, forced by the exposure of the plant to high incoming solar radiation (Saccone et al., 2017), causes continued water transport under extreme temperatures, increasing the risk of cavitation (Tyree and Sperry, 1989; Venn and Green, 2018) while long and severe ground frosts might limit access to soil moisture and frost-triggered droughts might thus result in tissue damage caused by an internal water deficit (Mayr et al., 2006). Yet, E. hermaphroditum at our studied sites proved mostly frost-hardy, drought-tolerant, and highly adapted to these conditions (Carlquist, 1989; Hacke et al., 2001). In this context, we assume that E. hermaphroditum uses cell dehydration to actively protect living cells from the consequences of freezing (e.g., ice nucleation), causing the radial stem contraction during phases of extreme subzero temperatures evident in our data. In trees, radial stem shrinkage has been related to sap flow and tree water content (Winget and Kozlowski, 1964; Zweifel and Häsler, 2000; Zweifel et al., 2006; Tian et al., 2019). When temperatures sink below approximately -5 °C, extra-cellular water begins to freeze, inducing the osmotic withdrawal of intra-cellular water and thus cell and ultimately stem shrinkage (Zweifel et al., 2000; King et al., 2013). As such, stem shrinkage could be interpreted as a result of freezing processes causing living cell shrinkage because of water losses, as well as a strategy to avoid frost damage, especially where the protective effects of snow cover are missing (Kuprian et al., 2014; Neuner, 2014; Charra-Vaskou et al., 2016).

Furthermore, our findings confirmed commonly assumed positive effects of temperatures on radial stem growth in E. hermaphroditum to some extent (Shaver and Chapin, 1986; Shevtsova et al., 1997; Hollesen et al., 2015; Ackerman et al., 2017; Bråthen et al., 2018), with optimum growth conditions within a soil temperature span of 5 to 10 °C, which is in accordance with previously reported temperature thresholds for alpine plant distribution (Körner and Paulsen, 2004; Rossi et al., 2008; Steppe et al., 2015). On the other hand, our analysis indicated no direct relationship between total growth and near-surface temperatures, and a clear link between nearsurface thermal conditions and stem diameter variability was lacking, suggesting more complex relations, probably influenced by the evident temperature extremes at our chosen sites, as well as complex interconnections with soil water availability (Körner and Hiltbrunner, 2018). A critical temperature threshold, as present in many trees (Rossi et al., 2007, 2008; Deslauriers et al., 2008) and found for xylem growth of alpine rhododendron shrubs (Li et al., 2016), could not be determined for *E. hermaphroditum*. In trees, the timing of the maximum growth and growth cessation in cold environments has been linked to day length (Heide, 1985; Rossi et al., 2006; Duchesne et al., 2012). This cannot be confirmed for our monitored shrubs because of the high variability observed between specimens. Therefore, timing of these critical parameters is most likely controlled by different factors in shrubs than those assumed for trees. Here, our results highlight soil moisture availability as the main driver for the end of the growing season. This accounts for the species dependency on a damp climate and high rainfall (Bell and Tallis, 1973).

Overall, we conclude that surviving during extreme winters was the main principle governing *E. hermaphroditum* growth when existing at alpine ridge positions, causing unique adaptations to local micro-site conditions. Additionally, our results highlight the overall importance of the root zone soil moisture as the key driver of growth in *E. hermaphroditum*.

4.3 Potential response to environmental change

The fine-scale data provided by dendrometer measurements proved highly important, since they allowed for a detailed growth analysis, revealing a growth mechanism that is highly adapted to the local micro-environmental conditions at our studied exposed ridge positions. The ability of continuing photosynthetic activity throughout the year and thus of aggregating resources for use in early cell formation, as observed in other evergreen plants (Wyka and Oleksyn, 2014), might provide a competitive advantage of the evergreen species over deciduous species in the same habitat, limiting the risk of losing resources through competition. However, it is most likely a unique feature of the snow-free ridge positions and thus not present at other micro-topographic positions, where the energy budget and water balance are strongly altered (Dahl, 1956; Fritts, 1976; Löffler et al., 2006; Pape et al., 2009).

To sustain the continued metabolism throughout the year, we found that the overall growth mechanism of E. hermaphroditum was mainly defined by moisture, as well as solar radiation. Hence, temperatures mainly played a role in freezing and thawing processes, on an intra-annual scale. We can thus confirm that while there is a link between shrub growth and warming conditions, it is most likely not uniform and highly variable over spatial and temporal scales (Elmendorf et al., 2012). The high local adaptation explains the wide distribution and competitive ability of the species at these sites (Bienau et al., 2014, 2016; Löffler and Pape, 2020) and highlights the prominent role of on-site near-ground environmental conditions in controlling growth processes (Zellweger et al., 2020). In a changing climatic regime, this dependency on specific winter radiation conditions and soil moisture availability might become a disadvantage, complicating the adaptation to warming winters and longer snowcovered periods, coupled with prolonged dry periods during summer (Hollesen et al., 2015; Weijers et al., 2018a), which might cause early growth cessation. Thus, we conclude that changing winter conditions and altered snow regimes represent one of the most serious threats to evergreen shrub growth in tundra ecosystems and E. hermaphroditum will not be able to persist at exposed positions in a changing climate or respond with longer periods of dormancy to warming conditions. This will potentially promote the spread of competing deciduous species and thus contribute to the arctic-alpine greening trend.

Appendix A



Figure A1. Radial micro-slide of a stem from *Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum* (1:1000 magnification). The outermost layers of the papery outer bark, which repeat the successive pattern of the shown periderm, were lost while cutting. In our dendrometer approach, we removed the outer layers of the bark, most likely down to the phellogen. As shown here, the loose bark structure allows removal without severe damage of the inner tissue. We aimed at mounting our dendrometer sensor as close to the still protected cambial zone to obtain data on physiologically active stem diameter variability such as growth, excluding swelling and shrinking of the passive outer bark tissue.



Figure A2. Summary of canopy height at the 12 studied sites by major vegetation type (**a**). Trees are not included because there were no trees present. Panel (**b**) shows micro-environmental conditions averaged over the studied period, as well as minima and maxima for temperatures measured within the shoot and root zones and for soil moisture in the root zone. Panel (**c**) summarizes the total stem diameter change as well as stem diameter at the start and end of the studied period (2015–2018).



Figure A3. Dendrometer setup (a), the studied species *E. hermaphroditum* in the studied region in central Norway (b), and the species fruits and leaves (c).



Figure A4. Observed stem diameter change averaged over the monitored specimens within each of the two study regions (Vågåmo, Innlandet, region (east, N = 6) and Geiranger, Møre og Romsdal, region (west, N = 6)). Transparency indicates standard deviation.



Figure A5. Number of snow-free days and annual stem diameter change in years in which no irreversible growth occurred (total annual growth = 0). Colors indicate the monitored specimens at the individual sites (E denotes east; W denotes west; numbers indicate elevation, m a.s.l.).



Figure A6. Boxplots of observed annual growth within each of the two study regions (Vågåmo, Innlandet, region (east, N = 6) and Geiranger, Møre og Romsdal, region (west, N = 6)).



Figure A7. Observed annual growth and annual growth predicted by a linear regression model including timing (growth initiation and growth cessation), as well as peak growth as independent variables. Colors indicate the monitored specimens at the individual sites (E denotes east; W denotes west; numbers indicate elevation, m a.s.l.).

S. Dobbert et al.: The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs



Figure A8. Raw data for one exemplary specimen from the Vågåmo, Innlandet, region at 1500 m a.s.l. Here, we present hourly data of stem diameter variability and the respective micro-environmental conditions. The four sections show important phases of the annual stem diameter variability and their relation to the micro-environment in detail. Coupling of soil moisture and stem diameter during the winter and spring months, when water-induced stem swelling and shrinking occur and decoupling during the main growing phase is clearly evident. Additionally, the direct response of the stem diameter to singular soil thawing events in winter is clearly visible in the curves.

1951

S. Dobbert et al.: The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs



(a) Ring width index and dendrometer data



Figure A9. Comparison of annual growth measured using dendrometers (see "Material and methods") and ring width derived by measuring annual growth rings of 12 specimens from similar positions on exposed ridges, presented here as the ring width index (RWI). Ring width was measured from multiple micro-slices per specimen (following Bär et al., 2006; **a**). Panel (**b**) shows free atmospheric air temperatures measured at 2 m above ground in both study regions. Such temperature data are commonly used for comparison of climate–growth relationships in dendroecological studies. With this figure we aimed to reproduce previous studies (Bär et al., 2006, 2007) for comparison with our dendrometer measurements.

Data availability. All underlying data pertinent to the results presented in this publication are publicly available in a data publication in ERDKUNDE – Archive for Scientific Geography (https://www.erdkunde.uni-bonn.de, last access: 8 March 2022; https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2021.dp.01, Löffler et al., 2021).

Author contributions. JL had the idea, designed the research platform, conducted the fieldwork, and together with RP ran the long-term project. SD analyzed the data, led the writing of the manuscript, and arranged the figures, with contributions from RP and JL.

Competing interests. The contact author has declared that neither they nor their co-authors have any competing interests.

Disclaimer. Publisher's note: Copernicus Publications remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Acknowledgements. The authors thank Eike Albrecht, Niklas Beckers, Elise Dierking, Nils Hein, Stef Weijers, and Dirk Wundram for collaboration within our LTAER project; Ole Øvsteng and Anders Svare for hospitality; and both the landowners and Norwegian authorities (Vågå and Stranda municipalities) for overall support. This work was supported by the Open Access Publication Fund of the University of Bonn.

Financial support. This research has been supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (grant nos. LO 830/16-1 and LO 830/32-1).

This open-access publication was funded by the University of Bonn.

Review statement. This paper was edited by Michael Bahn and reviewed by five anonymous referees.

References

- Aartsma, P., Asplund, J., Odland, A., Reinhardt, S., and Renssen, H.: Microclimatic comparison of lichen heaths and shrubs: shrubification generates atmospheric heating but subsurface cooling during the growing season, Biogeosciences, 18, 1577– 1599, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-18-1577-2021, 2021.
- Ackerman, D., Griffin, D., Hobbie, S. E., and Finlay, J. C.: Arctic shrub growth trajectories differ across soil moisture levels, Glob. Change Biol., 23, 4294–4302, https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13677, 2017.
- Addis, C. E. and Bret-Harte, M. S.: The importance of secondary growth to plant responses to snow in the arctic, Funct. Ecol., 33, 1050–1066, https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13323, 2019.
- AMAP: Arctic Climate Change Update 2021: Key Trends and Impacts, Summary for Policy-makers, Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Tromsø, Norway, 1–16, https://oaarchive.arctic-council.org/handle/11374/2621 (last access: 8 March 2022), 2021.
- Aune, B. (Ed.): National atlas of Norway: climate, Norwegian Mapping Authority, Hønefoss, Norway, ISBN 829-0408-145, 978-8-2904-081-40, 1993.
- Bär, A., Bräuning, A., and Löffler, J.: Dendroecology of dwarf shrubs in the high mountains of Norway – A methodological approach, Dendrochronologia, 24, 17–27, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2006.05.001, 2006.
- Bär, A., Bräuning, A., and Löffler, J.: Ring-width chronologies of the alpine dwarf shrub *Empetrum hermaphroditum* from the Norwegian mountains, IAWA J., 28, 325–338, https://doi.org/10.1163/22941932-90001644, 2007.
- Bär, A., Pape, R., Bräuning, A., and Löffler, J.: Growth-ring variations of dwarf shrubs reflect regional climate signals in alpine environments rather than topoclimatic differences, J. Biogeogr.,
S. Dobbert et al.: The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs

35, 625–636, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2007.01804.x, 2008.

- Barton, K.: MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference, R package version 1.43.17, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn (last access: 8 March 2022), 2020.
- Bell, J. N. B. and Tallis, J. H.: *Empetrum nigrum L*, J. Ecol., 61, 289–305, https://doi.org/10.2307/2258934, 1973.
- Bienau, M. J., Hattermann, D., Kröncke, M., Kretz, L., Otte, A., Eiserhardt, W. L., Milbau, A., Graae, B. J., Durka, W., and Eckstein, R. L.: Snow cover consistently affects growth and reproduction of *Empetrum hermaphroditum* across latitudinal and local climatic gradients, Alp. Bot., 124, 115–129, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00035-014-0137-8, 2014.
- Bienau, M. J., Eckstein, R. L., Otte, A., and Durka, W.: Clonality increases with snow depth in the arctic dwarf shrub *Empetrum hermaphroditum*, Am. J. Bot., 103, 2105–2114, https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1600229, 2016.
- Blok, D., Sass-Klaassen, U., Schaepman-Strub, G., Heijmans, M. M. P. D., Sauren, P., and Berendse, F.: What are the main climate drivers for shrub growth in Northeastern Siberian tundra?, Biogeosciences, 8, 1169–1179, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-8-1169-2011, 2011.
- Blok, D., Weijers, S., Welker, J. M., Cooper, E. J., Michelsen, A., Löffler, J., and Elberling, B.: Deepened winter snow increases stem growth and alters stem δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N in evergreen dwarf shrub *Cassiope tetragona* in high-arctic Svalbard tundra, Environ. Res. Lett., 10, 44008, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/4/044008, 2015.
- Bråthen, K. A., Gonzalez, V. T., and Yoccoz, N. G.: Gatekeepers to the effects of climate warming? Niche construction restricts plant community changes along a temperature gradient, Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst., 30, 71–81, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.06.005, 2018.
- Breitsprecher, A. and Bethel, J. S.: Stem-growth periodicity of trees in a tropical wet forest of Costa Rica, Ecology, 71, 1156–1164, https://doi.org/10.2307/1937383, 1990.
- Brodie, J. F., Roland, C. A., Stehn, S. E., and Smirnova, E.: Variability in the expansion of trees and shrubs in boreal Alaska, Ecology, 100, e02660, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2660, 2019.
- Buchwal, A., Rachlewicz, G., Fonti, P., Cherubini, P., and Gärtner, H.: Temperature modulates intra-plant growth of *Salix polaris* from a high Arctic site (Svalbard), Polar Biol., 36, 1305–1318, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-013-1349-x, 2013.
- Cabon, A., Peters, R. L., Fonti, P., Martínez-Vilalta, J., and Cáceres, M.: Temperature and water potential co-limit stem cambial activity along a steep elevational gradient, New Phytol., 226, 1325– 1340, https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16456, 2020.
- Carlquist, S.: Wood and bark anatomy of empetraceae; comments on paedomorphosis in woods of certain small shrubs, Aliso, 12, 497–515, 1989.
- Carlson, B. Z., Corona, M. C., Dentant, C., Bonet, R., Thuiller, W., and Choler, P.: Observed long-term greening of alpine vegetation – a case study in the French Alps, Environ. Res. Lett., 12, 114006, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa84bd, 2017.
- Chan, T., Hölttä, T., Berninger, F., Mäkinen, H., Nöjd, P., Mencuccini, M., and Nikinmaa, E.: Separating water-potential induced swelling and shrinking from measured radial stem variations reveals a cambial growth and osmotic concentration signal, Plant

Cell Environ., 39, 233–244, https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12541, 2016.

- Chapin, F. S., Sturm, M., Serreze, M. C., McFadden, J. P., Key, J. R., Lloyd, A. H., McGuire, A. D., Rupp, T. S., Lynch, A. H., Schimel, J. P., Beringer, J., Chapman, W. L., Epstein, H. E., Euskirchen, E. S., Hinzman, L. D., Jia, G., Ping, C.-L., Tape, K. D., Thompson, C. D. C., Walker, D. A., and Welker, J. M.: Role of land-surface changes in arctic summer warming, Science, 310, 657–660, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1117368, 2005.
- Charra-Vaskou, K., Badel, E., Charrier, G., Ponomarenko, A., Bonhomme, M., Foucat, L., Mayr, S., and Améglio, T.: Cavitation and water fluxes driven by ice water potential in *Juglans regia* during freeze-thaw cycles, J. Exp. Bot., 67, 739–750, https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv486, 2016.
- Choler, P.: Winter soil temperature dependence of alpine plant distribution: Implications for anticipating vegetation changes under a warming climate, Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst., 30, 6–15, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.11.002, 2018.
- Cruz-García, R., Balzano, A., Čufar, K., Scharnweber, T., Smiljanić, M., and Wilmking, M.: Combining Dendrometer Series and Xylogenesis Imagery – DevX, a Simple Visualization Tool to Explore Plant Secondary Growth Phenology, Front. For. Glob. Change, 2, 60, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.674438, 2019.
- Cuny, H. E., Rathgeber, C. B. K., Frank, D., Fonti, P., Mäkinen, H., Prislan, P., Rossi, S., Del Castillo, E. M., Campelo, F., Vavrčík, H., Camarero, J. J., Bryukhanova, M. V., Jyske, T., Gričar, J., Gryc, V., Luis, M. d., Vieira, J., Čufar, K., Kirdyanov, A. V., Oberhuber, W., Treml, V., Huang, J.-G., Li, X., Swidrak, I., Deslauriers, A., Liang, E., Nöjd, P., Gruber, A., Nabais, C., Morin, H., Krause, C., King, G., and Fournier, M.: Woody biomass production lags stem-girth increase by over one month in coniferous forests, Nat. Plants, 1, 15160, https://doi.org/10.1038/nplants.2015.160, 2015.
- Dahl, E.: Rondane, mountain vegetation in south Norway and its relation to the environment, Skrifter utgitt av det Norske Videnskaps-Akademi i Oslo, Mathematisk-Naturvidenskapelig Klasse, 3, 1–374, 1956.
- Daubenmire, R. F.: An improved type of precision dendrometer, Ecology, 26, 97–98, 1945.
- De Schepper, V. and Steppe, K.: Development and verification of a water and sugar transport model using measured stem diameter variations, J. Exp. Bot., 61, 2083–2099, https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erq018, 2010.
- Descals, A., Verger, A., Filella, I., Baldocchi, D., Janssens, I. A., Fu, Y. H., Piao, S., Peaucelle, M., Ciais, P., and Peñuelas, J.: Soil thawing regulates the spring growth onset in tundra and alpine biomes, Sci. Total Environ., 742, 140637, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140637, 2020.
- Deslauriers, A., Rossi, S., and Anfodillo, T.: Dendrometer and intra-annual tree growth: What kind of information can be inferred?, Dendrochronologia, 25, 113–124, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2007.05.003, 2007.
- Deslauriers, A., Rossi, S., Anfodillo, T., and Saracino, A.: Cambial phenology, wood formation and temperature thresholds in two contrasting years at high altitude in southern Italy, Tree Physiol., 28, 863–871, https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/28.6.863, 2008.
- Dobbert, S., Pape, R., and Löffler, J.: Contrasting growth response of evergreen and deciduous arctic-alpine shrub

species to climate variability, Ecosphere, 12, e03688, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3688, 2021a.

- Dobbert, S., Pape, R., and Löffler, J.: How does spatial heterogeneity affect inter- and intraspecific growth patterns in tundra shrubs?, J. Ecol., 7, 4115–4131, https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13784, 2021b.
- Dolezal, J., Kurnotova, M., Stastna, P., and Klimesova, J.: Alpine plant growth and reproduction dynamics in a warmer world, New Phytol., 228, 1295–1305, https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16790, 2020.
- Drew, D. M. and Downes, G. M.: The use of precision dendrometers in research on daily stem size and wood property variation: A review, Dendrochronologia, 27, 159–172, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2009.06.008, 2009.
- Duchesne, L., Houle, D., and D'Orangeville, L.: Influence of climate on seasonal patterns of stem increment of balsam fir in a boreal forest of Québec, Canada, Agr. Forest Meteorol., 162– 163, 108–114, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.04.016, 2012.
- Elmendorf, S. C., Henry, G. H. R., Hollister, R. D., Björk, R. G., Boulanger-Lapointe, N., Cooper, E. J., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Day, T. A., Dorrepaal, E., Elumeeva, T. G., Gill, M., Gould, W. A., Harte, J., Hik, D. S., Hofgaard, A., Johnson, D. R., Johnstone, J. F., Jónsdóttir, I. S., Jorgenson, J. C., Klanderud, K., Klein, J. A., Koh, S., Kudo, G., Lara, M., Lévesque, E., Magnússon, B., May, J. L., Mercado-Díaz, J. A., Michelsen, A., Molau, U., Myers-Smith, I. H., Oberbauer, S. F., Onipchenko, V. G., Rixen, C., Martin Schmidt, N., Shaver, G. R., Spasojevic, M. J., Şórhallsdóttir, Ş. E., Tolvanen, A., Troxler, T., Tweedie, C. E., Villareal, S., Wahren, C.-H., Walker, X., Webber, P. J., Welker, J. M., and Wipf, S.: Plot-scale evidence of tundra vegetation change and links to recent summer warming, Nat. Clim. Change, 2, 453–457, https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1465, 2012.
- Fatichi, S., Pappas, C., Zscheischler, J., and Leuzinger, S.: Modelling carbon sources and sinks in terrestrial vegetation, New Phytol., 221, 652–668, https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15451, 2019.
- Fekedulegn, D., Mac Siurtain, M., and Colbert, J.: Parameter estimation of nonlinear growth models in forestry, Silva Fenn., 33, 653, https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.653, 1999.
- Francon, L., Corona, C., Till-Bottraud, I., Choler, P., Carlson, B. Z., Charrier, G., Améglio, T., Morin, S., Eckert, N., Roussel, E., Lopez-Saez, J., and Stoffel, M.: Assessing the effects of earlier snow melt-out on alpine shrub growth: The sooner the better?, Ecol. Indic., 115, 106455, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106455, 2020.
- Frindte, K., Pape, R., Werner, K., Löffler, J., and Knief, C.: Temperature and soil moisture control microbial community composition in an arctic-alpine ecosystem along elevational and micro-topographic gradients, ISME J., 13, 2031–2043, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0409-9, 2019.
- Fritts, H. (Ed.): Tree Rings and Climate, Elsevier Science, Oxford, 583 pp., ISBN 978-0-12268-450-0, 1976.
- Gall, R., Landolt, W., Schleppi, P., Michellod, V., and Bucher, J. B.: Water content and bark thickness of Norway spruce (Picea abies) stems: phloem water capacitance and xylem sap flow, Tree Physiol., 22, 613–623, https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/22.9.613, 2002.
- Gimeno, T. E., Camarero, J. J., Granda, E., Pías, B., and Valladares, F.: Enhanced growth of *Juniperus thurifera* un-

der a warmer climate is explained by a positive carbon gain under cold and drought, Tree Physiol., 32, 326–336, https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tps011, 2012.

- González-Rodríguez, Á. M., Brito, P., Lorenzo, J. R., Gruber, A., Oberhuber, W., and Wieser, G.: Seasonal cycles of sap flow and stem radius variation of *Spartocytisus supranubius* in the alpine zone of Tenerife, Canary Islands, Alpine Bot., 127, 97– 108, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00035-017-0189-7, 2017.
- Gough, L., Bass, H., and McLaren, J. R.: Effects of Increased Soil Nutrients on Seed Rain: A Role for Seed Dispersal in the Greening of the Arctic? Arct. Antarct Alp. Res., 47, 27–34, https://doi.org/10.1657/AAAR0014-055, 2015.
- Graae, B. J., Vandvik, V., Armbruster, W. S., Eiserhardt, W. L., Svenning, J.-C., Hylander, K., Ehrlén, J., Speed, J. D.M., Klanderud, K., Bråthen, K. A., Milbau, A., Opedal, Ø. H., Alsos, I. G., Ejrnæs, R., Bruun, H. H., Birks, H. J. B., Westergaard, K. B., Birks, H. H., and Lenoir, J.: Stay or go – how topographic complexity influences alpine plant population and community responses to climate change, Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst., 30, 41–50, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.09.008, 2018.
- Grams, T. E. E., Hesse, B. D., Gebhardt, T., Weikl, F., Rötzer, T., Kovacs, B., Hikino, K., Hafner, B. D., Brunn, M., Bauerle, T., Häberle K.-H., Pretzsch, H., and Pritsch, K.: The Kroof experiment: realization and efficacy of a recurrent drought experiment plus recovery in a beech/spruce forest, Ecosphere, 12, e03399, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3399, 2021.
- Hacke, U. G., Sperry, J. S., Pockman, W. T., Davis, S. D., and Mc-Culloh, K. A.: Trends in wood density and structure are linked to prevention of xylem implosion by negative pressure, Oecologia, 126, 457–461, https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420100628, 2001.
- Heide, O. M.: Physiological aspects of climatic adaptation in plants with special reference to high-latitude environments, in: Plant production in the North: Proceedings from Plant Adaptation Workshop, edited by: Kaurin, A., Junttila, O., and Nilsen J., Norwegian University Press, Tromsö, 1–22, ISBN 978-82-0007-385-7, 1985.
- Hein, N., Pape, R., Finch, O.-D., and Löffler, J.: Alpine activity patterns of *Mitopus morio* (Fabricius, 1779) are induced by variations in temperature and humidity at different scales in central Norway, J. Mt. Sci., 11, 644–655, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11629-013-2913-0, 2014.
- Hollesen, J., Buchwal, A., Rachlewicz, G., Hansen, B. U., Hansen, M. O., Stecher, O., and Elberling, B.: Winter warming as an important co-driver for *Betula nana* growth in western Greenland during the past century, Glob. Change Biol., 21, 2410–2423, https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12913, 2015.
- Ilek, A., Kucza, J., and Morkisz, K.: Hygroscopicity of the bark of selected forest tree species, IForest, 10, 220–226, https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor1979-009, 2016.
- IPCC: Climate change 2013: The physical science basis Working Group I contribution to the Fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, New York, 2014.
- Ježík, M., Blaženec, M., Kučera, J., Strelcová, K., and Ditmarová, L.: The response of intra-annual stem circumference increase of young European beech provenances to 2012–2014 weather variability, IForest, 9, 960–969, https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor1829-009, 2016.

S. Dobbert et al.: The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs

- King, G., Fonti, P., Nievergelt, D., Büntgen, U., and Frank, D.: Climatic drivers of hourly to yearly tree radius variations along a 6°C natural warming gradient, Agr. Forest Meteorol., 168, 36– 46, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.08.002, 2013.
- Kleiven, M.: Studies on the xerophile vegetation in northern Gudbrandsdalen, Norway, Nytt. Mag. Bot., 7, 1–60, 1959.
- Knüsel, S., Peters, R. L., Haeni, M., Wilhelm, M., and Zweifel, R.: Processing and Extraction of Seasonal Tree Physiological Parameters from Stem Radius Time Series, Forests, 12, 765, https://doi.org/10.3390/f12060765, 2021.
- Köcher, P., Horna, V., and Leuschner, C.: Environmental control of daily stem growth patterns in five temperate broad-leaved tree species, Tree Physiol., 32, 1021–1032, https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tps049, 2012.
- Körner, C.: Paradigm shift in plant growth control, Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 25, 107–114, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2015.05.003, 2015.
- Körner, C. (Ed.): Alpine plant life: Functional plant ecology of high mountain ecosystems, 3rd Edn., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 500 pp., https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-59538-8, 2021.
- Körner, C. and Hiltbrunner, E.: The 90 ways to describe plant temperature, Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst., 30, 16–21, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.04.004, 2018.
- Körner, C. and Paulsen, J.: A world-wide study of high altitude treeline temperatures, J. Biogeogr., 31, 713–732, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2003.01043.x, 2004.
- Kuprian, E., Briceño, V. F., Wagner, J., and Neuner, G.: Ice barriers promote supercooling and prevent frost injury in reproductive buds, flowers and fruits of alpine dwarf shrubs throughout the summer, Environ. Exp. Bot., 106, 4–12, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2014.01.011, 2014.
- Le Moullec, M., Buchwal, A., Wal, R., Sandal, L., and Hansen, B. B.: Annual ring growth of a widespread high arctic shrub reflects past fluctuations in community-level plant biomass, J. Ecol., 107, 436–451, https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13036, 2019.
- Li, X., Rossi, S., Liang, E., and Julio Camarero, J.: Temperature thresholds for the onset of xylogenesis in alpine shrubs on the Tibetan Plateau, Trees, 30, 2091–2099, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-016-1436-z, 2016.
- Liang, E., Lu, X., Ren, P., Li, X., Zhu, L., and Eckstein, D.: Annual increments of juniper dwarf shrubs above the tree line on the central Tibetan Plateau: a useful climatic proxy, Ann. Bot., 109, 721–728, https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcr315, 2012.
- Liu, X., Nie, Y., and Wen, F.: Seasonal dynamics of stem radial increment of *Pinus taiwanensis* Hayata and its response to environmental factors in the Lushan Mountains, Southeastern China, Forests, 9, 387, https://doi.org/10.3390/f9070387, 2018.
- Löffler, J.: Micro-climatic determination of vegetation patterns along topographical, altitudinal, and oceanic-continental gradients in the high mountains of Norway, Erdkunde, 57, 232–249, https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2003.03.05, 2003.
- Löffler, J.: Snow cover dynamics, soil moisture variability and vegetation ecology in high mountain catchments of central Norway, Hydrol. Process., 19, 2385–2405, https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.5891, 2005.
- Löffler, J.: The influence of micro-climate, snow cover, and soil moisture on ecosystem functioning in high mountains, J. Geogr. Sci., 17, 3–19, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11442-007-0003-3, 2007.

- Löffler, J. and Finch, O.-D.: Spatio-temporal Gradients between high mountain ecosystems of central Norway, Arct. Antarct. Alp. Res., 37, 499–513, https://doi.org/10.1657/1523-0430(2005)037[0499:SGBHME]2.0.CO;2, 2005.
- Löffler, J. and Pape, R.: Thermal niche predictors of alpine plant species, Ecology, 101, e02891, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2891, 2020.
- Löffler, J., Pape, R., and Wundram, D.: The climatologic significance of topography, altitude and region in high mountains – A survey of oceanic-continental differentiations of the Scandes, Erdkunde, 60, 15–24, https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2006.01.02, 2006.
- Löffler, J., Dobbert, S., Pape, R., and Wundram, D.: Dendrometer measurements of arctic-alpine dwarf shrubs and microenvironmental drivers of plant growth – Dataset from long-term alpine ecosystem research in central Norway (LTAER-NO), Erdkunde, DP311201, https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2021.dp.01, 2021.
- Lundell, R., Saarinen, T., Åström, H., and Hänninen, H.: The boreal dwarf shrub *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* retains its capacity for photosynthesis through the winter, Botany, 86, 491–500, https://doi.org/10.1139/B08-022, 2008.
- Macias-Fauria, M., Forbes, B. C., Zetterberg, P., and Kumpula, T.: Eurasian Arctic greening reveals teleconnections and the potential for structurally novel ecosystems, Nat. Clim. Change, 2, 613– 618, https://doi.org/10.1038/NCLIMATE1558, 2012.
- Martínez-Vilalta, J., Sala, A., Asensio, D., Galiano, L., Hoch, G., Palacio, S., Piper, F. I., and Lloret, F.: Dynamics of nonstructural carbohydrates in terrestrial plants: a global synthesis, Ecol. Monogr., 86, 495–516, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1231, 2016.
- Mayr, S., Hacke, U., Schmid, P., Schwienbacher, F., and Gruber, A.: Frost drought in conifers at the alpine timberline: xylem dysfunction and adaptations, Ecology, 87, 3175–3185, https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[3175:FDICAT]2.0.CO;2, 2006.
- Moen, A.: National atlas of Norway: vegetation, edited by: Lillethun, A., Norwegian Mapping Authority, ISBN 82-7945-0000-9, 1999.
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Forbes, B. C., Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., Lantz, T., Blok, D., Tape, K. D., Macias-Fauria, M., Sass-Klaassen, U., Lévesque, E., Boudreau, S., Ropars, P., Hermanutz, L., Trant, A., Collier, L. S., Weijers, S., Rozema, J., Rayback, S. A., Schmidt, N. M., Schaepman-Strub, G., Wipf, S., Rixen, C., Ménard, C. B., Venn, S., Goetz, S., Andreu-Hayles, L., Elmendorf, S., Ravolainen, V., Welker, J., Grogan, P., Epstein, H. E., and Hik, D. S.: Shrub expansion in tundra ecosystems: dynamics, impacts and research priorities, Environ. Res. Lett., 6, 45509, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/6/4/045509, 2011.
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Kerby, J. T., Phoenix, G. K., Bjerke, J. W., Epstein, H. E., Assmann, J. J., John, C., Andreu-Hayles, L., Angers-Blondin, S., Beck, P. S. A., Berner, L. T., Bhatt, U. S., Bjorkman, A. D., Blok, D., Bryn, A., Christiansen, C. T., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Cunliffe, A. M., Elmendorf, S. C., Forbes, B. C., Goetz, S. J., Hollister, R. D., Jong, R. de, Loranty, M. M., Macias-Fauria, M., Maseyk, K., Normand, S., Olofsson, J., Parker, T. C., Parmentier, F.-J. W., Post, E., Schaepman-Strub, G., Stordal, F., Sullivan, P. F., Thomas, H. J. D., Tømmervik, H., Treharne, R., Tweedie, C. E., Walker, D. A., Wilmking, M., and Wipf, S.: Complexity

revealed in the greening of the Arctic, Nat. Clim. Change, 10, 106–117, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0688-1, 2020.

- Neuner, G.: Frost resistance in alpine woody plants, Front. Plant. Sci., 5, 654, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00654, 2014.
- Novick, K. A., Ficklin, D. L., Stoy, P. C., Williams, C. A., Bohrer, G., Oishi, A. C., Papuga, S. A., Blanken, P. D., Noormets, A., Sulman, B. N., Scott, R. L., Wang, L., and Phillips, R. P.: The increasing importance of atmospheric demand for ecosystem water and carbon fluxes, Nat. Clim. Change, 6, 1023–1027, https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3114, 2016.
- Oberhuber, W., Sehrt, M., and Kitz, F.: Hygroscopic properties of thin dead outer bark layers strongly influence stem diameter variations on short and long time scales in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), Agr. Forest Meteorol., 290, 108026, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2020.108026, 2020.
- Ögren, E.: Effects of climatic warming on cold hardiness of some northern woody plants assessed from simulation experiments, Physiol. Plant, 112, 71–77, https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3054.2001.1120110.x, 2001.
- Pape, R. and Löffler, J.: Determinants of arctic-alpine pasture resources: the need for a spatially and functionally fine-scaled perspective, Geogr. Ann. A., 99, 353–370, https://doi.org/10.1080/04353676.2017.1368833, 2017.
- Pape, R., Wundram, D., and Löffler, J.: Modelling near-surface temperature conditions in high mountain environments: an appraisal, Clim. Res., 39, 99–109, https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00795, 2009.
- Peters, R. L., Steppe, K., Cuny, H. E., Pauw, D. J. W. de, Frank, D. C., Schaub, M., Rathgeber, C., Cabon, A., and Fonti, P.: Turgor a limiting factor for radial growth in mature conifers along an elevational gradient, New Phytol., 229, 213–229, https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16872, 2021.
- Polunin, N.: Attempted dendrochronological dating of ice Island T-3, Science, 122, 1184–1186, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.122.3181.1184, 1955.
- Post, E., Alley, R. B., Christensen, T. R., Macias-Fauria, M., Forbes, B. C., Gooseff, M. N., Iler, A., Kerby, J. T., Laidre, K. L., Mann, M. E., Virginia, R. A., Oloffson, J., Stroeve, J., Ulmer, F., and Wang, M.: The polar regions in a 2 °C warmer world, Sci. Adv., 5, eaaw9883, https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaw9883, 2019.
- Preece, C., Callaghan, T. V., and Phoenix, G. K.: Impacts of winter icing events on the growth, phenology and physiology of sub-arctic dwarf shrubs, Physiol. Plant, 146, 460–472, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2012.01640.x, 2012.
- Prislan, P., Gričar, J., Čufar, K., Luis, M. D., Merela, M., and Rossi, S.: Growing season and radial growth predicted for *Fagus sylvatica* under climate change, Climatic Change, 153, 181–197, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02374-0, 2019.
- Rammig, A., Jonas, T., Zimmermann, N. E., and Rixen, C.: Changes in alpine plant growth under future climate conditions, Biogeosciences, 7, 2013–2024, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-7-2013-2010, 2010.
- R Development Core Team: R: A language and environment for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing, https://www.R-project.org (last access: 8 March 2022), 2020.
- Reineke, L. H.: A precision dendrometer, J. Forest., 30, 692–697, 1932.

- Rößler, O. and Löffler, J.: Uncertainties of treeline alterations due to climatic change during the past century in the central Norwegian Scandes, Geoöko, 28, 104–114, 2007.
- Rößler, O., Bräuning, A., and Löffler, J.: Dynamics and driving forces of treeline fluctuation and regeneration in Central Norway during the past decades, Erdkunde, 62, 117–128, https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2008.02.02, 2008.
- Rossi, S., Deslauriers, A., and Morin, H.: Application of the Gompertz equation for the study of xylem cell development, Dendrochronologia, 21, 33–39, https://doi.org/10.1078/1125-7865-00034, 2003.
- Rossi, S., Deslauriers, A., Anfodillo, T., Morin, H., Saracino, A., Motta, R., and Borghetti, M.: Conifers in cold environments synchronize maximum growth rate of tree-ring formation with day length, New Phytol., 170, 301–310, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01660.x, 2006.
- Rossi, S., Deslauriers, A., Anfodillo, T., and Carraro, V.: Evidence of threshold temperatures for xylogenesis in conifers at high altitudes, Oecologia, 152, 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0625-7, 2007.
- Rossi, S., Deslauriers, A., Griçar, J., Seo, J.-W., Rathgeber, C. B. K., Anfodillo, T., Morin, H., Levanic, T., Oven, P., and Jalkanen, R.: Critical temperatures for xylogenesis in conifers of cold climates, Global Ecol. Biogeogr., 17, 696–707, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2008.00417.x, 2008.
- Saccone, P., Hoikka, K., and Virtanen, R.: What if plant functional types conceal species-specific responses to environment? Study on arctic shrub communities, Ecology, 98, 1600–1612, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1817, 2017.
- Scherrer, D. and Körner, C.: Topographically controlled thermal-habitat differentiation buffers alpine plant diversity against climate warming, J. Biogeogr., 38, 406–416, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2010.02407.x, 2011.
- Schmidt, N. M., Baittinger, C., Kollmann, J., and Forchhammer, M. C.: Consistent dendrochronological response of the dioecious *Salix arctica* to variation in local snow precipitation across gender and vegetation types, Arct. Antarct. Alp. Res., 42, 471–475, https://doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-42.4.471, 2010.
- Semikhatova, O. A., Gerasimenko, T. V., and Ivanova T. I.: Photosynthesis, respiration, and growth of plants in the Soviet Arctic, in: Arctic ecosystems in a changing climate: an ecophysiological perspective, edited by: Chapin, F. S., Jefferies, R. L., Reynolds, J. F., Shaver, G. R., and Svoboda, J., Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA, 169–192, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-168250-7.50014-6, 1992.
- Shaver, G. R. and Chapin III, F. S.: Effect of fertilizer on production and biomass of tussock tundra, Alaska, U.S.A, Arct. Alp. Res., 18, 261–268, https://doi.org/10.2307/1550883, 1986.
- Shetti, R.: Methods in shrub dendro-ecology: Understanding the processes influencing shrub growth in the Arctic and Alpine ecosystems, PhD thesis, University of Greifswald, Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät, Greifswald, 209 pp., http://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:gbv:9-opus-24118 (last access: 8 March 2022), 2018.
- Shevtsova, A., Haukioja, E., and Ojala, A.: Growth Response of Subarctic Dwarf Shrubs, *Empetrum nigrum* and *Vaccinium vitisidaea*, to Manipulated Environmental Conditions and Species Removal, Oikos, 78, 440–458, https://doi.org/10.2307/3545606, 1997.

S. Dobbert et al.: The application of dendrometers to alpine dwarf shrubs

- Smiljanić, M. and Wilmking, M.: Drivers of stem radial variation and its pattern in peatland Scots pines: A pilot study, Dendrochronologia, 47, 30–37, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2017.12.001, 2018.
- Starr, G. and Oberbauer, S. F.: Photosynthesis of arctic evergreens under snow: Implications for tundra ecosystem carbon balance, Ecology, 84, 1415–1420, https://doi.org/10.1890/02-3154, 2003.
- Steppe, K., Sterck, F., and Deslauriers, A.: Diel growth dynamics in tree stems: linking anatomy and ecophysiology, Trends Plant. Sci., 20, 335–343, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2015.03.015, 2015.
- Sturm, M., Racine, C., and Tape, K.: Climate change. Increasing shrub abundance in the Arctic, Nature, 411, 546–547, https://doi.org/10.1038/35079180, 2001.
- Stushnoff, C. and Junttila, O.: Seasonal development of cold stress resistance in several plant species at a coastal and a continental location in North Norway, Polar Biol., 5, 129–133, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00441691, 1986.
- Tian, Q., He, Z., Xiao, S., Du, J., Peng, X., Lin, P., and Ding, A.: Effects of artificial warming on stem radial changes in Qinghai spruce saplings in the Qilian Mountains of China, Dendrochronologia, 55, 110–118, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2019.04.009, 2019.
- Turcotte, A., Rossi, S., Deslauriers, A., Krause, C., and Morin, H.: Dynamics of depletion and replenishment of water storage in stem and roots of black spruce measured by dendrometers, Front. Plant Sci., 2, 21, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2011.00021, 2011.
- Tyree, M. T. and Sperry, J. S.: Vulnerability of xylem to cavitation and embolism, Annu. Rev. Plant Phys., 40, 19–36, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pp.40.060189.000315, 1989.
- Van der Maaten, E., Pape, J., van der Maaten-Theunissen, M., Scharnweber, T., Smiljanic, M., Cruz-García, R., and Wilmking, M.: Distinct growth phenology but similar daily stem dynamics in three co-occurring broadleaved tree species, Tree Physiol., 38, 1820–1828, https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpy042, 2018.
- Van der Maaten-Theunissen, M., Kahle, H.-P., and van der Maaten, E.: Drought sensitivity of Norway spruce is higher than that of silver fir along an altitudinal gradient in southwestern Germany, Ann. Forest Sci., 70, 185–193, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-012-0241-0, 2013.
- Van der Wal, R. and Stien, A.: High-arctic plants like it hot: a long-term investigation of between-year variability in plant biomass, Ecology, 95, 3414–3427, https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0533.1, 2014.
- Venn, S. E. and Green, K.: Evergreen alpine shrubs have high freezing resistance in spring, irrespective of snowmelt timing and exposure to frost: an investigation from the Snowy Mountains, Australia, Plant. Ecol., 219, 209–216, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-017-0789-8, 2018.
- Vowles, T. and Björk, R. G.: Implications of evergreen shrub expansion in the Arctic, J. Ecol., 107, 650–655, https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13081, 2019.
- Wang, Y., Wang, Y., Li, Z., Yu, P., and Han, X.: Interannual variation of transpiration and its modeling of a larch plantation in semiarid Northwest China, Forests, 11, 1303, https://doi.org/10.3390/f11121303, 2020.
- Weijers, S. and Löffler, J.: Auswirkungen des Klimawandels auf das Wachstum von Zwergsträuchern in Hochgebirgen, in: Warnsignal Klima: Hochgebirge im Wandel, edited by: Lozán, J.

L., Breckle, S.-W., Grassl, H., Kasang, D., Paul, F., and Schickhoff, U., Wissenschaftliche Auswertungen, Hamburg, Germany, 23–27, https://doi.org/10.25592/uhhfdm.9253, 2020.

- Weijers, S., Broekman, R., and Rozema, J.: Dendrochronology in the High Arctic: July air temperatures reconstructed from annual shoot length growth of the circumarctic dwarf shrub *Cassiope tetragona*, Quaternary Sci. Rev., 29, 3831–3842, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2010.09.003, 2010.
- Weijers, S., Buchwal, A., Blok, D., Löffler, J., and Elberling, B.: High Arctic summer warming tracked by increased *Cassiope tetragona* growth in the world's northernmost polar desert, Glob. Change Biol., 23, 5006–5020, https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13747, 2017.
- Weijers, S., Pape, R., Löffler, J., and Myers-Smith, I. H.: Contrasting shrub species respond to early summer temperatures leading to correspondence of shrub growth patterns, Environ. Res. Lett., 13, 34005, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aaa5b8, 2018a.
- Weijers, S., Beckers, N., and Löffler, J.: Recent spring warming limits near-treeline deciduous and evergreen alpine dwarf shrub growth, Ecosphere, 9, e02328, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2328, 2018b.
- Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., van Bogaert, R., Kyncl, T., Babst, F., Hahne, W., Juday, G. P., Luis, M. D., Novak, K., and Völlm, C.: Continuously missing outer rings in woody plants at their distributional margins, Dendrochronologia, 30, 213–222, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2011.10.001, 2012.
- Winget, C. H. and Kozlowski, T. T.: Winter shrinkage in stems of forest trees, J. Forest., 62, 335–337, 1964.
- Wundram, D., Pape, R., and Löffler, J.: Alpine soil temperature variability at multiple scales, Arct. Antarct. Alp. Res., 42, 117–128, https://doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-42.1.117, 2010.
- Wyka, T. P. and Oleksyn, J.: Photosynthetic ecophysiology of evergreen leaves in the woody angiosperms – a review, Dendrobiology, 72, 3–27, https://doi.org/10.12657/denbio.072.001, 2014.
- Zellweger, F., Frenne, P. de, Lenoir, J., Vangansbeke, P., Verheyen, K., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Baeten, L., Hédl, R., Berki, I., Brunet, J., van Calster, H., Chudomelová, M., Decocq, G., Dirnböck, T., Durak, T., Heinken, T., Jaroszewicz, B., Kopecký, M., Máliš, F., Macek, M., Malicki, M., Naaf, T., Nagel, T. A., Ortmann-Ajkai, A., Petřík, P., Pielech, R., Reczyńska, K., Schmidt, W., Standovár, T., Świerkosz, K., Teleki, B., Vild, O., Wulf, M., and Coomes, D.: Forest microclimate dynamics drive plant responses to warming, Science, 368, 772–775, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aba6880, 2020.
- Zweifel, R.: Radial stem variations a source of tree physiological information not fully exploited yet, Plant Cell. Environ., 39, 231–232, https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12613, 2016.
- Zweifel, R. and Häsler, R.: Frost-induced reversible shrinkage of bark of mature subalpine conifers, Agr. Forest Meteorol., 102, 213–222, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00135-0, 2000.
- Zweifel, R., Item, H., and Hasler, R.: Stem radius changes and their relation to stored water in stems of young Norway spruce trees, Trees Struct. Funct., 15, 50–57, https://doi.org/10.1007/s004680000072, 2000.
- Zweifel, R., Zimmermann, L., Zeugin, F., and Newbery, D. M.: Intra-annual radial growth and water relations of trees: implications towards a growth mechanism, J. Exp. Bot., 57, 1445–1459, https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erj125, 2006.

- Zweifel, R., Drew, D. M., Schweingruber, F., and Downes, G. M.: Xylem as the main origin of stem radius changes in Eucalyptus, Funct. Plant. Biol., 41, 520–534, https://doi.org/10.1071/FP13240, 2014a.
- Zweifel, R., Drew, D. M., Schweingruber F., and Downes, G. M.: Xylem as the main origin of stem radius changes in Eucalyptus, Funct. Plant. Biol., 41, 520–53, https://doi.org/10.1071/FP13240, 2014b.
- Zweifel, R., Sterck, F., Braun, S., Buchmann, N., Eugster, W., Gessler, A., Häni, M., Peters, R. L., Walthert, L., Wilhelm, M., Ziemińska, K., and Etzold, S.: Why trees grow at night, New Phytol., 231, 2174–2185, https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.17552, 2021.

6 Contrasting growth response of evergreen and deciduous arctic-alpine shrub species to climate variability

DOBBERT, S.; PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2021): Contrasting growth response of evergreen and deciduous arctic-alpine shrub species to climate variability. Ecosphere 12 (8), e03688. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.3688.

Abstract

Broad-scale changes in arctic-alpine vegetation and their global effects have long been recognized and labeled one of the clearest examples of the terrestrial impacts of climate change. Arctic-alpine dwarf shrubs are a key factor in those processes, responding to accelerated warming in complex and still poorly understood ways. Here, we look closely into such responses of deciduous and evergreen species, and for the first time, we make use of high-precision dendrometers to monitor the radial growth of dwarf shrubs at unprecedented temporal resolution, bridging the gap between classical dendroecology and the underlying growth physiology of a species. Using statistical methods on a fiveyear dataset, including a relative importance analysis based on partial least squares regression, linear mixed modeling, and correlation analysis, we identified distinct growth mechanisms for both evergreen (Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum) and deciduous (Betula nana) species. We found those mechanisms in accordance with the species respective physiological requirements and the exclusive micro-environmental conditions, suggesting high phenotypical plasticity in both focal species. Additionally, growth in both species was negatively affected by unusually warm conditions during summer and both responded to low winter temperatures with radial stem shrinking, which we interpreted as an active mechanism of frost protection related to changes in water availability. However, our analysis revealed contrasting and inter-annually nuanced response patterns. While B. nana benefited from winter warming and a prolonged growing season, E. hermaphroditum showed high negative sensitivity to spring cold spells after an earlier growth start, relying on additional photosynthetic opportunities during snow-free winter periods. Thus, we conclude that climategrowth responses of dwarf shrubs in arctic-alpine environments are highly seasonal and heterogenic, and that deciduous species are overall likely to show a positive growth response to predicted future climate change, possibly dominating over evergreen competitors at the same sites, contributing to the ongoing greening trend.



ECOSPHERE

Contrasting growth response of evergreen and deciduous arctic-alpine shrub species to climate variability

SVENJA DOBBERT,¹ ROLAND PAPE,² AND JÖRG LÖFFLER¹,[†]

¹Department of Geography, University of Bonn, Meckenheimer Allee 166, Bonn D-53115 Germany ²Department of Natural Sciences and Environmental Health, University of South-Eastern Norway, Gullbringvegen 36, Bø N-3800 Norway

Citation: Dobbert, S., R. Pape, and J. Löffler. 2021. Contrasting growth response of evergreen and deciduous arcticalpine shrub species to climate variability. Ecosphere 12(8):e03688. 10.1002/ecs2.3688

Abstract. Broad-scale changes in arctic-alpine vegetation and their global effects have long been recognized and labeled one of the clearest examples of the terrestrial impacts of climate change. Arctic-alpine dwarf shrubs are a key factor in those processes, responding to accelerated warming in complex and still poorly understood ways. Here, we look closely into such responses of deciduous and evergreen species, and for the first time, we make use of high-precision dendrometers to monitor the radial growth of dwarf shrubs at unprecedented temporal resolution, bridging the gap between classical dendroecology and the underlying growth physiology of a species. Using statistical methods on a five-year dataset, including a relative importance analysis based on partial least squares regression, linear mixed modeling, and correlation analysis, we identified distinct growth mechanisms for both evergreen (Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum) and deciduous (Betula nana) species. We found those mechanisms in accordance with the species respective physiological requirements and the exclusive micro-environmental conditions, suggesting high phenotypical plasticity in both focal species. Additionally, growth in both species was negatively affected by unusually warm conditions during summer and both responded to low winter temperatures with radial stem shrinking, which we interpreted as an active mechanism of frost protection related to changes in water availability. However, our analysis revealed contrasting and inter-annually nuanced response patterns. While B. nana benefited from winter warming and a prolonged growing season, E. hermaphroditum showed high negative sensitivity to spring cold spells after an earlier growth start, relying on additional photosynthetic opportunities during snow-free winter periods. Thus, we conclude that climate-growth responses of dwarf shrubs in arctic-alpine environments are highly seasonal and heterogenic, and that deciduous species are overall likely to show a positive growth response to predicted future climate change, possibly dominating over evergreen competitors at the same sites, contributing to the ongoing greening trend.

Key words: arctic-alpine greening and browning; *Betula nana;* climate–growth relations; dendrometer; *Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum*; growth physiology; Norwegian Scandes; partial least squares regression.

Received 25 March 2021; accepted 31 March 2021; final version received 27 May 2021. Corresponding Editor: Debra P. C. Peters.

Copyright: © 2021 The Authors This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. † **E-mail:** joerg.loeffler@uni-bonn.de

INTRODUCTION

1

esa

The change of vegetation within the tundra, the so-called "Arctic greening," has been identified as one of the clearest examples of the terrestrial impact of climate change (IPCC 2014). Observed from space over huge expanses of the circumpolar North (Myneni et al. 1997, Jia et al. 2003, Epstein et al. 2012, Berner et al. 2020), undergirded by plot-based evidence (Elmendorf

et al. 2012), and attributed to warming at more than twice the rate of the rest of the planet (Chapin et al. 2005, Serreze and Francis 2006, IPCC 2014, Post et al. 2019), wide-ranging repercussions of this greening on ecosystems and their functioning are to be expected. Effects along a trophic cascade are observed, including declining herbivore populations, altered competition and predation, putting species at risk, and threatening endemic biodiversity (e.g., Fauchald et al. 2017, Ims et al. 2019). Moreover, vegetation trends of this scale are of immense importance to the carbon balance of tundra ecosystems (Joos et al. 2001, Mishra and Riley 2012, Alday et al. 2020), putting their large carbon pool at risk (Schuur et al. 2013, 2015). They also have major impacts on the global water cycle (Zwieback et al. 2019), and they lead, due to changes in the surface albedo, to self-amplifying feedbacks regarding the global climate system (Chae et al. 2015, Zhang et al. 2018, Bjorkman et al. 2020).

Addressing the mechanisms behind the observed greening, shrubification (i.e., an increased biomass and coverage of dwarf shrubs) has been identified as one key driver (Forbes et al. 2010, Myers-Smith et al. 2011, Fraser et al. 2014). Given, however, the pronounced spatial heterogeneity of the trend-which is slowing and even showing signs of browning in many regions (Bhatt et al. 2013, Phoenix and Bjerke 2016, Lara et al. 2018, Myers-Smith et al. 2020)experts cannot yet agree on the direction of change (Abbott et al. 2016). A consensus is emerging that the underlying causes and future dynamics of tundra greening and browning trends are more complex, variable and scale-dependent than previously thought (Nielsen et al. 2017, Macias-Fauria et al. 2020). While at some places vegetation community composition shifts, greening is also promoted by increased plant productivity and growth (Alday et al. 2020). Longer growing seasons, increased thaw depth, and altered snow regimes may all influence vegetation changes (Bjorkman et al. 2020), and while growing season conditions (especially temperatures) are widely recognized as the main driver for growth in tundra shrubs (Blok et al. 2011, Hollesen et al. 2015, Francon et al. 2020), other effects, including those of winter warming, precipitation and snow cover, remain less studied.

As such, the actual physiological processes and mechanisms behind the increased shrub growth are still poorly understood (Ackermann et al. 2017, Nielsen et al. 2017).

A better understanding of the observed patterns within arctic-alpine shrub growth is likely to emerge from an increased mechanistic understanding of the processes that actually underlie shrub growth (cf. Martin et al. 2017). The utilization of dendrometers to resolve the annual radial growth increment at finer functional and temporal scales than capable by classical ring-widthbased dendroecological methods may hold an answer (Deslauriers et al. 2003). The achievable high temporal resolution enables fine-scale insights into short-term environmental effects (like frost spells) on the hydrological status and the xylogenesis of a shrub (Drew et al. 2010). Thus, dendrometer measurements bridge the gap between the ecophysilogically triggered short-term events of cell division and growth on the one hand and the time-integrated measure of total growth increment as assessed by ring widths (Köcher et al. 2012), on the other hand. Until now, the utilization of dendrometers, however, was mostly restricted to monitor tree growth (e.g., Duchesne et al. 2012, Cocozza et al. 2016, Liu et al. 2018).

Here, we, for the first time, make extensive use of high-precision dendrometers to monitor growth reaction of dwarf shrubs at the unprecedented temporal resolution, bridging the gap between classical dendroecology and its actual foundation, the underlying growth physiology of a species. By relating radial growth data to a set of physiologically meaningful environmental data that have simultaneously been recorded on-site, we shed light explicitly on those processes at the foundation of the observed changes in arctic-alpine environments. We are thus advancing the necessary understanding of widespread phenomena like greening and browning trends.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Species and specimens

For this study, we chose two focal dwarf shrub species abundant across arctic-alpine ecosystems, one evergreen (*Empetrum nigrum* ssp. *hermaphroditum*, crowberry, hereafter *E. hermaphroditum*)

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

and one deciduous (Betula nana, dwarf birch, hereafter B. nana). Both are almost circumpolar in distribution (see Büntgen et al. 2015 for distribution maps) with considerable effects on tundra communities and the observed arctic vegetation changes (Bell and Tallis 1973, Bret-Harte et al. 2001, Hollesen et al. 2015). At lower elevations, both species co-occur, with B. nana commonly surpassing E. hermaphroditum in growth height (as it reaches up to 1 m, Groot et al. 1997), thus likely to exert growth control by light limitation (Bret-Harte et al. 2001, Bär et al. 2007). At higher elevations, E. hermaphroditum decreases in growth height and remains the exclusive dwarf shrub within a matrix consisting of debris and graminoids (Bär et al. 2007). Both species are adapted to wet and cold climates (Bell and Tallis 1973, Groot et al. 1997), are able to tolerate comparatively low winter temperatures, and generally occur across a broad range of micro-habitats (Andrews et al. 1980, Stushnoff and Junttila 1986, de Groot et al. 1997, Ogren 2001). In this context, Löffler and Pape (2020) found a wide realized thermal niche for both species with optimum temperatures of >16.4°C for B. nana and >15.5°C for E. hermaphroditum, derived from the species frequency distribution across thermal regimes. More importantly, they highlight the importance of thermal conditions in autumn and winter, suggesting that as an evergreen species E. hermaphroditum is able to take advantage of favorable conditions when its deciduous congeneric, B. nana, is snow-covered and/or physiologically inactive (Löffler and Pape 2020).

Study sites

Our study is based on long-term monitored specimens from two study regions located in the alpine mountain region of central Norway, characterized by a steep regional climate gradient (Fig. 1). To the east, the Vågåmo/Innlandet region (61°53' N; 9°15' E) is located within the continental climatic section (C1; Moen 1999). With total annual precipitation of approximately 300–500 mm in the valleys, this area experiences the highest aridity found in Norway (Kleiven 1959). In contrast, our second study region to the west, the Geiranger/Møre og Romsdal region (62°03' N; 7°15' E), is located within the slightly to markedly oceanic climatic section (O1–O2; Moen 1999) of the inner fjords. It is characterized by humid

conditions, with total annual precipitation of 1500-2000 mm in the valleys (Aune 1993). Measurements within the studied alpine regions indicated annual liquid precipitation of 900 mm in the West and 375 mm in the East. The additional amount of solid precipitation and its snow water equivalent remains unknown, but snowdrift leads to an uneven distribution of the snowpack within the complex alpine topography (Löffler 2005, 2007), leaving the studied plots on elevated ridges with discontinuous snow cover and deeply frozen ground in winter. In regard to temperature, those exposed sites represent the most extreme regimes found in the area where the mean annual ambient air temperature is 1.9°C (range –23.2°C [January] to +17.2°C [July]) in the west and -1.2°C (range -29.2°C [January] to +16.7°C [July]) in the east (e.g., Löffler 2003). The ridge positions used for sampling were stratified-randomly chosen to cover the elevational gradient, following the framework of our long-term alpine ecosystem research project (LTAER; e.g., Löffler and Finch 2005, Hein et al. 2014, Frindte et al. 2019, Beckers et al. 2020). They were placed at elevational levels from the tree line upwards, shifted by approximately 100 height-meters between regions to account for the depression of the elevational zonation toward the west (Löffler et al. 2006, Löffler and Pape 2020, Löffler et al., 2021). In accordance with the elevationally constrained range of the studied two species, we chose ten specimens from the oceanic region (700-1300 m a.s.l.) and 15 specimens from the continental region (900-1510 m a.s.l.) representing our chosen evergreen species, as well as five specimens from the oceanic region (700-1024 m a.s.l.) and ten specimens from the continental region (900-1510 m a.s.l.), representing our chosen deciduous species (Fig. 1). If available, we chose to monitor more than one site per elevational level, and at each site, the specimens were monitored for five full consecutive years (October 1, 2014–December 31, 2019), resulting in a total of 200 (((10 West + 15 East) E. hermaphrodi $tum + (5 \text{ West} + 10 \text{ East}) B. nana) \times 5 \text{ yr}) \text{ dendrom-}$ eter curves, each showing hourly stem diameter changes during the course of one year.

Dendrometric data, monitoring setup, and environmental data collection

To monitor radial stem diameter variations, we used high-precision dendrometers (type DRO;



Fig. 1. Study regions in Central Norway and location of the individual study sites (A). At some sites both species were present and monitored (black), at others only one of the two focal species was found (gray, white). The shape file used to create the map was derived from the maps package (Becker et al. 2018) for the R software (R Core Team 2020), and the digital elevation model used is from the Norwegian Mapping Authority (2008). (B) and (C) show mounted dendrometers, and *E. hermaphroditum* (B), as well as *B. nana* (C) specimens at the studied sites.

Ecomatik, Dachau/Germany) mounted on one major aboveground stem horizontal to the ground surface on randomly chosen specimens, as close to the assumed root collar as possible (approximately 1-5 cm above ground). As addressed by Bär et al. (2006, 2007), this major stem is thought to represent the whole plant at least partly. However, how radial stem changes vary within the individual plant and between multiple stems of the same specimen is still not fully understood and might be a topic for further studies. We tried to account for this variation by sampling a high number of individual specimens. Also, we made sure that the chosen specimens were as representative for the observed local conditions at each site as possible, avoiding positions near stones and small depressions,

inside the radius of other larger shrub species, and near patches of wind erosion. The temperature coefficient of the sensor used was $<0.2 \ \mu m$ and measurements were taken at 1-min intervals and aggregated using the daily mean approach, averaging dendrometer data using the dendrometeR package (Van der Maaten et al. 2016), developed for the R statistical software (R Core Team 2020), which was primarily used in our analyses. Additionally, the annual stem diameter curves were normalized through subtraction of the previous year maximum to exclude year-related growth trends and maximize the separation of irreversible growth from water-related swelling and shrinking of the stem. This necessity arises because dendrometers are not measuring the absolute stem diameter, but rather changes in

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

stem diameter relative to the start of the measurement cycle. Thus, the initial stem diameter, which ranged from 1829.1 to 10023.7 µm for *E. hermaphroditum*, and from 2851.8 to 12095.6 µm for *B. nana*, was removed from the annual curves. Finally, outliers were excluded, by defining cutoff ranges, using the interquartile range (IQR) and the 25th (Q1) and 75th (Q3) percentile (Q1/Q3 \pm 1.5 \times IQR). This led to a total exclusion of approximately 2% of daily measurements per curve.

At each site, we sampled one specimen of each species and took additional measures of microenvironmental parameters. These included soil temperatures (°C) at a depth of 15 cm below the ground surface within the root zone (hereafter "TRZ") and air temperatures at a location 15 cm above the ground surface within the shoot zone (hereafter "TSZ"), at 1-min intervals and recorded as hourly means using ONSET's HOBO loggers (type H21-002) and type S-TMB-002 temperature sensors ($\pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C accuracy). For the TSZ measurements, the sensors were equipped with passively ventilated radiation shields. Additionally, we measured the volumetric soil water content (soil moisture, m³ water/m³ soil) 15 cm below the soil surface (hereafter "SMRZ") at all sites. The uncalibrated SMRZ was measured at 1min intervals and recorded as hourly means using type S-SMD-M005 soil moisture sensors $(\pm 3\%$ accuracy). Complementarily, we measured the hourly shoot zone global radiation (W/m²) at 1 cm above the ground surface (hereafter "GRSZ") using a type S-LIB-M003 silicon pyranometer ($\pm 10 \text{ W/m}^2 \text{ accuracy}$).

Our micro-environmental conditions were captured for the period from January 1, 2015, to December 31, 2019, with additional data used from the years 2014 and 2020 where needed. Missing data did not occur at the chosen sites.

Micro-environmental data

Averaged near-surface regimes of TRZ, TSZ, SMRZ, and GRSZ over all monitored sites are illustrated in Appendix S1: Fig. S1 and Fig. S2, as well as in Appendix S1: Table S1. The exposed ridge positions were characterized by extremely low winter temperatures and severe ground freezing, with high exposure to global radiation and only periodic snow cover. Temperatures usually started to increase in April or May. Lowest annual mean temperatures were measured in 2017 (TSZ = 0.371°C, TRZ = 1.230°C), highest in 2018 (TSZ = 0.912°C, TRZ = 1.614°C) with shoot and root zone conditions following, expectedly, a similar regime throughout the course of our study. The year 2015 stands out because of a comparatively long winter, with lasting low temperatures throughout the meteorological spring and soil moisture rising only gradually, indicating reoccurring freezing conditions. In contrast, the years 2019 and 2018 are characterized by an early rise in spring temperatures, followed by considerable spring cold snaps as evident by drops in the SMRZ regimes, indicating renewed soil freezing. Additionally, the winter 2015/2016 is characterized by the lowest temperatures measured throughout the studied period (Appendix S1: Figs. S1, S2).

Analysis of seasonal growth patterns

To discern seasonal growth patterns from the monitored dendrometer curves, we defined three distinct phases of stem variation, each as a temporal period (Fig. 2), as well as the radial stem change realized during this time period (Appendix S1: Table S2): (1) total annual growth, defined as growth-induced stem expansion (hereafter "growth"; following Zweifel 2016). Mathematically, we defined this phase as the current year's radial stem diameter maximum minus the previous year's maximum. As such, growth can take negative values if one year's stem increment fails to exceed the previous year's maximum stem diameter (see Fig. 2). We refer to those years as dormant years. Timewise, this phase lasts from the time when the stem diameter first exceeds the previous year's maximum, until the annual stem diameter maximum. As it represents irreversible stem expansion, this growth is most likely visible in the anatomical structure of the plant and should thus be directly comparable to classic measurement methods of radial stem growth, including ring width. (2) Reversible stem shrinking, associated with hydrological processes causing a temporary water deficit within the stem (Zweifel et al. 2014, Zweifel 2016) following the active growing phase and lasting until stem increment starts in the following year (hereafter "shrinking"). We define stem change during this phase as stem diameter maximum minus the next year's minimum. (3)

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

DOBBERT ET AL.



Fig. 2. Stem diameter variations in *B. nana* (A) and *E. hermaphroditum* (B). Measured daily radial stem change averaged over all studied sites (15 for *B. nana* and 25 for *E. hermaphroditum*). Colors represent phases of stem change. Additional relevant data beyond the defined studied period (2015–2019) is shown in gray. These data were used to identify the phases in 2015 (see *Material and Methods*).

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org

Recovery, defined as stem swelling, also associated with hydrological processes reversing the previous shrinking. We define this phase similar to shrinking as the year's stem diameter minimum until the point where this year's stem diameter reaches the previous year's maximum (growth start). Mathematically, the stem diameter change during this phase can be calculated as the previous year's maximum minus this year's minimum. If one year's stem increment fails to exceed the previous year's maximum stem diameter, recovery is defined as the year's maximum minus the year's minimum instead.

For each phase, we calculated both, stem diameter change in terms of magnitude as well as temporal phase duration (number of days, Fig. 2), for each individual specimen and each of the monitored years. Appendix S1: Fig. S3 summarizes stem diameter variation sums realized in each of the previously defined phases and split by months.

Correlation and linear mixed-effects analysis

In order to reveal the relation between the observed growth patterns and micro-environmental conditions at the studied sites, we tested the influence of microclimate on individual shrub growth through correlation and linear mixed-effects analysis. We calculated Pearson's correlation coefficients between annual irreversible stem growth or shrinking in the years 2015–2019, and daily mean values for our environmental parameters TSZ, TRZ, SMRZ, and GRSZ, using the R statistical software (R Core Team 2020). To account for possibly time-lagged effects of the previous year's conditions on current growth, we included daily mean values for the period June (of the previous year) to September (of the current year) into the correlation analyses, similar to the analysis of growth chronologies as derived from ring-width series (e.g., Bär et al. 2008, Weijers et al. 2018). Here, additional micro-environmental measurements from 2014, prior to the start of our studied period, were included. For comparison, all analyses were performed individually for all specimens of B. nana and E. hermaphroditum.

To avoid generalizations which might arise from data averaging data measured at the individual sites into mean values, we additionally fitted linear mixed-effects models to our data, using the lme4 R package (Bates et al. 2015). For these models, we again chose annual irreversible stem growth as response variable, and monthly mean values for all environmental parameters as fixed effect. The individual specimens were included as random effect.

Additionally, Pearson's correlation coefficient was calculated between the response variable annual growth, shrinking and recovery (both duration and magnitude, defined as described above, and averaged for all individual specimens (15 for B. nana and 25 for E. hermaphroditum)) and seasonal means, minima and maxima for all measured environmental parameters. To assess the effect of the duration of both, growth and recovery, on total accomplished growth, we created linear mixed-effect models with annual growth as the dependent, and the duration of growth as well as the duration of recovery as independent variables. Here, the individual specimens were included as random effect similar to the previous analysis.

Finally, we aimed to further reveal temporal patterns of climate-growth relations by calculating moving window correlations for both focal species, using Pearson's correlation coefficient for each individual dendrometer curve and the corresponding environmental parameters (daily averaged values). These correlations were performed for moving window widths ranging from 3 to 180 d. Because the year-to-year variation in these patterns was very high for our data, we performed the correlations for the whole study period (2015–2019). Additionally, we averaged daily micro-environmental values for all parameters (TSZ, TRZ, SMRZ, and GRSZ) over preceding time windows with length of one day to up to one year and similarly correlated these values with averaged dendrometer data for each of the previously defined phases of stem change (Fig. 2). Here, we aimed to further highlight temporal patterns and year-to-year variation within these patterns.

Partial least squares regression

To complement the correlation analysis, we additionally analyzed the relation between annual growth and micro-environmental parameters applying partial least squares regression (PLSR; Wold 1975), also known as projection on latent structures (Abdi 2010). Our aim in applying this statistical approach was solely to use variable selection methods to assess the relative importance of certain micro-environmental conditions in promoting or hindering growth, and to define a subset of relevant conditions. Primarily intended for multidisciplinary problems (Wold 1980), PLSR has found application in ecological studies during the past decade (Carrascal et al. 2009, Frindte et al. 2019, Löffler and Pape 2020). Main advantages include that it works without distributional assumptions (Wold 1980, Dijkstra 1983, Vinzi et al. 2010) and deals efficiently with unreliability and heteroscedasticity issues (Martens and Næs 1989, Frindte et al. 2019). Moreover, the method is not limited, if the number of predictors exceeds the number of observations or if the predictors are highly correlated, as is the case with our data. This distincts PLSR from classical methods, like multiple linear regression and principal component regression, and makes it highly suitable for our purposes (Geladi and Kowalski 1986, Carrascal et al. 2009, Frindte et al. 2019). Following the approach successfully applied by Löffler and Pape (2020) to determine species thermal niches, we aggregated our (hourly) environmental data, rounding to 0.5°C for temperatures and 0.01 m³/m³ for soil moisture values. Subsequently, we counted and totaled the frequency of each value occurring within the rounded time-series. These calculations were performed for each meteorological season separately, resulting in sets of 35–124 predictor variables, which were subsequently scaled and centered. Previously calculated annual growth (which was found to be almost normally distributed, see Appendix S1: Fig. S4) served as the associated response variable. For final single response model estimation, we used the SIMPLS algorithm (de Jong 1993), implemented in the R package mdatools (Kucheryavskiy 2020). The optimal number of components in the PLSR model was found using Wold's R criterion (Wold 1978), and tenfold cross-validation was used to assess the explained variance during model calibration and validation. To assess the relevance of each independent variable from the created models, there are numerous methods available (reviewed by Mehmood et al. 2012). Based on assessments by Farrés et al. (2015) and Frindte et al. (2019), we considered the selectivity ratio (SR, defined as the ratio of explained to

residual (unexplained) variance for each variable in the target projection vector), most appropriate for our data. From the SR, we derived the explained variance (SR/abs(SR +1)) for more contrastable results. In the resulting plots (Appendix S1: Figs. S5, S6), the variables with highest values represent the most important explanatory variables (Rajalahti et al. 2009). Finally, we increased the interpretability of these results by multiplying the SR of each variable by the sign of its corresponding regression coefficient, making it easy to identify which variables were positively or negatively related to the dependent variable (Rajalahti et al. 2009, Löffler and Pape 2020). Thus, we were able to clearly identify those environmental conditions that were significantly related to annually realized growth.

Results

Our examined species showed surprisingly clear similarities in intra-annual stem diameter variation patterns, yet distinctive differences in total realized growth, with 2015 and 2019 being the most contrasting years, and an overall more positive growth trend for *B. nana* in comparison to *E. hermaphroditum* (Fig. 3 and Appendix S1: Fig. S7). In general, *B. nana* presented a greater spring increment rate followed by a short period of stem contraction, leading to an overall more strongly pronounced bimodal increment curve.

In accordance with the species physiological distinctions, we observed slight variations in growth start and end, with *E. hermaphroditum* starting growth earlier in most years (Appendix S1: Fig. S8). As an evergreen species, *E. hermaphroditum* is not restricted by leaf-forming processes in spring and can invest in radial stem growth earlier. As expected, growth in both species was significantly related to the duration of growth and recovery, with growth in *B. nana* showing slightly stronger dependency to duration (R = 0.85, P < 0.001) than *E. hermaphroditum* (R = 0.52, P < 0.001). Year-to-year variation in growth, as well as growth response to environmental parameters, was high for both species.

During the meteorological winter months, variation in both species was characterized by a very clear phase of radial stem contraction (shrinking; Fig. 3). This shrinking phase usually started in September or October and lasted until the following spring, with remarkably little variation between the two species (Appendix S1: Fig. S8). It was characterized by short alterations in stem radius, directly linked to thawing and freezing conditions, indicating a strong influence of soil moisture availability on stem diameter during those months (Appendix S1: Fig. S9). However, the shrinking phase was not present in all individual specimens, and its absence was usually followed by dormancy or prolonged radial stem shrinking of the affected specimen during the following years (Appendix S1: Fig. S10), indicating an important role in mitigating the effects of low winter temperatures, which would otherwise inhibit further growth during the following growing season. In turn, these dormant years led to high inter-specimen variation in both species, the overall proportion of dormant years being 31% for B. nana and 48% for E. hermaphroditum. Here, it is important to note that such years of absent or negative stem change did not correspond in the two species and while stem shrinking followed similar patterns, correlation analysis revealed fundamental differences in micro-environmental controls. The moving window correlation (Fig. 4) showed shrinking in both species related to thermal conditions (TSZ and TRZ), yet, while B. nana responds with less shrinking to overall warmer conditions, E. hermaphroditum succeeds at higher temperatures with higher shrinking rates. This indicates that while both species are clearly compelled to actively reduce stem radius to mitigate the negative effects of extreme winter conditions, the underlying physiological mechanism differs. This distinction leads to an overall negative response to warming conditions in E. hermaphroditum and a contrasting positive response in B. nana.

On the contrary, our correlation analysis revealed a negative growth response of *B. nana* to high late summer temperatures and radiation (Figs. 4 and 5), evident in the years 2018 and 2019, which were characterized by comparatively warm summers. In contrast, in 2015, in which we measured the lowest summer temperatures, we found a more positive temperaturegrowth relation for both species, and, in the intermediate years 2016 and 2017, *B. nana* showed no clear dependency on summer and

spring temperatures, responding positively to wet conditions characterized by high soil moisand low radiation input instead ture (Appendix S1: Fig. S11). This indicates that raising summer temperatures and increasing summer radiation might affect B. nana negatively (Appendix S1: Fig. S11). PLSR results (Figs. 6 and 7) support those findings, indicating a negative influence of high summer soil temperatures, with B. nana being negatively affected by root zone temperatures exceeding 10°C. For E. hermaphroditum, we were able to identify a significant optimum range of root zone temperatures $(7^{\circ}-8^{\circ}C)$, but higher temperatures $(11^{\circ}-12^{\circ}C)$ had a negative effect as well.

Still, regarding climate-growth relations over all five monitored years, one of the clearest findings was a strongly contrasting response to winter conditions between the species (Figs. 4 and 5). E. hermaphroditum showed a clear positive growth response to unfavorable conditions during December to March, with low soil moisture content (indicating frozen ground and a lack of snow cover) and temperatures. In contrast, growth in B. nana was promoted by snowy winters, characterized by high soil moisture content low global radiation (Fig. 5 and and Appendix S1: Fig. S12). PLSR results strongly support those findings, marking low winter shoot zone temperatures as the most influential parameter in determining growth (Fig. 6), with the effects highly variable between species. Additionally, effects of winter warming might be slightly enhanced by relations to conditions during the following summer, which in turn might affect growth. We found mean winter temperatures and mean temperatures during the following summer significantly related throughout our studied period, although the relation was not very strong (TSZ, R = 0.29, P <0.001, TRZ, R = 0.31, P < 0.001). The years 2015 and 2019, which showed the highest contrast in annual temperature regime (Appendix S1: Fig. S1), clearly demonstrated the strong negative effects of a long winter with late spring temperature increase on B. nana, as evident in 2015. Contrasting, our findings from 2019 highlight the negative sensitivity of E. hermaphrodi*tum* to temperatures rising early, followed by severe cold spells in spring and early summer (Fig. 3).

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

DOBBERT ET AL.



Fig. 3. Averaged annual stem diameter variations (± 1 SE) relative to previous years maximum (B-G) and

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org

(Fig. 3. Continued)

stem diameter change relative to the start of the measuring period (A). Straight lines (dashed) represent linear trends. Gaps are caused by removed outliers. Measuring started in September 2014 and the measured changes in 2014 are therefore included (B), relative to the start of the measuring period. Transparency indicates standard deviation of all measured specimens.

DISCUSSION

Dendroecological meaningful aboveground stem diameter curves can successfully be derived from both *B. nana* and *E. hermaphroditum* using high-precision dendrometers. In addition to annual growth characteristics measured by traditional methods (e.g., Bär et al. 2006, 2007, Macias-Fauria et al. 2012, Shetti et al. 2018, Le Moullec et al. 2019), we were thus able to directly track stem diameter changes on a daily time-scale. Net stem diameter change in woody plants is thought to represent the sum of expansion/shrinkage of living cells due to changes in turgor pressure and expansion/ shrinking of xylem due to changes in xylem water tension (Lintunen et al. 2016, Lindfors et al. 2019). In most years, our focal species presented a phase of irreversible stem increment (usually associated with cambial activity, including cell enlargement and cell division, Rossi et al. 2008, Drew et al. 2010, Steppe et al. 2015, Zweifel 2016) during the summer months. This phase was missing in individual specimens, indicating reduced or inhibited cambial activity during those years, most likely caused by the extreme



Fig. 4. Mow correlation for daily stem diameter change as shown in Fig. 2 and daily measurements of environmental data. Moving window correlations were performed for window widths ranging from 3 to 180 days (right-aligned), revealing temporal patterns of radial stem change and microenvironment relations. Additionally, radial stem change is indicated by the red line for direct comparison.

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org



Fig. 5. Pearson's correlation coefficients calculated between total annual growth as derived from the

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

(Fig. 5. Continued)

dendrometer curves and daily environmental data, measured at the individual sites. Transparency indicates non significance. Abbreviations of months from the previous year are in lowercase letters and those of the current year are given in capitals.

growing conditions and cold stress experienced at the studied sites (Wilmking et al. 2012). Throughout the rest of the year, most of our specimens showed very strongly pronounced reversible expansion/shrinkage, which can be attributed to underlying changes in water relations (distribution of water and water potential gradients between different compartments and parts of the plant, Lindfors et al. 2019). In this context, both *B. nana* and *E. hermaphroditum* showed short-term variations in stem radius, directly linked to fluctuations in soil moisture and

П

spring summer autumn in winter

Root zone temperature

R nana



Û 0.5 Ш П H 11 Explained variance (from selectivity ratio, smoothed) 0.0 -0.5 П I. 20 -20 -10 0 10 E. hermaphroditum 0.5 0.0 -0.5 11

Fig. 6. Pearson's correlation coefficients calculated between total annual growth as derived from the dendrometer curves and daily environmental data, measured at the individual sites. Transparency indicates non significance. Abbreviations of months from the previous year are in lowercase letters and those of the current year are given in capitals.

Fig. 7. Smoothed variance explained derived from selectivity ratio multiplied with the sign of its corresponding regression coefficient for shoot zone temperature (Tsz, independent variables) and total annual growth (dependent variable), derived from PLSR analysis. Shaded areas represent values rendered significant (P < 0.05). Colors represent seasons.

0

10

-10

-20

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org

August 2021 🛠 Volume 12(8) 🛠 Article e03688

20

temperature, as well as a longer-term phase of stem shrinking which lasted throughout the winter months and can be interpreted as a form of protection from frost damage (Schott and Roth-Nebelsick 2018). In cold-climate ecosystems, effects of freezing and ice encasement have proven to be highly influential in trees (Lindfors et al. 2019) and in shrubs (Preece and Phoenix 2014, Milner et al. 2016). In general, it is believed that shrubs resist freezing damage by snow protection during the coldest part of the year (Körner 2012, Blok et al. 2015, González et al. 2019). As snow is sparse at our studied sites, there is a strong need for additional frost protection through physiological adaptation. Our results suggest that living cells of both B. nana as well as E. hermaphroditum are able to resist the effects of frost, possibly through actively reducing cell water content to avoid frost-induced cavitations, which may occur when xylem sap freezes and dissolved gases create air bubbles in the wider conduits (Fonti et al. 2010). Such dehydration processes, alongside ice nucleation and ice forming in the apoplast causing additional dehydration stress, have shown to lead to xylem diameter shrinkage in other woody plants, mainly through a reduced water potential (ψ ; Zweifel and Häsler 2000, Améglio et al. 2001, Charra-Vaskou et al. 2016, Lintunen et al. 2016, Lindfors et al. 2019). Additionally, vessel size and anatomy might play a role here. In general, narrow vessels embolize less readily than wide ones, while bigger vessels allow for higher rates of photosynthesis and growth (Gorsuch et al. 2001). Thus, the narrow mean vessel diameter characteristic of E. hermaphroditum can be interpreted as a form of adaption to the extreme environments (Carlquist and Zona 1988). As a study by Nielsen et al. (2017) showed, B. nana can actively alter vessel lumen in response to environmental conditions, potentially increasing freezing resistance. Similar strategies have yet to be studied for *E. hermaphroditum*.

In general, the importance of the adaptive mechanisms described above is highlighted by the fact that the observed winter shrinking was missing in individual specimens, causing them to cease radial growth in the following years indicating a direct inhibiting influence on cambial activity (Wilmking et al. 2012). Overall, the growth and response patterns observed at the sampled ridge positions confirm that both *E. hermaphroditum* and *B. nana* might be able to adjust key xylem anatomical traits to annual fluctuations in micro-climatic conditions in order to optimize their total radial stem growth rate and avoid negative effects of extreme winter conditions.

However, even though the importance of unfavorable winter conditions is highlighted by our findings, their effects on total realized growth have shown to be highly contrasting in our focal species. In the context of future climate change, this is particularly important as temperature increase at high latitudes is expected to be higher during winter, and there are more extreme events expected during winters, including unseasonal warm periods, ground ice formation, and loss of snow cover (Post et al. 2009, Seneviratne et al. 2012, Vikhamar-Schuler et al. 2016). At our studied wind-blown ridge positions, characterized by shallow snow cover and consequent low winter temperatures, pronounced temperature amplitudes, and high year-to-year variability in winter, future changes in (micro-)environmental conditions might differ and are hard to predict (Löffler et al. 2006, Wundram et al. 2010). In recent years, there have been several studies recognizing the importance of winter warming on dwarf shrub development in addition to growing season conditions, which have long been the focus. Though there is no consensus regarding direction and magnitude of the effects, they generally agree that the response is highly speciesspecific (Bokhorst et al. 2010, Cooper 2014, Blok et al. 2015, Hollesen et al. 2015, Krab et al. 2018, González et al. 2019). In our focal species, this is evident by the highly contrasting response to winter conditions. Both B. nana and E. *hermaphroditum* are able to mitigate the effects of extreme negative temperatures, but only E. *hermaphroditum* shows a strong positive response to those conditions, benefiting from prolonged snow-free periods. This suggests that in contrast to deciduous species, E. hermaphroditum is able to continue photosynthetic activity and remain energetically effective in synthesizing carbohydrates during at least parts of the winter months (Gimeno et al. 2012, Wyka and Oleksyn 2014, Löffler and Pape 2020). While nutrition uptake and soil moisture access are extremely limited during those times, high global radiation can lead

photosynthetic to additional opportunities (Körner 2015, Saccone et al. 2017). However, this implies that E. hermaphroditum has to sustain water transport to the canopy to some extent, risking cavitation in the xylem (Sperry 2003, Fonti et al. 2010, Bowling et al. 2018). Thus, we suggest that the negative relation found between winter shrinkage in *E. hermaphroditum* and temperatures is caused by this need for water transport in order to remain photosynthetically active in cold winters with high global radiation and little snow cover, consequently risking frost damage, evident in the high rate of dormant years. With this highly localized advantage over deciduous species such as B. nana, E. hermaphroditum is able to start growth activity as soon as liquid water is available in the root zone, and to acquire nitrogen early in the season (Bråthen et al. 2018), leading to a slightly earlier growth start. However, this phase of early growth is highly critical (Fonti et al. 2007, 2010), and Venn and Green (2018) found evergreen alpine shrub species strongly affected by freezing events very early in spring, before they become frost-hardened after snowmelt. This could explain the low growth rates found in E. *hermaphroditum* in 2019, a year characterized by such spring conditions. In contrast, B. nana might benefit from warmer winters, with increased nutrition availability (Sturm et al. 2005, Hagedorn et al. 2014) and high soil moisture content, indicating pronounced snow cover, and early snowmelt that allows the soils to drain and warm quicker and the flowering and leaf-forming processes to start earlier (Pop et al. 2000, Hollesen et al. 2015). Therefore, we found B. nana highly sensitive to prolonged snow cover and late temperature rise as was the case in 2015. Early snowmelt, evident in high soil moisture content during spring, on the contrary had a positive effect on *B*. nana growth. Such links between snow cover and shrub growth have been suggested before (Hallinger et al. 2010, Blok et al. 2015).

While the effects of winter conditions on shrub growth have only recently been addressed, summer conditions have long been recognized as a driver of radial growth, with most studies reporting positive effects (Bär et al. 2008, Elmendorf et al. 2012, Myers-Smith et al. 2015, Young et al. 2016, Weijers et al. 2018), and negative effects found in a few areas only (Myers-Smith et al. 2015, Young et al. 2016, Gamm et al. 2018),

which were recently linked to soil moisture limitations (Buchwal et al. 2020). In years with comparatively short, cold summers, our results confirm summer temperatures as a driver of growth for both B. nana and E. hermaphroditum. On the contrary, in years with relatively warm summers, which dominated our study period, temperature-growth relations lost their significance and we found optimum summer temperatures in both species at our studied sites lower than the thermal niches previously identified by Löffler and Pape (2020) suggest (below a threshold of approximately 10°C). Additionally, our PLSR results suggest a thermal limitation of growth that arises from unconventionally high root zone temperatures in summer (Fig. 7). Those effects are most likely unique to the exposed positions we have studied, as it was not found in previous studies (e.g., Hollesen et al. 2015, Nielsen et al. 2017, Löffler and Pape 2020). Possible causes are interactions of temperature and moisture regimes, and the specific topography at the studied positions, as well as long-term adaption to the cooler alpine environment meeting unusually warm summers in recent years (IPCC 2014, Post et al. 2019). This corresponds well with recent findings by Gamm et al. (2018) and Buchwal et al. (2020), suggesting negative effects of rapid warming on B. nana, directly linked to soil moisture limitation. Yet, even though we found high summer temperatures a limiting factor to total annual growth, B. nana also responded positively to a prolonged growing season caused by raising summer temperatures, as found in our study and others (Pop et al. 2000, Li et al. 2016). The total effects of summer warming are therefore highly complex.

CONCLUSION

In contrast to several studies from past years (Bär et al. 2008, Meinardus et al. 2011, Dumais et al. 2014), we found both species highly adapted to local extreme environmental conditions throughout the year, but no clear dependency of radial stem growth on governing elevational or regional climatic signals. We can thus confirm findings that suggest a high sensitivity of growth patterns to topographic heterogeneity (Ropars et al. 2015, 2017, Young et al.

2016, Nielsen et al. 2017), which overrides governing regional climate signals (Pape and Löffler 2016, 2017). In terms of coping with climate changes, the high adaptability found in both species can be interpreted as an indicator for high phenotypic plasticity evolved in response to the high micro-environmental heterogeneity of the region. This might provide a crucial advantage, possibly allowing the species to persist locally in a changing environment (Turcotte and Levine 2016, Pfennigwerth et al. 2017, Graae et al. 2018). However, the extent of phenotypic plasticity can be limited by ecological and evolutionary constraints (Valladares et al. 2007, Henn et al. 2018), and our results suggest the existence of a thermal threshold restricting the cold-adapted arctic-alpine species in terms of rising summer temperatures. Additionally, even though both species evidently developed distinct coping mechanisms in response to extreme conditions, speciesspecific responses differed a great deal, indicating a crucial role of interspecific interactions and competition in future community-level changes. Overall, our findings suggest a long-term positive growth response of *B. nana* to warming conditions and emphasize the importance of winter warming and growing season length in this process. This is in accordance with findings by Hollesen et al. (2015) and Nielsen et al. (2017). Thus, our results support the hypothesis of warming conditions leading to a possible dominancy of B. nana (Bret-Harte et al. 2001, Deslippe et al. 2011, Deslippe et al. 2011, Henry et al. 2012) at exposed positions, where evergreen species like E. hermaphroditum currently rely on their ability to benefit from cold, snow-free winters by continued photosynthetic activity. However, our findings also point to possible difficulties of both focal species to adapt to warming summer conditions, which will increase the complexity of future changes. Additional longterm monitoring and examination of specimens from different topographic positions and from different species are therefore of crucial importance in understanding climate-growth relations and the direction of such changes. Overall, our results highlight the importance and complexity of seasonal effects on tundra shrub growth and confirm a possible advantage of deciduous over evergreen species, leading to the greening trend observed across arctic-alpine regions (Tape et al. 2006, Gough et al. 2012).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Niklas Beckers, Elise Dierking, Nils Hein, Stef Weijers, and Dirk Wundram for collaboration within our LTAER project, Ole Øvsteng and Anders Svare for hospitality, and both the landowners and Norwegian authorities (Vågå and Stranda municipalities) for overall support. Parts of this study were supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) (grants LO 830/16-1, LO 830/32-1).

LITERATURE CITED

- Abbott, B. W., et al. 2016. Biomass offsets little or none of permafrost carbon release from soils, streams, and wildfire: an expert assessment. Environmental Research Letters 11:34014.
- Abdi, H. 2010. Partial least squares regression and projection on latent structure regression (PLS Regression). WIREs Computational Statistics 2:97– 106.
- Ackermann, D., D. Griffin, S. E. Hobbie, and J. Finlay. 2017. Arctic shrub growth trajectories differ across soil moisture levels. Global Change Biology 23:4294–4302.
- Alday, J. G., J. J. Camarero, J. Revilla, and V. Resco de Dios. 2020. Similar diurnal, seasonal and annual rhythms in radial root expansion across two coexisting Mediterranean oak species. Tree Physiology 40:956–968.
- Améglio, T., F. W. Ewers, H. Cochard, M. Martignac, M. Vandame, C. Bodet, and P. Cruiziat. 2001. Winter stem xylem pressure in walnut trees: effects of carbohydrates, cooling and freezing. Tree Physiology 21:387–394.
- Andrews, J. T., W. N. Mode, P. J. Webber, G. H. Miller, and J. D. Jacobs. 1980. Report on the Distribution of Dwarf Birches and Present Pollen Rain, Baffin Island, N.W.T., Canada. Arctic 33:50– 58.
- Aune, B. 1993. National atlas of Norway: climate. Norwegian Mapping Authority, Hønefoss, Norway.
- Bär, A., A. Bräuning, and J. Löffler. 2006. Dendroecology of dwarf shrubs in the high mountains of Norway – A methodological approach. Dendrochronologia 24:17–27.
- Bär, A., A. Bräuning, and J. Löffler. 2007. Ring-width chronologies of the alpine dwarf shrub Empetrum hermaphroditum from the Norwegian mountains. IAWA Journal 28:325–338.
- Bär, A., R. Pape, A. Bräuning, and J. Löffler. 2008. Growth-ring variations of dwarf shrubs reflect regional climate signals in alpine environments rather than topoclimatic differences. Journal of Biogeography 35:625–636.

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

- Bates, D., M. Mächler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker. 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67:1–48.
- Becker, R. A., A. R. Wilks, R. Brownrigg, T. P. Minka, and A. Deckmyn. 2018. maps: draw Geographical Maps. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=maps
- Beckers, N., N. Hein, A. Anneser, K. A. Vanselow, and J. Löffler. 2020. Differences in mobility and dispersal capacity determine body size clines in two common alpine-tundra arthropods. Insects 11:74.
- Bell, J. N. B., and J. H. Tallis. 1973. *Empetrum nigrum* L. Journal of Ecology 61:289.
- Berner, L. T., et al. 2020. Summer warming explains widespread but not uniform greening in the Arctic tundra biome. Nature Communications 11:4621.
- Bhatt, U., D. Walker, M. Raynolds, P. Bieniek, H. Epstein, J. Comiso, J. Pinzon, C. Tucker, and I. Polyakov. 2013. Recent declines in warming and vegetation greening trends over pan-Arctic tundra. Remote Sensing 5:4229–4254.
- Bjorkman, A. D., et al. 2020. Status and trends in Arctic vegetation: evidence from experimental warming and long-term monitoring. Ambio 49:678–692.
- Blok, D., U. Sass-Klaassen, G. Schaepman-Strub, M. M. P. D. Heijmans, P. Sauren, and F. Berendse. 2011. What are the main climate drivers for shrub growth in Northeastern Siberian tundra? Biogeosciences Discussions 8:771–799.
- Blok, D., S. Weijers, J. M. Welker, E. J. Cooper, A. Michelsen, J. Löffler, and B. Elberling. 2015. Deepened winter snow increases stem growth and alters stem δ13 C and δ15 N in evergreen dwarf shrub *Cassiope tetragona* in high-arctic Svalbard tundra. Environmental Research Letters 10:44008.
- Bokhorst, S., J. W. Bjerke, M. P. Davey, K. Taulavuori, E. Taulavuori, K. Laine, T. V. Callaghan, and G. K. Phoenix. 2010. Impacts of extreme winter warming events on plant physiology in a sub-Arctic heath community. Physiologia Plantarum 140:128–140.
- Bowling, D. R., B. A. Logan, K. Hufkens, D. M. Aubrecht, A. D. Richardson, S. P. Burns, W. R. L. Anderegg, P. Blanken, and D. Eiriksson. 2018. Limitations to winter and spring photosynthesis of a Rocky Mountain subalpine forest. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 252:241–255.
- Bråthen, K. A., V. T. Gonzalez, and N. G. Yoccoz. 2018. Gatekeepers to the effects of climate warming? Niche construction restricts plant community changes along a temperature gradient. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 30:71– 81.
- Bret-Harte, M. S., G. R. Shaver, J. P. Zoerner, J. F. Johnstone, J. L. Wagner, A. S. Chavez, R. F. Gunkelman, S. C. Lippert, and J. A. Laundre. 2001.

Developmental plasticity allows *Betula nana* to dominate tundra subjected to an altered environment. Ecology 82:18–32.

- Buchwal, A., et al. 2020. Divergence of Arctic shrub growth associated with sea ice decline. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 117:33334–33344.
- Büntgen, U., L. Hellmann, W. Tegel, S. Normand, I. Myers-Smith, A. V. Kirdyanov, D. Nievergelt, and F. H. Schweingruber. 2015. Temperature-induced recruitment pulses of Arctic dwarf shrub communities. Journal of Ecology 103:489–501.
- Chae, Y., S. M. Kang, S.-J. Jeong, B. Kim, and D. M. W. Frierson. 2015. Arctic greening can cause earlier seasonality of Arctic amplification. Geophysical Research Letters 42:536–541.
- Carlquist, S., and S. Zona. 1988. Wood anatomy of Papaveraceae, with comments on vessel restriction patterns. IAWA Journal 9:253–267.
- Carrascal, L. M., I. Galván, and O. Gordo. 2009. Partial least squares regression as an alternative to current regression methods used in ecology. Oikos 118:681–690.
- Chapin, F. S., et al. 2005. Role of land-surface changes in arctic summer warming. Science 310:657–660.
- Charra-Vaskou, K., E. Badel, G. Charrier, A. Ponomarenko, M. Bonhomme, L. Foucat, S. Mayr, and T. Améglio. 2016. Cavitation and water fluxes driven by ice water potential in Juglans regia during freeze-thaw cycles. Journal of Experimental Botany 67:739–750.
- Cocozza, C., C. Palombo, R. Tognetti, N. La Porta, M. Anichini, A. Giovannelli, and G. Emiliani. 2016. Monitoring intra-annual dynamics of wood formation with microcores and dendrometers in Picea abies at two different altitudes. Tree Physiology 36:832–846.
- Cooper, E. J. 2014. Warmer shorter winters disrupt arctic terrestrial ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 45:271–295.
- de Groot, W. J., P. A. Thomas, and R. W. Wein. 1997. Betula nana L. and Betula glandulosa Michx. Journal of Ecology 85:241.
- de Jong, S. 1993. SIMPLS: an alternative approach to partial least squares regression. Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems 18:251–263.
- Deslauriers, A., H. Morin, C. Urbinati, and M. Carrer. 2003. Daily weather response of balsam fir (*Abies balsamea* (L.) Mill.) stem radius increment from dendrometer analysis in the boreal forests of Québec (Canada). Trees 17:477–484.
- Deslippe, J. R., M. Hartmann, W. W. Mohn, and S. W. Simard. 2011. Long-term experimental manipulation of climate alters the ectomycorrhizal

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

community of *Betula nana* in Arctic tundra. Global Change Biology 17:1625–1636.

- Dijkstra, T. 1983. Some comments on maximum likelihood and partial least squares methods. Journal of Econometrics 22:67–90.
- Drew, D. M., G. M. Downes, and M. Battaglia. 2010. CAMBIUM, a process-based model of daily xylem development in Eucalyptus. Journal of Theoretical Biology 264:395–406.
- Duchesne, L., D. Houle, and L. D'Orangeville. 2012. Influence of climate on seasonal patterns of stem increment of balsam fir in a boreal forest of Québec, Canada. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 162–163:108–114.
- Dumais, C., P. Ropars, M.-P. Denis, G. Dufour-Tremblay, and S. Boudreau. 2014. Are low altitude alpine tundra ecosystems under threat? A case study from the Parc National de la Gaspésie, Québec. Environmental Research Letters 9:94001.
- Elmendorf, S. C., et al. 2012. Plot-scale evidence of tundra vegetation change and links to recent summer warming. Nature Climate Change 2:453– 457.
- Epstein, H. E., M. K. Raynolds, D. A. Walker, U. S. Bhatt, C. J. Tucker, and J. E. Pinzon. 2012. Dynamics of aboveground phytomass of the circumpolar Arctic tundra during the past three decades. Environmental Research Letters 7:15506.
- Farrés, M., S. Platikanov, S. Tsakovski, and R. Tauler. 2015. Comparison of the variable importance in projection (VIP) and of the selectivity ratio (SR) methods for variable selection and interpretation. Journal of Chemometrics 29:528–536.
- Fauchald, P., T. Park, H. Tømmervik, R. Myneni, and V. H. Hausner. 2017. Arctic greening from warming promotes declines in caribou populations. Science Advances 3:e1601365.
- Fonti, P., N. Solomonoff, and I. García-González. 2007. Earlywood vessels of Castanea sativa record temperature before their formation. New Phytologist 173:562–570.
- Fonti, P., G. von Arx, I. García-González, B. Eilmann, U. Sass-Klaassen, H. Gärtner, and D. Eckstein. 2010. Studying global change through investigation of the plastic responses of xylem anatomy in tree rings. New Phytologist 185:42–53.
- Forbes, B. C., M. M. Fauria, and P. Zetterberg. 2010. Russian Arctic warming and 'greening' are closely tracked by tundra shrub willows. Global Change Biology 16:1542–1554.
- Francon, L., et al. 2020. Assessing the effects of earlier snow melt-out on alpine shrub growth: the sooner the better? Ecological Indicators 115:106455.
- Fraser, R. H., T. C. Lantz, I. Olthof, S. V. Kokelj, and R. A. Sims. 2014. Warming-Induced Shrub Expansion

and Lichen Decline in the Western Canadian Arctic. Ecosystems 17:1151–1168.

- Frindte, K., R. Pape, K. Werner, J. Löffler, and C. Knief. 2019. Temperature and soil moisture control microbial community composition in an arctic-alpine ecosystem along elevational and micro-topographic gradients. ISME Journal 13:2031–2043.
- Gamm, C. M., P. F. Sullivan, A. Buchwal, R. J. Dial, A. B. Young, D. A. Watts, S. M. P. Cahoon, J. M. Welker, and E. Post. 2018. Declining growth of deciduous shrubs in the warming climate of continental western Greenland. Journal of Ecology 106:640–654.
- Geladi, P., and B. R. Kowalski. 1986. Partial leastsquares regression: a tutorial. Analytica Chimica Acta 185:1–17.
- Gimeno, T. E., J. J. Camarero, E. Granda, B. Pías, and F. Valladares. 2012. Enhanced growth of Juniperus thurifera under a warmer climate is explained by a positive carbon gain under cold and drought. Tree Physiology 32:326–336.
- González, V. T., M. Moriana-Armendariz, S. B. Hagen, B. Lindgård, R. Reiersen, and K. A. Bråthen. 2019. High resistance to climatic variability in a dominant tundra shrub species. PeerJ 7:e6967.
- Gorsuch, D. M., S. F. Oberbauer, and J. B. Fisher. 2001. Comparative vessel anatomy of arctic deciduous and evergreen dicots. American Journal of Botany 88:1643–1649.
- Gough, L., J. C. Moore, G. R. Shaver, R. T. Simpson, and D. R. Johnson. 2012. Above- and belowground responses of Arctic tundra ecosystems to altered soil nutrients and mammalian herbivory. Ecology 93:1683–1694.
- Graae, B. J., et al. 2018. Stay or go how topographic complexity influences alpine plant population and community responses to climate change. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 30:41–50.
- Hagedorn, F., et al. 2014. Treeline advances along the Urals mountain range - driven by improved winter conditions? Global Change Biology 20:3530– 3543.
- Hallinger, M., M. Manthey, and M. Wilmking. 2010. Establishing a missing link: warm summers and winter snow cover promote shrub expansion into alpine tundra in Scandinavia. New Phytologist 186:890–899.
- Hein, N., R. Pape, O.-D. Finch, and J. Löffler. 2014. Alpine activity patterns of *Mitopus morio* (Fabricius, 1779) are induced by variations in temperature and humidity at different scales in central Norway. Journal of Mountain Science 11:644–655.
- Henn, J. J., et al. 2018. Intraspecific trait variation and phenotypic plasticity mediate alpine plant species

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org

response to climate change. Frontiers in Plant Science 9:1548.

- Henry, G. H. R., K. A. Harper, W. Chen, J. R. Deslippe, R. F. Grant, P. M. Lafleur, E. Lévesque, S. D. Siciliano, and S. W. Simard. 2012. Effects of observed and experimental climate change on terrestrial ecosystems in northern Canada: results from the Canadian IPY program. Climatic Change 115:207–234.
- Hollesen, J., A. Buchwal, G. Rachlewicz, B. U. Hansen, M. O. Hansen, O. Stecher, and B. Elberling. 2015. Winter warming as an important co-driver for *Betula nana* growth in western Greenland during the past century. Global Change Biology 21:2410– 2423.
- Ims, R. A., J.-A. Henden, M. A. Strømeng, A. V. Thingnes, M. J. Garmo, and J. U. Jepsen. 2019. Arctic greening and bird nest predation risk across tundra ecotones. Nature Climate Change 9:607–610.
- IPCC. 2014. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva, Swizerland.
- Jia, G. J., H. E. Epstein, and D. A. Walker. 2003. Greening of arctic Alaska, 1981–2001. Geophysical Research Letters 30:2067.
- Joos, F., I. C. Prentice, S. Sitch, R. Meyer, G. Hooss, G.-K. Plattner, S. Gerber, and K. Hasselmann. 2001. Global warming feedbacks on terrestrial carbon uptake under the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Emission Scenarios. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 15:891–907.
- Kartverket, Norwegian Mapping Authority. 2008. Norgeskart, Terrain Map. https://www.norgeskart.no/
- Kleiven, M. 1959. Studies on the xerophile vegetation in northern Gudbrandsdalen, Norway. Nytt Magasin for Botanik 7:1–60.
- Köcher, P., V. Horna, and C. Leuschner. 2012. Environmental control of daily stem growth patterns in five temperate broad-leaved tree species. Tree Physiology 32:1021–1032.
- Körner, C. 2012. Treelines will be understood once the functional difference between a tree and a shrub is. Ambio 41:197–206.
- Körner, C. 2015. Paradigm shift in plant growth control. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 25:107– 114.
- Krab, E. J., J. Roennefarth, M. Becher, G. Blume-Werry, F. Keuper, J. Klaminder, J. Kreyling, K. Makoto, A. Milbau, and E. Dorrepaal. 2018. Winter warming effects on tundra shrub performance are speciesspecific and dependent on spring conditions. Journal of Ecology 106:599–612.
- Kucheryavskiy, S. 2020. mdatools R package for chemometrics. Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems 198:103937.

- Lara, M. J., I. Nitze, G. Grosse, P. Martin, and A. D. McGuire. 2018. Reduced arctic tundra productivity linked with landform and climate change interactions. Scientific Reports 8:2345.
- Le Moullec, M., A. Buchwal, R. Wal, L. Sandal, and B. B. Hansen. 2019. Annual ring growth of a widespread high arctic shrub reflects past fluctuations in community-level plant biomass. Journal of Ecology 107:436–451.
- Li, B., M. M. P. D. Heijmans, F. Berendse, D. Blok, T. Maximov, and U. Sass-Klaassen. 2016. The role of summer precipitation and summer temperature in establishment and growth of dwarf shrub *Betula nana* in northeast Siberian tundra. Polar Biology 39:1245–1255.
- Lindfors, L., J. Atherton, A. Riikonen, and T. Hölttä. 2019. A mechanistic model of winter stem diameter dynamics reveals the time constant of diameter changes and the elastic modulus across tissues and species. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 272– 273:20–29.
- Lintunen, A., et al. 2016. Osmolality and non-structural carbohydrate composition in the secondary phloem of trees across a latitudinal gradient in Europe. Frontiers in Plant Science 7:726.
- Liu, X., Y. Nie, and F. Wen. 2018. Seasonal Dynamics of Stem Radial Increment of Pinus taiwanensis Hayata and Its Response to Environmental Factors in the Lushan Mountains, Southeastern China. Forests 9:387.
- Löffler, J. 2003. Micro-climatic determination of vegetation patterns along topographical, altitudinal, and oceanic-continental gradients in the high mountains of Norway. Erdkunde 57:232–249.
- Löffler, J. 2005. Snow cover dynamics, soil moisture variability and vegetation ecology in high mountain catchments of central Norway. Hydrological Processes 19:2385–2405.
- Löffler, J. 2007. The influence of micro-climate, snow cover, and soil moisture on ecosystem functioning in high mountains. Journal of Geographical Sciences 17:3–19.
- Löffler, J., and O.-D. Finch. 2005. Spatio-temporal gradients between high mountain ecosystems of central Norway. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 37:499–513.
- Löffler, J., and R. Pape. 2020. Thermal niche predictors of alpine plant species. Ecology 101:e02891.
- Löffler, J., S. Dobbert, R. Pape, and D. Wundram. 2021. Dendrometer measurements of arctic-alpine dwarf shrubs and micro-environmental drivers of plant growth - Dataset from long-term alpine ecosystem research in central Norway. Erdkunde 75:dp01.
- Löffler, J., R. Pape, and D. Wundram. 2006. The climatologic significance of topography, altitude and

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org

region in high mountains – A survey of oceaniccontinental differentiations of the Scandes. Erdkunde 60:15–24.

- Macias-Fauria, M., B. C. Forbes, P. Zetterberg, and T. Kumpula. 2012. Eurasian Arctic greening reveals teleconnections and the potential for structurally novel ecosystems. Nature Climate Change 2:613–618.
- Macias-Fauria, M., P. Jepson, N. Zimov, and Y. Malhi. 2020. Pleistocene Arctic megafaunal ecological engineering as a natural climate solution? Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London: Series B, Biological Sciences 375:20190122.
- Martens, H., and T. Næs. 1989. Multivariate calibration. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK. ISBN 0471930474.
- Martin, A. C., E. S. Jeffers, G. Petrokofsky, I. Myers-Smith, and M. Macias-Fauria. 2017. Shrub growth and expansion in the Arctic tundra: an assessment of controlling factors using an evidence-based approach. Environmental Research Letters 12:85007.
- Mehmood, T., K. H. Liland, L. Snipen, and S. Sæbø. 2012. A review of variable selection methods in Partial Least Squares Regression. Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems 118:62–69.
- Meinardus, C., B. Weinert, J. Löffler, A. Lundberg, and A. Bräuning. 2011. The potential of the dwarf shrub *Betula nana* L. as a climate indicator above the tree line in the southern Norwegian Scandes. TRACE 9:181–186.
- Milner, J. M., Ø. Varpe, R. van der Wal, and B. B. Hansen. 2016. Experimental icing affects growth, mortality, and flowering in a high Arctic dwarf shrub. Ecology and Evolution 6:2139–2148.
- Mishra, U., and W. J. Riley. 2012. Alaskan soil carbon stocks: spatial variability and dependence on environmental factors. Biogeosciences 9:3637–3645.
- Moen, A., and A. Lillethun. 1999. National atlas of Norway: vegetation. Norwegian Mapping Authority, Hønefoss, Norway.
- Myers-Smith, I. H., et al. 2011. Shrub expansion in tundra ecosystems: dynamics, impacts and research priorities. Environmental Research Letters 6:45509.
- Myers-Smith, I. H., et al. 2015. Climate sensitivity of shrub growth across the tundra biome. Nature Climate Change 5:887–891.
- Myers-Smith, I. H., et al. 2020. Complexity revealed in the greening of the Arctic. Nature Climate Change 10:106–117.
- Myneni, R. B., C. D. Keeling, C. J. Tucker, G. Asrar, and R. R. Nemani. 1997. Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991. Nature 386:698–702.

- Nielsen, S. S., G. V. Arx, C. F. Damgaard, J. Abermann, A. Buchwal, U. Büntgen, U. A. Treier, A. S. Barfod, and S. Normand. 2017. Xylem anatomical trait variability provides insight on the climate-growth relationship of Betula nana in western Greenland. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 49:359–371.
- Ögren, E. 2001. Effects of climatic warming on cold hardiness of some northern woody plants assessed from simulation experiments. Physiologia Plantarum 112:71–77.
- Pape, R., and J. Löffler. 2016. Broad-scale assumptions on available pasture resources and reindeer's habitat preferences shown to be decoupled from ecological reality of arctic-alpine landscapes. Erdkunde 70:169–192.
- Pape, R., and J. Löffler. 2017. Determinants of arcticalpine pasture resources—The need for a spatially and functionally fine-scaled perspective. Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography 99:353–370.
- Pfennigwerth, A. A., J. K. Bailey, and J. A. Schweitzer. 2017. Trait variation along elevation gradients in a dominant woody shrub is population-specific and driven by plasticity. AoB Plants 9:plx027.
- Phoenix, G. K., and J. W. Bjerke. 2016. Arctic browning: extreme events and trends reversing arctic greening. Global Change Biology 22:2960–2962.
- Pop, E. W., S. F. Oberbauer, and G. Starr. 2000. Predicting vegetative bud break in two arctic deciduous shrub species, *Salix pulchra* and *Betula nana*. Oecologia 124:176–184.
- Post, E., et al. 2009. Ecological dynamics across the Arctic associated with recent climate change. Science 325:1355–1358.
- Post, E., et al. 2019. The polar regions in a 2°C warmer world. Science. Advances 5:eaaw9883.
- Preece, C., and G. K. Phoenix. 2014. Impact of early and late winter icing events on sub-arctic dwarf shrubs. Plant Biology 16:125–132.
- R Core Team. 2020. R: a Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.Rproject.org/
- Rajalahti, T., R. Arneberg, A. C. Kroksveen, M. Berle, K.-M. Myhr, and O. M. Kvalheim. 2009. Discriminating variable test and selectivity ratio plot: quantitative tools for interpretation and variable (biomarker) selection in complex spectral or chromatographic profiles. Analytical Chemistry 81:2581–2590.
- Ropars, P., S. Angers-Blondin, M. Gagnon, I. H. Myers-Smith, E. Lévesque, and S. Boudreau. 2017. Different parts, different stories: climate sensitivity of growth is stronger in root collars vs. stems in tundra shrubs. Global Change Biology 23:3281–3291.

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

- Ropars, P., E. Lévesque, and S. Boudreau. 2015. How do climate and topography influence the greening of the forest-tundra ecotone in northern Québec? A dendrochronological analysis of *Betula glandulosa*. Journal of Ecology 103:679–690.
- Rossi, S., A. Deslauriers, J. Griçar, J.-W. Seo, C. B. K. Rathgeber, T. Anfodillo, H. Morin, T. Levanic, P. Oven, and R. Jalkanen. 2008. Critical temperatures for xylogenesis in conifers of cold climates. Global Ecology and Biogeography 17:696–707.
- Saccone, P., K. Hoikka, and R. Virtanen. 2017. What if plant functional types conceal species-specific responses to environment? Study on arctic shrub communities. Ecology 98:1600–1612.
- Schott, R. T., and A. Roth-Nebelsick. 2018. Ice nucleation in stems of trees and shrubs with different frost resistance. IAWA Journal 39:177–190.
- Schuur, E. A. G., et al. 2013. Expert assessment of vulnerability of permafrost carbon to climate change. Climatic Change 119:359–374.
- Schuur, E. A. G., et al. 2015. Climate change and the permafrost carbon feedback. Nature 520:171– 179.
- Seneviratne, S., et al. 2012. Changes in climate extremes and their impacts on the natural physical environment. Pages 109–230 *in* C. B. Field, et al., editor, Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Serreze, M. C., and J. A. Francis. 2006. The Arctic amplification debate. Climatic Change 76:241–264.
- Shetti, R. 2018. Methods in shrub dendro-ecology: Understanding the processes influencing shrub growth in the Arctic and Alpine ecosystems. PhD-Thesis. Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Fakultät, Greifswald, Germany.
- Sperry, J. S. 2003. Evolution of water transport and xylem structure. International Journal of Plant Sciences 164:115–127.
- Steppe, K., F. Sterck, and A. Deslauriers. 2015. Diel growth dynamics in tree stems: linking anatomy and ecophysiology. Trends in Plant Science 20:335– 343.
- Sturm, M., J. Schimel, G. Michaelson, J. M. Welker, S. F. Oberbauer, G. E. Liston, J. Fahnestock, and V. E. Romanovsky. 2005. Winter Biological Processes Could Help Convert Arctic Tundra to Shrubland. BioScience 55:17.
- Stushnoff, C., and O. Junttila. 1986. Seasonal development of cold stress resistance in several plant species at a coastal and a continental location in North Norway. Polar Biology 5:129–133.

- Tape, K. E. N., M. Sturm, and C. Racine. 2006. The evidence for shrub expansion in Northern Alaska and the Pan-Arctic. Global Change Biology 12:686–702.
- Turcotte, M. M., and J. M. Levine. 2016. Phenotypic plasticity and species coexistence. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 31:803–813.
- Valladares, F., E. Gianoli, and J. M. Gómez. 2007. Ecological limits to plant phenotypic plasticity. New Phytologist 176:749–763.
- van der Maaten, E., M. van der Maaten-Theunissen, M. Smiljanić, S. Rossi, S. Simard, M. Wilmking, A. Deslauriers, P. Fonti, G. von Arx, and O. Bouriaud. 2016. dendrometeR: Analyzing the pulse of trees in R. Dendrochronologia 40:12–16.
- Venn, S. E., and K. Green. 2018. Evergreen alpine shrubs have high freezing resistance in spring, irrespective of snowmelt timing and exposure to frost: an investigation from the Snowy Mountains, Australia. Plant Ecology 219:209–216.
- Vikhamar-Schuler, D., K. Isaksen, J. E. Haugen, H. Tømmervik, B. Luks, T. V. Schuler, and J. W. Bjerke. 2016. Changes in winter warming events in the nordic Arctic region. Journal of Climate 29:6223–6244.
- Vinzi, E. V. 2010. Handbook of partial least squares. Concepts, methods and applications. Springer, Berlin, Germany and London, UK.
- Weijers, S., R. Pape, J. Löffler, and I. H. Myers-Smith. 2018. Contrasting shrub species respond to early summer temperatures leading to correspondence of shrub growth patterns. Environmental Research Letters 13:34005.
- Wilmking, M., M. Hallinger, R. Van Bogaert, T. Kyncl, F. Babst, W. Hahne, G. p. Juday, M. de Luis, K. Novak, and C. Völlm. 2012. Continuously missing outer rings in woody plants at their distributional margins. Dendrochronologia 30:213–222.
- Wold, H. 1975. Soft modelling by latent variables: The Non-Linear Iterative Partial Least Squares (NIPALS) approach. Journal of Applied Probability 12:117–142.
- Wold, H. 1980. Evaluation of econometric models. Academic Press, New York, USA.
- Wold, S. 1978. Cross-validatory estimation of the number of components in factor and principal components models. Technometrics 20:397–405.
- Wundram, D., R. Pape, and J. Löffler. 2010. Alpine soil temperature variability at multiple scales. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 42:117–128.
- Wyka, T. P., and J. Oleksyn. 2014. Photosynthetic ecophysiology of evergreen leaves in the woody angiosperms – a review. Dendrobiology 72:3–27.
- Young, A. B., D. A. Watts, A. H. Taylor, and E. Post. 2016. Species and site differences influence climateshrub growth responses in West Greenland. Dendrochronologia 37:69–78.

ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org

- Zhang, W., P. A. Miller, C. Jansson, P. Samuelsson, J. Mao, and B. Smith. 2018. Self-Amplifying feedbacks accelerate greening and warming of the Arctic. Geophysical Research Letters 45:7102–7111.
- Zweifel, R. 2016. Radial stem variations a source of tree physiological information not fully exploited yet. Plant, Cell and Environment 39:231–232.
- Zweifel, R., D. M. Drew, F. Schweingruber, and G. M. Downes. 2014. Xylem as the main origin of stem

radius changes in Eucalyptus. Functional Plant Biology 41:213–222.

- Zweifel, R., and R. Häsler. 2000. Frost-induced reversible shrinkage of bark of mature subalpine conifers. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 102:213–222.
- Zwieback, S., Q. Chang, P. Marsh, and A. Berg. 2019. Shrub tundra ecohydrology: rainfall interception is a major component of the water balance. Environmental Research Letters 14:55005.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data are available from Erdkunde: Archive for Scientific Geography: https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2021. dp.01.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional Supporting Information may be found online at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ecs2. 3688/full

7 How does spatial heterogeneity affect inter- and intraspecific growth patterns in tundra shrubs?

DOBBERT, S.; PAPE, R.; LÖFFLER, J. (2021): How does spatial heterogeneity affect inter- and intraspecific growth patterns in tundra shrubs? J Ecol 109 (12), p. 4115–4131. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.13784.

Abstract

Arctic and alpine ecosystems are strongly affected by rapidly changing environmental conditions, resulting in profound vegetation shifts, which are highly heterogeneous and hard to predict, yet have strong global impacts. Shrubs have been identified as a key driver of these shifts. In this study, we aim to improve the understanding of how such broad-scale vegetation changes are locally impacted by inter- and intraspecific plasticity and topographically driven heterogeneity in microsite conditions.

We assessed continuous stem diameter variation of three dominant tundra shrub species at daily resolution during 5 years, using high-precision dendrometers, thus bridging the gap between classical dendroecology and plant physiology. From this data, we identified distinct growth patterns which we linked to microsite environmental drivers.

The observed patterns appeared highly variable depending on site and species, strongly influenced by characteristics of the individual plant. As the main driver of this variability, we identified fine-scale topographic complexity, causing the sampled specimens to adjust locally by developing distinct growth strategies. We found these strategies strongly related to snow-cover variation and associated freezing and thawing. Predicted changes in winter conditions and associated snow regimes will therefore have strong effects on shrub growth and community structure, yet, these effects are highly complex and not uniform in direction.

Synthesis. The ability to adapt in a heterogeneous environment appeared highly differentiated between species and closely connected to intraspecific plasticity. Here, we identified spatial variability related to local topography as a main indicator for potential future redistribution and niche shifts in response to environmental change.

97

DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.13784

1

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Journal of Ecology

How does spatial heterogeneity affect inter- and intraspecific growth patterns in tundra shrubs?

Svenja Dobbert¹ | Roland Pape² | Jörg Löffler¹

¹Department of Geography, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

²Department of Natural Sciences and Environmental Health, University of South-Eastern Norway, Bø, Norway

Correspondence Jörg Löffler Email: joerg.loeffler@uni-bonn.de

Funding information

Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Grant/ Award Number: LO 830/16-1 and LO 830/32-1

Handling Editor: Robert G. Björk

Abstract

- 1. Arctic and alpine ecosystems are strongly affected by rapidly changing environmental conditions, resulting in profound vegetation shifts, which are highly heterogeneous and hard to predict, yet have strong global impacts. Shrubs have been identified as a key driver of these shifts. In this study, we aim to improve the understanding of how such broad-scale vegetation changes are locally impacted by inter- and intraspecific plasticity and topographically driven heterogeneity in microsite conditions.
- 2. We assessed continuous stem diameter variation of three dominant tundra shrub species at daily resolution during 5 years, using high-precision dendrometers, thus bridging the gap between classical dendroecology and plant physiology. From this data, we identified distinct growth patterns which we linked to microsite environmental drivers.
- 3. The observed patterns appeared highly variable depending on site and species, strongly influenced by characteristics of the individual plant. As the main driver of this variability, we identified fine-scale topographic complexity, causing the sampled specimens to adjust locally by developing distinct growth strategies. We found these strategies strongly related to snow-cover variation and associated freezing and thawing. Predicted changes in winter conditions and associated snow regimes will therefore have strong effects on shrub growth and community structure, yet, these effects are highly complex and not uniform in direction.
- 4. Synthesis. The ability to adapt in a heterogeneous environment appeared highly differentiated between species and closely connected to intraspecific plasticity. Here, we identified spatial variability related to local topography as a main indicator for potential future redistribution and niche shifts in response to environmental change.

KEYWORDS

arctic-alpine vegetation change, climate-growth relations, dendrometer, ecophysiology, growth variation, linear mixed effect models, partial least squares regression

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

© 2021 The Authors. Journal of Ecology published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British Ecological Society

1 | INTRODUCTION

In a rapidly changing climate, there is an increasing need to understand how communities and ecosystems respond to environmental change. With tundra ecosystems experiencing temperatures rising at thrice the global rate (AMAP, 2021; Post et al., 2019), massive changes in vegetation structure and ecosystem functioning are taking place already (Bjorkman et al., 2018; Elmendorf, Henry, Hollister, Björk, Boulanger-LapointeHenry, et al., 2012; Epstein et al., 2017; IPCC, 2014). In the past decades, an increased biomass and coverage of shrubs in response to changes in climate has led to major vegetation shifts. The observed greening of wide areas of the circumpolar Arctic has profound implications for the global climate system (Bjorkman & Gallois, 2020; Carlson et al., 2016; Collins et al., 2021; Forbes et al., 2010; Fraser et al., 2014; Myers-Smith et al., 2011). In recent years, however, this trend has been recognized as highly heterogeneous and complex, with the direction of change still poorly understood (Abbott et al., 2016; Elmendorf, Henry, Hollister, Björk, Bjorkman, et al., 2012; Macias-Fauria et al., 2020; Myers-Smith et al., 2020; Nielsen et al., 2017; Phoenix & Bjerke, 2016). As growing seasons are lengthening (Epstein et al., 2017), snow-cover conditions are changing (Xu et al., 2013) and extreme winter warming events are more frequently causing snowmelt in midwinter (Bjerke et al., 2017), questions are rising about the ability of dominant tundra species to adapt within the necessary timeframe to survive under these changing conditions.

An individual plant's ability to thrive in a changing environment has been linked to multiple factors, including its evolutionary history, genetic constraints, environmental influences and plasticity, both on an inter- and intraspecific level (Funk et al., 2017; Henn et al., 2018; Matesanz et al., 2012; Violle et al., 2012). Phenotypic plasticity, the ability of a species to alter its phenotype in response to environmental variation (Kingsolver & Huey, 1998), as well as genetic adaption (Hoffmann & Sgrò, 2011), play a key role in determining the individual plant's ability to shift optimal trait values with changing environmental conditions. In ecology, plasticity is therefore closely linked to range size and climatic niche breadth (Callaway et al., 2003; Duputié et al., 2015; Graae et al., 2018; Henn et al., 2018; Malyshev et al., 2016). Inter- and intraspecific variability have long been recognized as a key element of community ecology with strong implementations on ecosystem-level processes in response to environmental change (Firn et al., 2019; Hendry, 2016; Violle et al., 2012). This fact has led numerous studies (e.g. Duputié et al., 2015; Firn et al., 2019; Pfennigwerth et al., 2017; Valladares et al., 2014) to look at inter-plant variability in response to climate change research, where species are challenged to cope with modified environmental drivers, that may lead to range and niche shifts. In this context, variation in functional traits is often used as indicator for this variability, while physiological adjustment and consequent variation in growth patterns have not yet been utilized in this context. Furthermore, models of species distribution and range limits still rarely consider plasticity and such models are often restricted by small datasets. How plasticity, in response to heterogeneous environments, connects with the factors determining a species niche, remains poorly understood (Pérez-Ramos et al., 2019).

In this context, we examined variations in stem diameter across three dominant shrub species within a heterogeneous oroarctic (Virtanen et al., 2016) setting along steep geographical gradients. We derived fine-scale growth curves from continuous stem diameter measurements using high-precision dendrometers, thus bridging the gap between classical dendroecology and plant physiology. We expected to discern distinct growth patterns from these curves, adapted to site-specific environmental conditions, and reflected by inter-site variability in stem diameter change. Our objectives were to specify this variability within growth patterns, answering (a) how these patterns differ between species and along topographic gradients, (b) how they are linked to site- and topography-specific environmental drivers and (c) how growth variance between individual specimens is affected. We assumed that answering those questions will allow us to infer conclusions about drivers of radial growth in shrubs and derive valuable information regarding the overall plasticity of the examined shrub species, which would facilitate predictions of possible range and niche shifts in response to future climate change.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Species and specimens

For this study, we selected three shrub species abundant across the tundra, two evergreen (Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum (Hagerup), crowberry, and Phyllodoce caerulea (Linnaeus), blue mountain heath), and one deciduous species (Betula nana (Linnaeus), dwarf birch). All three species have a near circumpolar distribution (Büntgen et al., 2015; Hultén, 1968), exert considerable effects on tundra communities (Bell & Tallis, 1973; Bret-Harte et al., 2001; Coker & Coker, 1973), and play a key role in the 'greening of the Arctic' (Crawford, 2008; Myers-Smith et al., 2015). Regarding interspecific interaction, B. nana commonly surpasses both E. hermaphroditum and P. caerulea in height (Coker & Coker, 1973; de Groot et al., 1997), and is thus likely to influence growth of its competitors by restricting their exposure to solar radiation (Bär et al., 2007; Bret-Harte et al., 2001). At higher elevations (>1,100-1,300 m a.s.l.), B. nana and P. caerulea cease to exist while E. hermaphroditum remains within a matrix consisting of debris and graminoids (Bär et al., 2007). While B. nana and E. hermaphroditum occur across a broad range of micro-habitats and are able to tolerate comparatively low winter temperatures (Andrews et al., 1980; de Groot et al., 1997; Ögren, 2001; Stushnoff & Junttila, 1986), P. caerulea usually grows best at habitats with prolonged snow cover (more than 100 days annually) and primarily prefers slopes (Coker & Coker, 1973; Kameyama et al., 2008).

2.2 | Study sites

Our study is based on long-term monitored specimens from two study regions located in two contrasting alpine regions of central Norway. To the east, the Vågå/Innlandet region (61°53'N; 9°15'E) is located within the continental climatic section (C1; Moen & Lillethun, 1999). With a total annual precipitation of approximately 300-500 mm in the valleys, this area experiences the highest aridity found in Norway (Kleiven, 1959). Mean annual ambient air temperature is -1.2°C (range: -29.2 to +16.7°C) (measured between 1991 and 2002, Löffler, 2003). Our second study region to the west, the Geiranger/Møre og Romsdal region (62°03'N; 7°15'E), is located within the slightly to markedly oceanic climatic section (O1-O2; Moen& Lillethun, 1999) of the inner fjords. It is characterized by humid conditions, with total annual precipitation of 1,500-2,000 mm in the valleys (Aune, 1993) and a mean annual ambient air temperature of 1.9°C (range: -23.2 to +17.2°C) (measured between 1991 and 2002, Löffler, 2003). Additionally, our own measurements within the studied regions (in the alpine parts) and within the study period indicated an annual liquid precipitation of 900 mm in the west and 375 mm in the east. The additional amount of snow and its water equivalent remains unknown, but snowdrift leads to an uneven distribution of the snowpack within the complex alpine topography (Löffler, 2007). The study sites within the regions were stratified-randomly chosen to cover the elevational gradient, following the framework of our long-term alpine ecosystem research project (LTAER; e.g. Frindte et al., 2019; Hein et al., 2014; Löffler et al., 2021; Löffler & Finch, 2005). They were placed to represent the different elevational bands at 100-m intervals from the tree line upwards, shifted by approximately 100 height-metres between the Western and Eastern study region to account for the depression of the elevational zonation towards the west. The tree line, defined as the upper elevational limit of the occurrence of subalpine birch trees (Betula pubescens ssp. czerepanovii), and, as such, the lower limit of the alpine belt (Dahl, 1986), is located at approximately 1,000 m a.s.l. in the Eastern study region and at approximately 750 m a.s.l. in the

Western region. In accordance with the local micro-topography, we chose sites from four distinct micro-topographical positions at each of the elevational bands: (a) exposed ridge positions (R), (b) positions within local depressions (D), (c) south-facing slopes (SS) and (d) north-facing slopes (NS). For a detailed depiction of the study design see Figure S1. Because of the topographic preferences of the studied species, we measured *P. caerulea* at the slopes (SS and NS) only. Additionally, a small proportion of the measurements contained missing data, resulting in gaps in the dendrometer curves. This was attributed to technical errors, and we therefore discarded the affected specimens from the study. This resulted in a lack of data for *B. nana* within local depressions (D). All chosen specimens were monitored for five consecutive years, resulting in a total of 570 annual dendrometer curves. For the total number of sampled specimens at each position, see Figure 1.

2.3 | Data collection

To monitor stem diameter variations, we used high-precision dendrometers (type DRO; Ecomatik, Dachau/Germany) mounted on one major above-ground stem horizontal to the ground surface for each specimen, as close to the assumed root collar as possible (approximately 1-5 cm above the ground). As addressed by Bär et al. (2006 and 2007), this major stem is thought to represent the whole plant at least partly. We tried to account for this variation between stems of the same plant by sampling a high number of individual specimens. During the mounting process of the dendrometers, we removed the dead outer bark to place the sensor as close to the living tissue as possible, following a common practice for dendrometer measurements of trees (e.g. Grams et al., 2021; Oberhuber et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). This ensures that hygroscopic shrinkage and swelling of dead tissues from the outer bark does not influence the diameter measurements. The sensor used had a temperature coefficient of <0.2 µm/K. Measurements were taken at 1 min intervals and aggregated, averaging dendrometer data into time series of daily

FIGURE 1 Summary of radial stem growth at the monitored topographical positions, showing the median and the 25th and 75th percentiles (box), as well as the smallest and largest value no further than 1.5*interquartile range from the hinge respectively (whiskers). Each value within the plot represents one annual value derived from stem diameter measurements (see Section 2). Numbers at the top show the number of specimens of each focal species, which were monitored at the respective position



mean values, using the R statistical software (R Core Team, 2020). When choosing microsites, we avoided positions near stones and small depressions, inside the radius of other larger shrub species, and near patches of wind erosion. At each site, we sampled one or more specimens of each species, if available, and took additional measures of microsite environmental parameters. These included soil temperatures (°C) at a depth of 15 cm below the ground surface (within the root zone; hereafter 'Trz') and air temperatures at 15 cm above the ground surface (within the shoot zone; hereafter 'Tsz'), measured at 1 min intervals and recorded as hourly means. For these recordings, we used ONSET's HOBO loggers (type H21-002) in combination with type S-TMB-002 temperature sensors (±0.2°C accuracy). For measurements of Tsz, the sensors were equipped with passively ventilated radiation shields. Based on this setup, we were able to accurately capture near-ground thermal conditions, which are often decoupled from the governing macro-climatic temperature signal (Körner, 2021; Körner & Hiltbrunner, 2018; Löffler et al., 2006). Additionally, we measured the volumetric soil water content (soil moisture, m³ water/m³ soil) 15 cm below the soil surface (hereafter SMrz) at all sites. The uncalibrated SMrz was measured at 1 min intervals and recorded as hourly means using ONSET's type S-SMD-M005 soil moisture sensors (±3% accuracy). Those measurements proved especially valuable in the final analysis, as they, apart from the intended assessment of soil moisture, allowed for the fine-scaled analysis of freezing and thawing conditions within the root zone as derived from the availability of liquid water. To complement these data, we additionally inferred snow cover estimates from daily temperature amplitude. We assumed that a daily Tsz amplitude of less than 5K indicated that a layer of snow restricted daily air temperature fluctuations at the measured height of 15 cm. The respective periods were therefore defined as snow covered. The threshold of 5K was carefully chosen in accordance with the data. All the collected data covered a period of five full calendar years from 1

2.4 | Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted using R v. 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2020). For all analyses, significance levels were set at $\alpha = 0.05$. The stem diameter curves produced from the continuous dendrometer measurements were split by calendar years and the resulting annual stem diameter curves were normalized through subtraction of the previous year's maximum to exclude year-related growth trends and to maximize the separation of growth-related expansion from water-related swelling and shrinking of the stem. This necessity arises because dendrometers are not measuring the absolute stem diameter, but rather changes in stem diameter relative to the start of the measurement cycle. Additionally, singular outliers, which might occur due to mechanical influence to the sensor, were removed, by defining cut-off ranges, using the interquartile range (IQR) and the 25th (Q1) and 75th (Q3) percentile (Q1/Q3 \mp 1.5*IQR; Figure 2).

January 2015, to 31 December 2019, with some additional data col-

lected in 2014. Missing data did not occur at any of the chosen sites.

Finally, for each year, a set of complementary growth characteristics was derived from the raw data: (a) growth, defined as the amount of stem diameter increase within 1 year, compared to the previous vear (maximum stem diameter - maximum stem diameter of the previous year), (b) increment, defined as the total stem diameter increase (maximum stem diameter - minimum stem diameter) and (c) (annual) stem diameter change, defined as the absolute stem diameter increase within the span of the year (stem diameter at the end of the year - stem diameter at the beginning of the year) (Figure 2; Figure S2). While annual growth describes growth-related stem diameter expansion, the two latter include potentially reversible stem diameter shrinking, which is commonly associated with hydrological processes (Zweifel, 2016; Zweifel et al., 2014). In this way, we differentiated between growth-induced stem expansion (growth), which is most likely visible in the anatomical structure of the plant and thus directly comparable to classic measurement methods of radial stem growth in shrubs, and additional processes causing radial stem change (e.g. temporary water deficits), which are uniquely captured by our dendrometer measurements. In addition, we derived (d) the maximum annual stem diameter (including the initial stem diameter at the start of the year) from the dendrometer curves.

To assess whether there are governing trends or patterns in variation between individually measured sites and plants, depending on elevation or topographical position, we first performed a principal component analysis (PCA), using the R package VEGAN (Oksanen et al., 2020). In this analysis we included growth characteristics (annual growth, annual increment and annual stem change), as defined above. PCAs were computed for each species separately. The results (Figure S3) revealed no clear governing patterns between elevational bands and between the two study sites. The clearest distinctions were visible between topographical positions. For this reason, we chose to focus on this parameter for most of the subsequent analysis.

To understand the influence of microsite environmental drivers on growth, we then calculated Pearson's correlation coefficients and determined the significance of the coefficient through 500 bootstrapped iterations using the R package wBoot (Weiss, 2016). Correlation coefficients were calculated between annual growth and monthly, as well as seasonal, mean values for our environmental parameters Tsz, Trz and SMrz. To account for possibly time-lagged effects of the previous year's conditions, we included monthly mean values for the period June (of the previous year) to December (of the current year) into the correlation analyses, similar to the analysis of growth chronologies as derived from ring-width series (e.g. Bär et al., 2008). Data from each topographical position, and from each species, entered into the analysis separately.

In addition, we applied partial least squares regression (PLSR; Wold, 1975) with the aim to use variable selection methods to assess the relative importance of certain environmental parameters in promoting or hindering growth and to thus substantially expand on the results of the correlation analysis. Developed for multidisciplinary problems (Wold, 1980), PLSR has found application in ecological studies during the past decade (Carrascal et al., 2009; Frindte et al., 2019; Löffler & Pape, 2020), yet the approach described here is



FIGURE 2 Annual stem diameter variations relative to previous years maximum or start of the measuring period (for 2014), as derived from dendrometer measurements and aggregated to daily mean values. Measurements of individual specimens were averaged for each focal species and topographical position. Black lines indicate linear trends. Additional lines show fitted sigmoid Gompertz models derived from the original data. Grey areas indicate snow cover, derived from the daily amplitude in air temperature measurements (see Section 2)

comparatively novel. Main advantages include that it works without distributional assumptions (Dijkstra, 1983; Vinzi, 2010; Wold, 1980) and deals efficiently with unreliability and heteroscedasticity issues (Frindte et al., 2019; Martens & Næs, 1989). Moreover, the method is not limited, if the number of predictors exceeds the number of observations, or if the predictors are highly correlated, which makes PLSR highly suitable for our data (Carrascal et al., 2009; Frindte et al., 2019; Geladi & Kowalski, 1986). Following the approach successfully applied by Löffler and Pape (2020) to determine species thermal niches, we aggregated our environmental data, rounding to 0.2°C for temperatures and 0.01 m³/m³ for soil moisture values. Subsequently, we counted and totalled the frequency of each value occurring within the time series. These calculations were performed for each meteorological season separately, resulting in sets of predictor variables, which were subsequently scaled and centred. Annual growth served as the associated response variable. For final single response model estimation, we used the SIMPLS algorithm (de Jong, 1993), implemented in the R package MDATOOLS (Kucheryavskiy, 2020). The optimal number of components in the PLSR model was found using Wold's R criterion (Wold, 1978) and 10-fold cross-validation was used to assess the explained variance during model calibration and validation. From the numerous methods available to assess the relevance of each independent variable from the created models (reviewed by Mehmood et al., 2012), we chose the selectivity ratio (SR), based on assessments by Farrés et al. (2015) and Frindte et al. (2019). This parameter is defined as the ratio of explained to residual (unexplained) variance for each variable in the target projection vector. From the SR, we derived the explained variance (SR/abs(SR + 1)) for more contrastable results. In the results, the variables with highest SR represent the explanatory variables with the highest influence on growth (Rajalahti et al., 2009). We increased the interpretability of these results by multiplying the SR of each variable by the sign of its corresponding regression coefficient, making it easy to identify which variables were positively or negatively related to the dependent variable (Löffler & Pape, 2020; Rajalahti et al., 2009). Like the correlations, the analysis was conducted for each of the topographic positions and for each species separately.

Finally, we aimed to explore the variation in the stem diameter change patterns captured by the dendrometers, as well as the effects of environmental influences on this variation. We ran a set of linear mixed effects models, using the lmer function from the LME4 R package (Bates et al., 2015). This modelling approach has found wide application in ecological settings in recent years as it is an excellent tool to decompose the variability within grouped, complex data (Aller et al., 2019; Bolker et al., 2009; Firn et al., 2019; Henn et al., 2018). First, we fitted linear mixed effect models to the previously aggregated total annual growth values (dependent variable) and seasonally aggregated environmental parameters (independent variable), to further explore climate-growth relations. In contrast to the approaches described above, our complex study design can be implemented into this modelling approach by including species and topographical position as random effects, controlling variation in slope and intercept of the resulting models. In all created models, our response variables were log transformed. Models were created for each of the growth characteristics defined above, which entered as response variables. For total annual growth, years with negative values (net stem diameter shrinking) were defined as not growing and set to zero. After selecting these response variables, we grouped our data by a set of characteristics, that is, species, topographical position, year and site (including both elevation and study region). Furthermore, we included the initial stem diameter at the beginning of the year, rounded to the nearest decimal, as a grouping variable. By including these grouping factors as random effects into the models, we investigated the percentage of variance explained by each factor, which was derived from the models using the VarCorr function (Bates et al., 2015) in R. To represent the study design (Figure S1) within the model structure, we nested topographical position within the site parameter and species within position and site. The final models included no fixed effects and thus had the form Growth ~ (1 | site/position/species) + (1 | year) + (1 | initial stem diameter), as implemented into the Imer function of the LME4 R package (Bates et al., 2015). Aside from the full models, we created additional models for each species separately, removing the variable species from the random effects. Following this statistical exploration of spatial and temporal variability, we tested the role of microsite environmental variation within and between the grouping characteristics defined above and how this variation influenced annual growth. Therefore, we included seasonal means of measured environmental parameters (Tsz, Trz and SMrz) as fixed effects, creating one full model including all fixed and random effects and the response variable growth: Growth ~ environmental parameters + (environmental parameters | position) + (environmental parameters | site) + (environmental parameters | year) + (environmental parameters | species) + (1 | initial stem diameter), as implemented into the Imer function of the LME4 R package (Bates et al., 2015). From this model we then derived explained variance estimates (conditional, R_c^2 , and marginal, R_m^2), as well as the partitioned variance, using the R package MuMIN (Barton, 2020; Nakagawa & Schielzeth, 2013). In that way,

we quantified the percentage of variance in growth, which can be explained by environmental variation between sites, years and topographical position. More importantly, we quantified the proportion of variance in growth, which cannot be explained by those factors and can therefore probably be partly attributed to specimen-specific internal biology and/or other biotic/abiotic factors not accounted for by the study. All environmental data were standardized (scaled by means and standard deviations) prior to model fitting to make coefficients comparable (Grace & Bollen, 2005).

The full analysis thus consisted of four different statistical approaches to assess variation in growth-environment relations across species and positions. Combined, our results should provide a clear understanding of how the chosen three species are influenced by their respective local environment.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | How do microsite environmental conditions vary within the study area?

Each of the four sampled topographical positions was characterized by distinct regimes of near-surface environmental conditions (Tsz, Trz and SMrz) with different degrees of variation between the positions (Figure 3; Figure S4). However, a number of subordinate trends in inter- and intra-annual environmental variation were present at all sites: Temperatures usually started rising in spring (April or May). Lowest mean temperatures were measured in 2017, highest in 2018, with shoot and root zone conditions following, expectedly, a similar regime throughout all years. The year 2015 stands out because of a comparatively long winter, with lasting low temperatures throughout the meteorological spring and soil moisture rising only gradually, indicating reoccurring freezing conditions. However, according to our calculations regarding snow cover, snowmelt did not occur unusually late in 2015. In contrast, the years 2019 and 2018 were characterized by relatively short, cold winters with an early rise in spring temperatures, followed by considerable spring cold snaps (as evident by drops in the SMrz regimes), indicating renewed soil freezing. The successive winters 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 were characterized by comparatively little snow cover at all positions.

In terms of variability between the positions (Figure S3), a number of microsite environmental variations were represented in our data, resulting from the complex topographical conditions given in the studied alpine region. Here, we found differences in snow cover caused by snowdrift and timing of snowmelt to be most crucial. Extremely low winter temperatures and severe ground freezing, with high exposure to global radiation and only periodic snow cover, resulting in a slightly earlier temperature rise in spring (Figure 3), characterized the exposed ridge positions (R). In contrast, the positions within depressions (D) experienced no ground freezing in winter due to an isolating and mostly continuous snow cover during these months, coupled with little exposure to global radiation and very wet conditions, resulting in SMrz measurements


FIGURE 3 On-site environmental data. Shoot zone temperature (Tsz), root zone temperature (Trz) and root zone soil moisture (SMrz) regimes (daily means, derived from hourly measurements) averaged over all studied sites, aggregated by topographical position. Shaded areas indicate meteorological seasons

surpassing all other positions throughout the studied period. Southand north-facing slopes (SS and NS) showed very similar regimes. Here, snow protection leads to only moderate ground freezing in winter, whereas the slightly differentiated soil moisture regimes are most likely caused by differing exposure to global radiation, leading to differences in snowmelt timing (Figures 2 and 3). In addition to this variation between micro-topographical positions, soil moisture also varied between the two study regions, with markedly higher soil moisture values in the oceanic region in the west, compared to the continental region in the east. Here, it is worth noting that despite this high environmental variability, variation patterns between topographical positions were very similar in both regions (Figure 3).

3.2 | How do inter- and intra-annual growth patterns differ between species and along topographic gradients?

At each of the sampled topographical positions, stem diameter variability followed a distinct pattern of stem expansion and contraction (Figures 2 and 4). These patterns were surprisingly similar between species, even

though total realized growth varied considerably, with *B. nana* on average surpassing the evergreen species at all positions, yet thriving especially at the slopes. In contrast, *E. hermaphroditum* showed the highest annual stem diameter increase within the depressions (D), and both evergreen species showed little annual growth at the north-facing slopes (NS), with an especially prominent contrast to the south-facing slopes (SS) for *E. hermaphroditum*, which was not visible in *P. caerulea* (Figure 1; Figure S5). Thus, interspecific variability in annual stem diameter expansion was highest at the slopes. Overall mean growth (148 µm, *SE* = 56) was highest in 2016 for *B. nana* at south-facing slopes and lowest (2.5 µm, *SE* = 1) in 2019 for *E. hermaphroditum* at the north-facing slopes.

The main growth phase usually started during the meteorological spring at the exposed ridge positions (R) and in early to late summer at all other positions. The ridge positions showed a distinct phase of radial stem contraction during winter, which was missing at most of the other positions and which can therefore be attributed to the unique winter conditions experienced at the mostly snow-free ridges (Figure 4). In contrast, some specimens at the slopes (SS and NS) and within the depressions (D), all of which are mostly snow covered throughout the winter months, showed additional winter stem expansion, mostly during the winter 2016/2017. This phenomenon



FIGURE 4 Schematic representation of annual stem diameter variation for each focal species at each topographical position. Curves were derived from dendrometer measurements. Thin lines represent the average across all available individual annual curves with the day of the year (DOY) on the x-axis, while thick lines represent smoothed versions of these curves. Numbers at the top show the number of included specimens. For each specimen, five annual curves were included. Additional lines show fitted sigmoid Gompertz models derived from the original data. Since the curves show schematic representations derived from the original data, there are no absolute values or units given (y-axis)

was present in *E. hermaphroditum* and *B. nana* and can most likely be attributed to hydrological processes within the stem and additional water uptake (Figure 2). Additionally, at these snow-covered positions, the winter was usually followed by a more or less pronounced phase of stem contraction in May or June, sometime after snowmelt and preceding the summer growth phase (Figure 4). Length and magnitude of this phase varied considerably between years and species, with *B. nana* usually showing a higher amplitude in stem contraction and expansion than the evergreen species (Figure 2).

Year-to-year variability in growth characteristics was high at all positions, obscuring a clear temporal growth trend over the studied period of 5 years (Figure S6). Because this inter-annual variability showed no synchrony across species, it can most likely be attributed to interspecific variation in response patterns to environmental conditions.

3.3 | How are growth patterns linked to site- and topography-specific environmental drivers?

Our analysis of growth response to microsite environmental conditions revealed complex patterns and highly differentiated response patterns, depending on species and topographical position. At the exposed ridge positions (R), for instance, *E. hermaphroditum* showed a strong response to temperatures, especially during winter, profiting from cold winters, associated with high global radiation (Figure 5; Figures S7–S9). For *B. nana*, on the other hand, warm summers and high soil moisture during winter, the latter indicating wet and snowy conditions, were most influential.

In the depression (D), our correlation analysis indicated a clear positive effect of soil moisture on *E. hermaphroditum* growth throughout the year, which was, however, not significantly reflected in PLSR analysis, indicating fine-scale complexity. The effect might be less pronounced in the PLSR analysis, because the depressions experience comparatively high levels of soil moisture at all times, thus showing a reduced range. In this context, it is worth noting that none of our analysis showed a negative effect of soil moisture at these positions, which is in strong contrast with the southfacing slopes (SS), where high soil moisture had negative impacts throughout the year, especially for *E. hermaphroditum* (Figure 5). Additionally, linear mixed effect models and correlation analyses revealed a negative effect of unusually high spring soil temperatures on total annual growth in the depressions, especially during May (Figures S9; Figure 5), while the PLSR analysis revealed a negative effect of subzero temperatures, associated with soil freezing, during spring. As such, when growing at positions within local depressions, *E. hermaphroditum* thrived during years of prolonged spring cold and associated snow cover (e.g. 2015, 2016), showing a shorter and less pronounced shrinking phase in early summer and an earlier growth start under these conditions (Figure 2). Because the depressions are usually frost protected by an isolating snow cover, this indicates that *E. hermaphroditum* might rely on this protection until well into the spring and responds to unexpected cold spells and soil freezing later in the year after an early temperature rise with contraction of the stem, as shown in 2018 (Figure 2).

A similar pattern existed at the slopes (SS and NS), where *E. hermaphroditum* followed the severe late frost spell in 2018 with prolonged stem shrinking at most of the monitored sites, possibly caused by cell damage (Figure 2). Furthermore, annual growth measured at the slopes showed the least pronounced relation to microsite environmental parameters, indicating that an interaction of multiple factors is influencing growth here. Still, for *E. hermaphroditum*, our



FIGURE 5 Pearson's correlation coefficient for annual growth derived from stem diameter measurements (see Section 2) and monthly, as well as seasonally, aggregated environmental parameters. Significance is indicated by non-transparency and lines show 95% confidence intervals, with dotted lines additionally indicating significance. Lowercase months on the x-axis correspond to previous year months

analysis revealed a stronger (and mostly negative) impact of soil moisture in comparison to temperatures, which might be attributed to the complex patterns of snow coverage present at these positions (Figure 5).

Across all topographical positions, *B. nana* showed more positive relations to temperatures throughout the year, compared to the evergreen species (Figure S9). Optimum temperatures revealed by the PLSR analysis were in general higher for *B. nana* as well, especially during summer (Figures S8 and S9). In general, all species were driven by soil moisture availability, including a high influence of winter and spring freezing conditions.

3.4 | How is growth variance between individual specimens affected?

Linear mixed effect models revealed high variation of growth between sites, species, positions and years, as well as high variability in growth response to microsite environmental conditions. This variation was to some extend reflected in the PCAs (Figure S3), which showed distinctions between the topographical positions, yet no clear patterns in growth variation related to elevation or study region. Through linear mixed effects modelling, we were able to attribute 94% of variance in total annual growth to temporal and spatial environmental variation and initial stem diameter (Figure 6b), leaving 6% of growth variance unexplained. We identified soil moisture, related to seasonal soil freezing, as the strongest contributor to this variation, and, accordingly, winter and spring conditions most influential. Because of the highly complex topography found in the studied regions, these conditions varied considerably between positions, explaining most of the observed differences in annual growth patterns. Inter-annual temporal variation in climate and environmental variation associated with the elevational gradient, as well as the overall regional climate signal had considerably less explanatory power (Figure 6). Directly comparing the sources of variance in growth parameters (Figure 6a) confirmed this result. Here, it is worth noting that the initial stem diameter at the start of the study period played a significant role for overall radial growth and that variance in maximum stem diameter, which is in turn strongly linked to this initial stem diameter, was highly dependent on topographical position, elevation and region and thus almost completely explainable by these parameters. Furthermore, the percentage of variance in growth parameters explained by variation between species was comparatively small (Figure 6a).

Collectively, our results indicate that radial stem growth and its response to local microsite conditions are closely linked to local topography, which is the strongest contributor to microsite environmental heterogeneity.

4 | DISCUSSION

Our results clearly show that patterns of stem change in shrubs are closely linked to microsite environmental conditions, with this link evidently present across temporal scales (i.e. intra- and interannually). In trees, such patterns of stem diameter change have been interpreted as the result of irreversible stem increment, associated with cambial activity (Rossi et al., 2008; Steppe et al., 2015; Zweifel, 2016), as well as reversible expansion or shrinking, attributed to underlying changes in water relations (Lindfors et al., 2019). As such, these processes have been strongly linked to the overall physiology of the individual plant, which results both from physiological constraints and from adaptive strategies (Duputié et al., 2015; Zweifel, 2016). Our results can therefore be interpreted as an indication of physiological adjustments of the individual plants, controlling shrub growth at the monitored sites (Martin et al., 2017). Further studies using experimental or modelling approaches to directly target these ecophysiological adjustments might be of help in further defining the underlying processes of climate-growth relationships.

We found the observed patterns of stem change strongly variable, depending on species, location and associated microsite environmental conditions. The main factor contributing to this variability was local topography, with species playing a surprisingly small role in explaining variation in growth patterns, indicating that multiple species might develop similar growth strategies in response to site-specific local environmental conditions. In general, we found a high variability of overall radial growth, which might be a result of physiological plasticity, or a remodelling of the plant's physiology to meet local environmental conditions (Callaway et al., 2003; Seebacher et al., 2015). To what extend genetic structure and varying genotypes play a role here, requires further studies (Chevin et al., 2010; Hoffmann & Sgrò, 2011). However, given the wide genetic variation found for example in E. hermaphroditum across three populations in northern Sweden (Szmidt et al., 2002), it can be assumed that both genotypic adaption and phenotypic plasticity play a major role in contributing to the observed intraspecific variation. In general, our results emphasize the importance of topographically driven heterogeneity in environmental conditions for understanding and predicting vegetation shifts, including distribution and redistribution of species in response to climate change, which has been recognized in recent years (Graae et al., 2018; Körner, 2016; Ropars et al., 2015; Young et al., 2016).

Furthermore, our results indicate a high complexity in temperaturegrowth relationships. All three studied species showed high variation across seasons and topographical positions, with especially *E. hermaphroditum* exhibiting negative responses at specific positions. Consequently, there was no clear relation between high temperatures and growth in our data, contrasting the prominent assumption of temperatures being the key driver of plant life in arctic and alpine environments (Graae et al., 2018; Körner, 2021; Raunkiær, 2015). Accordingly, the increase in shrub growth currently observed in these regions is commonly linked to a rise in temperatures (e.g. Bär et al., 2008; Hollesen et al., 2015; Liang & Eckstein, 2009). Conversely, our results highlight the importance of topography-controlled soil moisture, snow conditions and associated freeze-thaw cycles (Dobbert et al., 2021).



FIGURE 6 Partitioned variance in growth parameters explained by variation in spatial and temporal grouping variables (a). For each growth parameter (growth, stem increment, maximum stem diameter and stem diameter change) four models were fitted, one including all data, and one for each focal species. The models included no fixed effects and thus had the form Growth ~ (1 | site/position/species) + (1 | year) + (1 | initial stem diameter), as implemented into the lmer function of the LME4 R package (Bates et al., 2015). (b) Includes micro-environmental parameters and shows variance in total annual growth explained by variation in seasonally aggregated environmental conditions between topographical position, site (including region and elevation) and year. All results for (b) are derived from a singular model of the form Growth ~ environmental parameters + (environmental parameters | position) + (environmental parameters | site) + (environmental parameters | year) + (environmental parameters | species) + (1 | initial stem diameter), as implemented into the lmer function of the LME4 R package (Bates et al., 2015). This model is thus able to explain variance in total annual growth to a large extend

At most monitored positions, freezing after snowmelt, caused by spring cold spells, resulted in stem contraction, reduced growth or stem shrinkage during the rest of the growing season. In some cases, stem shrinkage even lasted into the following year, indicating cambial cell damage (Choler, 2018; Weijers et al., 2018). This proved especially dangerous for our evergreen species on the north-facing slopes, where the individual plants are highly adapted to the protective snow cover and are usually able to start growth activity directly after snowmelt, as soon as liquid water becomes available in the root zone (Bråthen et al., 2018). Unusually discontinuous snow cover and early snowmelt during this crucial phase might have left our specimens vulnerable to spring cold spells and many seemed unable to recover from such conditions during 2018 and consequently showed less overall growth during the following growing season. At positions where protective snow cover is usually present, a reduced snow cover during the winter months (clearly expressed during the winter 2016/2017) resulted in rapid stem expansion and reduced growth during the following years, possibly attributed to freezing processes and cell damage. Through isolating effects, mitigating the influence of extreme temperatures, as well as shielding from global radiation, snow cover is altering the thermal

conditions at the micro-scale. Predicted changes in snow conditions (AMAP, 2017; Bjerke et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2013) are therefore likely to significantly alter species composition across all topographical positions. However, current studies aiming to predict these changes have found them highly complex and spatial variable (AMAP, 2017; Niittynen et al., 2018; Rizzi et al., 2018). Our data suggest that snow protected the plant from negative effects of soil freezing and extreme temperatures (Blok et al., 2015; González et al., 2019; Körner, 2012). Consequently, a reduction in isolating snow cover duration (Callaghan et al., 2011), for instance, might mitigate the effects of winter warming and a prolonged growing season for deciduous species like B. nana and increase the risk of growth-inhibiting spring cold spells and soil freezing for E. hermaphroditum at positions where the species is currently adapted to frost protection. Here, an increase in frequency of winter warming events and associated snowmelt (Bjerke et al., 2017) would expose the plants to unfamiliar and potentially fatal freeze-and-thaw stress, forcing the individual plant to adopt coping strategies.

We found indications for such coping strategies at the ridge sites, for both *B. nana* and *E. hermaphroditum*, with *E. hermaphroditum* showing a positive growth response to cold winter conditions, possibly using the associated high solar radiation input for additional photosynthetic activity (Bråthen et al., 2018; Löffler & Pape, 2020). At the same time, P. caerulea was limited to those positions where snow cover provides protection from extreme temperatures until well into spring, when the growth processes begin. For both E. hermaphroditum and B. nana, our measurements revealed a distinct phase of stem contraction at the ridge positions, presumably an active response mechanism protecting the plant from frost damage by reducing cell water content to avoid frost-induced cavitations (Fonti et al., 2010). Such dehydration processes, alongside ice nucleation and ice forming in the apoplast causing additional dehydration stress, have shown to lead to xylem diameter shrinkage in other woody plants (Améglio et al., 2001; Charra-Vaskou et al., 2016; Lindfors et al., 2019; Lintunen et al., 2016). Both B. nana and E. hermaphroditum are generally considered frost-hardy species (González et al., 2019; Hollesen et al., 2015). They are able to withstand extreme winter conditions with prolonged soil freezing at the exposed ridges. As such, our findings suggest that the ability to adopt coping strategies in response to extreme environmental conditions is highly species dependent. For instance, P. caerulea indicated comparatively low adaptive or maladaptive plasticity in response to frost. This might leave the species vulnerable to predicted future climate changes.

In contrast, our results suggest that B. nana and E. hermaphroditum have developed adaptive growth strategies to varying degrees, which are in accordance with the microsite environmental conditions at their respective topographical positions and strongly related to the snow regime. Our sampled E. hermaphroditum specimens were able to thrive at both of the most extremes of the sampled topographical positions (ridges and depressions), indicating a high plasticity and capacity to adapt in diverse environments. However, at the same time, E. hermaphroditum showed high sensitivity to spring cold spells at the north-facing slopes and no positive response to warming conditions. B. nana, on the other hand, was similarly adapted to local microsite conditions at the ridges, but, at the same time, able to profit from rising temperatures and to thrive at all monitored positions simultaneously. Such an acclimatization has been interpreted as an indicator for the species' capacity to tune their physiological characteristics to changing conditions, which in turn is linked to their ability to avoid migration or extinction under climate change (Matesanz et al., 2010; Nicotra et al., 2010; Valladares et al., 2014). We here support the assumption that the individual plant's physiology can vary considerably within populations, in response to the local environment (Banta et al., 2012; Graae et al., 2018; Leimu & Fischer, 2008; Savolainen et al., 2007) and further highlight the importance of integrating physiological plasticity into our understanding of species distribution and niche shifts (Valladares et al., 2014). Following this mechanistic understanding for our three focal species, we suggest that P. caerulea is likely to show the least persistence in a changing environment, as the species currently inhabits a comparatively narrow niche (Graae et al., 2018; Wasof et al., 2013), predominantly caused by limited adaptive thermal plasticity. Both E. hermaphroditum and B. nana are likely to show higher resilience to changing conditions than *P. caerulea*, based on their more pronounced plasticity towards thermal conditions. At an interspecific level, we argue that deciduous species, like *B. nana*, are most likely to profit from the predicted environmental changes, thus further contributing to the ongoing greening trend. However, on a broader scale, other factors might additionally affect species composition. For example, both our studied regions are not majorly affected by reindeer grazing, whereas grazing was generally shown to be a major influencing factor on shrub growth in other areas, with highly species-specific effects (Grellmann, 2002; Pape & Löffler, 2016, 2017; Weijers & Löffler, 2020). Furthermore, our study illustrates how growth trends are usually not uniform in space and time, and generalization across sites consequently might result in a too simplistic view of future vegetation changes in the highly relevant ecosystems of the tundra regions.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

Overall, our findings demonstrate that species in heterogeneous environments adapt locally by adjusting their growth strategies to fine-scale microsite conditions, in accordance with their physiological plasticity. This allows them to potentially occupy wide ecological niches and is closely linked to the adaptive capacity of the species as a whole. Physiological plasticity can, thus, be directly linked to a species ability to cope with potentially rapid climate change (e.g. Pérez-Ramos et al., 2019; Seebacher et al., 2015). However, this plasticity varies a great deal between species and we found no clear link to leaf habit here (e.g. Funk et al., 2017; Lavorel & Garnier, 2002). On an intraspecific level, our results support principal findings by Pfennigwerth et al. (2017), suggesting that multiple populations and individuals within a species may not exhibit a single, universal response to climatic variation. While past studies have emphasized the role of the elevational gradient in this context (Henn et al., 2018; Pfennigwerth et al., 2017), our results conversely show no clear evidence of a strong connection between elevation or larger-scale climatic region and radial growth (Figure S3). Instead, we identified environmental variation associated with micro-topography as the main driver of the variability in response patterns. Thus, our findings highlight fine-scale spatial complexity as a main indicator for a species' adaptive capacity, which is, in turn, strongly linked to local topography. Therefore, intraspecific variability in physiological characteristics has the potential to yield highly relevant information on future niche shifts, and might even be used to predict changes in a species' geographical range in the face of environmental change. Regarding the broad-scale vegetational changes observed across the arctic and alpine regions, our findings highlight the fine-scale complexity of these developments, and elevate the importance of locally differentiated microsite conditions and species-specific response patterns in determining future community development. We thus stress the importance of a fine-scale perspective in arctic and alpine tundra ecosystem research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the associate editor and anonymous reviewers for their constructive suggestions, which helped to improve the manuscript, and Niklas Beckers, Elise Dierking, Nils Hein, Stef Weijers and Dirk Wundram for collaboration within our LTAER project, Ole Øvsteng and Anders Svare for hospitality, and both the landowners and Norwegian authorities (Vågå and Stranda municipalities) for overall support. Parts of this study were supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) (grants LO 830/16-1, LO 830/32-1).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Svenja Dobbert, Roland Pape and Jörg Löffler declare that they have no conflict of interest.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

J.L. had the idea, designed the research platform, conducted the fieldwork and together with R.P. ran the long-term project; S.D. analysed the data, led the writing of the manuscript and arranged the figures, with contributions from R.P. and J.L.

PEER REVIEW

The peer review history for this article is available at https://publo ns.com/publon/10.1111/1365-2745.13784.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All underlying data pertinent to the results were recently published in 'ERDKUNDE---Archive for Scientific Geography' (https://www. erdkunde.uni-bonn.de) under the following https://doi.org/10.3112/ erdkunde.2021.dp.01.

ORCID

Jörg Löffler D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9320-6168

REFERENCES

- Abbott, B. W., Jones, J. B., Schuur, E. A. G., Chapin III, F. S., Bowden, W. B., Bret-Harte, M. S., Epstein, H. E., Flannigan, M. D., Harms, T. K., Hollingsworth, T. N., Mack, M. C., McGuire, A. D., Natali, S. M., Rocha, A. V., Tank, S. E., Turetsky, M. R., Vonk, J. E., Wickland, K. P., Aiken, G. R., ... Zimov, S. (2016). Biomass offsets little or none of permafrost carbon release from soils, streams, and wildfire: An expert assessment. *Environmental Research Letters*, 11(3), 34014. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/3/034014
- Aller, A. E., Eklöf, J. S., Gullström, M., Kloiber, U., Linderholm, H. W., & Nordlund, L. M. (2019). Temporal variability of a protected multispecific tropical seagrass meadow in response to environmental change. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 191(12), 774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-019-7977-z
- AMAP. (2017). Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA) 2017 (1–269). Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP).
- AMAP. (2021). Arctic Climate Change Update 2021: Key Trends and Impacts. Summary for Policy-makers (pp. 1–16). Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP).
- Améglio, T., Ewers, F. W., Cochard, H., Martignac, M., Vandame, M., Bodet, C., & Cruiziat, P. (2001). Winter stem xylem pressure in walnut trees: Effects of carbohydrates, cooling and freezing. *Tree Physiology*, 21(6), 387-394. https://doi.org/10.1093/treep hys/21.6.387

- Andrews, J. T., Mode, W. N., Webber, P. J., Miller, G. H., & Jacobs, J. D. (1980). Report on the distribution of dwarf birches and present pollen rain, Baffin Island, NWT, Canada. Arctic, 33, 50–58. https:// www.jstor.org/stable/40509275
- Aune, B. (1993). National atlas of Norway: Climate. Norwegian Mapping Authority.
- Banta, J. A., Ehrenreich, I. M., Gerard, S., Chou, L., Wilczek, A., Schmitt, J., Kover, P. X., & Purugganan, M. D. (2012). Climate envelope modelling reveals intraspecific relationships among flowering phenology, niche breadth and potential range size in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Ecology Letters*, 15(8), 769–777. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01796.x
- Bär, A., Bräuning, A., & Löffler, J. (2006). Dendroecology of dwarf shrubs in the high mountains of Norway – A methodological approach. *Dendrochronologia*, 24(1), 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dendro.2006.05.001
- Bär, A., Bräuning, A., & Löffler, J. (2007). Ring-width chronologies of the alpine dwarf shrub *Empetrum hermaphroditum* from the Norwegian mountains. *IAWA Journal*, 28(3), 325–338. https://doi. org/10.1163/22941932-90001644
- Bär, A., Pape, R., Bräuning, A., & Löffler, J. (2008). Growth-ring variations of dwarf shrubs reflect regional climate signals in alpine environments rather than topoclimatic differences. *Journal of Biogeography*, 35(4), 625–636. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2007.01804.x
- Barton, K. (2020). MuMIn: Multi-model inference. https://CRAN.R-proje ct.org/package=MuMIn
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bell, J. N. B., & Tallis, J. H. (1973). Empetrum Nigrum L. Journal of Ecology, 61(1), 289. https://doi.org/10.2307/2258934
- Bjerke, J. W., Bokhorst, S., Callaghan, T. V., & Phoenix, G. K. (2017). Persistent reduction of segment growth and photosynthesis in a widespread and important sub-Arctic moss species after cessation of three years of experimental winter warming. *Functional Ecology*, 31(1), 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12703
- Bjorkman, A. D., & Gallois, E. C. (2020). Winter in a warming Arctic. *Nature Climate Change*, 10(12), 1071–1073. https://doi.org/10.1038/s4155 8-020-0900-3
- Bjorkman, A. D., Myers-Smith, I. H., Elmendorf, S. C., Normand, S., Rüger, N., Beck, P. S. A., Blach-Overgaard, A., Blok, D., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Forbes, B. C., Georges, D., Goetz, S. J., Guay, K. C., Henry, G. H. R., HilleRisLambers, J., Hollister, R. D., Karger, D. N., Kattge, J., Manning, P., ... Weiher, E. (2018). Plant functional trait change across a warming tundra biome. *Nature*, *56*2(7725), 57–62. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0563-7
- Blok, D., Weijers, S., Welker, J. M., Cooper, E. J., Michelsen, A., Löffler, J., & Elberling, B. (2015). Deepened winter snow increases stem growth and alters stem δ13 C and δ15 N in evergreen dwarf shrub *Cassiope tetragona* in high-arctic Svalbard tundra. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10(4), 44008. https://doi.org/10.1088/174 8-9326/10/4/044008
- Bolker, B. M., Brooks, M. E., Clark, C. J., Geange, S. W., Poulsen, J. R., Stevens, M. H. H., & White, J.-S.-S. (2009). Generalized linear mixed models: A practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24(3), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tree.2008.10.008
- Bråthen, K. A., Gonzalez, V. T., & Yoccoz, N. G. (2018). Gatekeepers to the effects of climate warming? Niche construction restricts plant community changes along a temperature gradient. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 30, 71–81. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.06.005
- Bret-Harte, M. S., Shaver, G. R., Zoerner, J. P., Johnstone, J. F., Wagner, J. L., Chavez, A. S., & Laundre, J. A. (2001). Developmental plasticity allows *Betula nana* to dominate tundra subjected to an altered

- Büntgen, U., Hellmann, L., Tegel, W., Normand, S., Myers-Smith, I., Kirdyanov, A. V., Nievergelt, D., & Schweingruber, F. H. (2015). Temperature-induced recruitment pulses of Arctic dwarf shrub communities. *Journal of Ecology*, 103(2), 489–501. https://doi. org/10.1111/1365-2745.12361
- Callaghan, T. V., Johansson, M., Brown, R. D., Groisman, P. Y., Labba, N., Radionov, V., Barry, R. G., Bulygina, O. N., Essery, R. L. H., Frolov, D. M., Golubev, V. N., Grenfell, T. C., Petrushina, M. N., Razuvaev, V. N., Robinson, D. A., Romanov, P., Shindell, D., Shmakin, A. B., Sokratov, S. A., ... Yang, D. (2011). The changing face of arctic snow cover: A synthesis of observed and projected changes. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, 40(S1), 17–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13280-011-0212-y
- Callaway, R. M., Pennings, S. C., & Richards, C. L. (2003). Phenotypic plasticity and interactions among plants. *Ecology*, 84(5), 1115– 1128. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2003)084[1115:PPAIA P]2.0.CO;2
- Carlson, B. Z., Corona, M. C., Dentant, C., Bonet, R., Thuiller, W., & Choler, P. (2017). Observed long-term greening of alpine vegetation—A case study in the French Alps. *Environmental Research Letters*, 12(11), 114006. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa84bd
- Carrascal, L. M., Galván, I., & Gordo, O. (2009). Partial least squares regression as an alternative to current regression methods used in ecology. *Oikos*, 118(5), 681-690. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.16881.x
- Charra-Vaskou, K., Badel, E., Charrier, G., Ponomarenko, A., Bonhomme, M., Foucat, L., & Améglio, T. (2016). Cavitation and water fluxes driven by ice water potential in Juglans regia during freeze-thaw cycles. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67(3), 739–750. https://doi. org/10.1093/jxb/erv486
- Chevin, L.-M., Lande, R., & Mace, G. M. (2010). Adaptation, plasticity, and extinction in a changing environment: Towards a predictive theory. *PLoS Biology*, 8(4), e1000357. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pbio.1000357
- Choler, P. (2018). Winter soil temperature dependence of alpine plant distribution: Implications for anticipating vegetation changes under a warming climate. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 30, 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.11.002
- Coker, P. D., & Coker, A. M. (1973). *Phyllodoce Caerulea* (L.) Bab. *Journal of Ecology*, 61(3), 901. https://doi.org/10.2307/2258657
- Collins, C. G., Elmendorf, S. C., Hollister, R. D., Henry, G. H. R., Clark, K., Bjorkman, A. D., Myers-Smith, I. H., Prevéy, J. S., Ashton, I. W., Assmann, J. J., Alatalo, J. M., Carbognani, M., Chisholm, C., Cooper, E. J., Forrester, C., Jónsdóttir, I. S., Klanderud, K., Kopp, C. W., Livensperger, C., ... Suding, K. N. (2021). Experimental warming differentially affects vegetative and reproductive phenology of tundra plants. *Nature Communications*, 12(1), 3442. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-021-23841-2
- Crawford, R. M. M. (2008). Cold climate plants in a warmer world. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, 1(2), 285–297. https://doi.org/10.1080/17550 870802407332
- Dahl, E. (1986). Zonation in arctic and alpine tundra and fellfield ecobiomes. In N. Polunin (Ed.), *Ecosystem theory and application* (pp. 35– 62). John Wiley & Sons.
- de Groot, W. J., Thomas, P. A., & Wein, R. W. (1997). Betula nana L. and Betula glandulosa Michx. Journal of Ecology, 85(2), 241. https://doi. org/10.2307/2960655
- De Jong, S. (1993). SIMPLS: An alternative approach to partial least squares regression. Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems, 18(3), 251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-7439(93)85002-X
- Dijkstra, T. (1983). Some comments on maximum likelihood and partial least squares methods. *Journal of Econometrics*, 22(1–2), 67–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4076(83)90094-5

- Dobbert, S., Pape, R., & Löffler, J. (2021). Contrasting growth response of evergreen and deciduous arctic-alpine shrub species to climate variability. *Ecosphere*, 12(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3688
- Duputié, A., Rutschmann, A., Ronce, O., & Chuine, I. (2015). Phenological plasticity will not help all species adapt to climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 21(8), 3062–3073. https://doi.org/10.1111/ gcb.12914
- Elmendorf, S. C., Henry, G. H. R., Hollister, R. D., Björk, R. G., Bjorkman, A. D., Callaghan, T. V., Collier, L. S., Cooper, E. J., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Day, T. A., Fosaa, A. M., Gould, W. A., Grétarsdóttir, J., Harte, J., Hermanutz, L., Hik, D. S., Hofgaard, A., Jarrad, F., Jónsdóttir, I. S., ... Wookey, P. A. (2012). Global assessment of experimental climate warming on tundra vegetation: Heterogeneity over space and time. *Ecology Letters*, 15(2), 164–175. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01716.x
- Elmendorf, S. C., Henry, G. H. R., Hollister, R. D., Björk, R. G., Boulanger-Lapointe, N., Cooper, E. J., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Day, T. A., Dorrepaal, E., Elumeeva, T. G., Gill, M., Gould, W. A., Harte, J., Hik, D. S., Hofgaard, A., Johnson, D. R., Johnstone, J. F., Jónsdóttir, I. S., Jorgenson, J. C., ... Wipf, S. (2012). Plot-scale evidence of tundra vegetation change and links to recent summer warming. *Nature Climate Change*, *2*(6), 453–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1465
- Epstein, H. E., Bhatt, U., Raynolds, M., Walker, D., Forbes, B., Horstkotte, T., Macias-Fauria, M., Martin, A., Phoenix, G., Bjerke, J., Tømmervik, H., Vickers, H., Myneni, R., & Dickerson, C. (2017). Tundra Greenness. Arctic Report Card, NOOA. Retrieved from www.arctic.noaa.gov
- Farrés, M., Platikanov, S., Tsakovski, S., & Tauler, R. (2015). Comparison of the variable importance in projection (VIP) and of the selectivity ratio (SR) methods for variable selection and interpretation. *Journal of Chemometrics*, 29(10), 528–536. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cem.2736
- Firn, J., Nguyen, H., Schütz, M., & Risch, A. C. (2019). Leaf trait variability between and within subalpine grassland species differs depending on site conditions and herbivory. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286(1907), 20190429. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rspb.2019.0429
- Fonti, P., von Arx, G., García-González, I., Eilmann, B., Sass-Klaassen, U., Gärtner, H., & Eckstein, D. (2010). Studying global change through investigation of the plastic responses of xylem anatomy in tree rings. *New Phytologist*, 185(1), 42–53. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.03030.x
- Forbes, B. C., Fauria, M. M., & Zetterberg, P. (2010). Russian Arctic warming and 'greening' are closely tracked by tundra shrub willows. *Global Change Biology*, 16(5), 1542–1554. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02047.x
- Fraser, R. H., Lantz, T. C., Olthof, I., Kokelj, S. V., & Sims, R. A. (2014). Warming-induced shrub expansion and lichen decline in the Western Canadian Arctic. *Ecosystems*, 17(7), 1151–1168. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10021-014-9783-3
- Frindte, K., Pape, R., Werner, K., Löffler, J., & Knief, C. (2019). Temperature and soil moisture control microbial community composition in an arctic-alpine ecosystem along elevational and microtopographic gradients. *The ISME Journal*, 13(8), 2031–2043. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0409-9
- Funk, J. L., Larson, J. E., Ames, G. M., Butterfield, B. J., Cavender-Bares, J., Firn, J., Laughlin, D. C., Sutton-Grier, A. E., & Williams, L., & Wright, J. (2017). Revisiting the Holy Grail: Using plant functional traits to understand ecological processes. *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 92(2), 1156–1173. https://doi. org/10.1111/brv.12275
- Geladi, P., & Kowalski, B. R. (1986). Partial least-squares regression: A tutorial. Analytica Chimica Acta, 185, 1–17. https://doi. org/10.1016/0003-2670(86)80028-9

- González, V. T., Moriana-Armendariz, M., Hagen, S. B., Lindgård, B., Reiersen, R., & Bråthen, K. A. (2019). High resistance to climatic variability in a dominant tundra shrub species. *PeerJ*, 7, e6967. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.6967
- Graae, B. J., Vandvik, V., Armbruster, W. S., Eiserhardt, W. L., Svenning, J.-C., Hylander, K., Ehrlén, J., Speed, J. D. M., Klanderud, K., Bråthen, K. A., Milbau, A., Opedal, Ø. H., Alsos, I. G., Ejrnæs, R., Bruun, H. H., Birks, H. J. B., Westergaard, K. B., Birks, H. H., & Lenoir, J. (2018). Stay or go how topographic complexity influences alpine plant population and community responses to climate change. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 30, 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.09.008
- Grace, J. B., & Bollen, K. A. (2005). Interpreting the results from multiple regression and structural equation models. *Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America*, 86(4), 283–295. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9623(2005)86[283:ITRFMR]2.0.CO;2
- Grams, T. E. E., Hesse, B. D., Gebhardt, T., Weikl, F., Rötzer, T., Kovacs, B., Hikino, K., Hafner, B. D., Brunn, M., Bauerle, T., Häberle, K.-H., Pretzsch, H., & Pritsch, K. (2021). The Kroof experiment: Realization and efficacy of a recurrent drought experiment plus recovery in a beech/spruce forest. *Ecosphere*, 12(3), https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3399
- Grellmann, D. (2002). Plant responses to fertilization and exclusion of grazers on an arctic tundra heath. *Oikos*, 98(2), 190–204. https:// doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2002.980202.x
- Hein, N., Pape, R., Finch, O.-D., & Löffler, J. (2014). Alpine activity patterns of *Mitopus morio* (Fabricius, 1779) are induced by variations in temperature and humidity at different scales in central Norway. *Journal of Mountain Science*, 11(3), 644–655. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11629-013-2913-0
- Hendry, A. P. (2016). Key questions on the role of phenotypic plasticity in eco-evolutionary dynamics. *The Journal of Heredity*, 107(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esv060
- Henn, J. J., Buzzard, V., Enquist, B. J., Halbritter, A. H., Klanderud, K., Maitner, B. S., Michaletz, S. T., Pötsch, C., Seltzer, L., Telford, R. J., Yang, Y., Zhang, L. I., & Vandvik, V. (2018). Intraspecific trait variation and phenotypic plasticity mediate alpine plant species response to climate change. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *9*, 1548. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01548
- Hoffmann, A. A., & Sgrò, C. M. (2011). Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. *Nature*, 470(7335), 479–485. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature09670
- Hollesen, J., Buchwal, A., Rachlewicz, G., Hansen, B. U., Hansen, M. O., Stecher, O., & Elberling, B. (2015). Winter warming as an important co-driver for *Betula nana* growth in western Greenland during the past century. *Global Change Biology*, 21(6), 2410–2423. https://doi. org/10.1111/gcb.12913
- Hultén, E. (1968). Flora of Alaska and Neighboring territories: A manual of the vascular plants. Stanford University Press.
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Kameyama, Y., Kasagi, T., & Kudo, G. (2008). A hybrid zone dominated by fertile F1s of two alpine shrub species, *Phyllodoce caerulea* and *Phyllodoce aleutica*, along a snowmelt gradient. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 21(2), 588–597. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2007.01476.x
- Kingsolver, J. G., & Huey, R. B. (1998). Evolutionary analyses of morphological and physiological plasticity in thermally variable environments. *American Zoologist*, 38(3), 545–560. https://doi. org/10.1093/icb/38.3.545
- Kleiven, M. (1959). Studies on the xerophile vegetation in northern Gudbrandsdalen, Norway. Nytt Magasin for Botanik, 7, 1-60.
- Körner, C. (2012). Treelines will be understood once the functional difference between a tree and a shrub is. *Ambio*, 41(Suppl 3), 197–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-012-0313-2

- Körner, C. (2016). Plant adaptation to cold climates. F1000Research, 5, 2769. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.9107.1
- Körner, C. (2021). Alpine plant life: Functional plant ecology of high mountain ecosystems. Springer.
- Körner, C., & Hiltbrunner, E. (2018). The 90 ways to describe plant temperature. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 30, 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.04.004
- Kucheryavskiy, S. (2020). Mdatools-R package for chemometrics. Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems, 198. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemolab.2020.103937Lavorel
- Lavorel, S., & Garnier, E. (2002). Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the Holy Grail. *Functional Ecology*, 16(5), 545–556. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1365-2435.2002.00664.x
- Leimu, R., & Fischer, M. (2008). A meta-analysis of local adaptation in plants. *PLoS One*, 3(12), e4010. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pone.0004010
- Liang, E., & Eckstein, D. (2009). Dendrochronological potential of the alpine shrub *Rhododendron nivale* on the south-eastern Tibetan Plateau. *Annals of Botany*, 104(4), 665–670. https://doi. org/10.1093/aob/mcp158
- Lindfors, L., Atherton, J., Riikonen, A., & Hölttä, T. (2019). A mechanistic model of winter stem diameter dynamics reveals the time constant of diameter changes and the elastic modulus across tissues and species. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 272–273, 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.03.016
- Lintunen, A., Paljakka, T., Jyske, T., Peltoniemi, M., Sterck, F., von Arx, G., Cochard, H., Copini, P., Caldeira, M. C., Delzon, S., Gebauer, R., Grönlund, L., Kiorapostolou, N., Lechthaler, S., Lobo-do-Vale, R., Peters, R. L., Petit, G., Prendin, A. L., Salmon, Y., ... Hölttä, T. (2016). Osmolality and non-structural carbohydrate composition in the secondary phloem of trees across a latitudinal gradient in Europe. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *7*, 726. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2016.00726
- Löffler, J. (2003). Micro-climatic determination of vegetation patterns along topographical, altitudinal, and oceanic-continental gradients in the high mountains of Norway. *Erdkunde*, *57*(3), 232–249. https:// doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2003.03.05
- Löffler, J. (2007). The influence of micro-climate, snow cover, and soil moisture on ecosystem functioning in high mountains. *Journal of Geographical Sciences*, 17(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1144 2-007-0003-3
- Löffler, J., Dobbert, S., Pape, R., & Wundram, D. (2021). Dendrometer measurements of arctic-alpine dwarf shrubs and micro-environmental drivers of plant growth - Dataset from long-term alpine ecosystem research in central Norway. *Erdkunde*, 75(2), DP311201. https://doi. org/10.3112/erdkunde.2021.dp.01
- Löffler, J., & Finch, O.-D. (2005). Spatio-temporal gradients between high mountain ecosystems of Central Norway. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 37(4), 499–513. https://doi.org/10.1657/1523-0430(2005)037[0499:SGBHME]2.0.CO;2
- Löffler, J., & Pape, R. (2020). Thermal niche predictors of alpine plant species. *Ecology*, 101(1), e02891. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2891
- Löffler, J., Pape, R., & Wundram, D. (2006). The climatologic significance of topography, altitude and region in high mountains – A survey of oceanic-continental differentiations of the Scandes. *Erdkunde*, 60(1), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2006.01.02
- Macias-Fauria, M., Jepson, P., Zimov, N., & Malhi, Y. (2020). Pleistocene Arctic megafaunal ecological engineering as a natural climate solution? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 375(1794), e0122. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2019.0122
- Malyshev, A. V., Arfin Khan, M. A. S., Beierkuhnlein, C., Steinbauer, M. J., Henry, H. A. L., Jentsch, A., Dengler, J., Willner, E., & Kreyling, J. (2016). Plant responses to climatic extremes: Within-species

Martens, H., & Næs, T. (1989). Multivariate calibration. John Wiley & Sons.

- Martin, A. C., Jeffers, E. S., Petrokofsky, G., Myers-Smith, I., & Macias-Fauria, M. (2017). Shrub growth and expansion in the Arctic tundra: An assessment of controlling factors using an evidence-based approach. *Environmental Research Letters*, 12(8), 85007. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa7989
- Matesanz, S., Gianoli, E., & Valladares, F. (2010). Global change and the evolution of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1206, 35–55. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05704.x
- Matesanz, S., Horgan-Kobelski, T., & Sultan, S. E. (2012). Phenotypic plasticity and population differentiation in an ongoing species invasion. *PLoS One*, 7(9), e44955. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pone.0044955
- Mehmood, T., Liland, K. H., Snipen, L., & Sæbø, S. (2012). A review of variable selection methods in Partial Least Squares Regression. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems*, 118, 62-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemolab.2012.07.010
- Moen, A., & Lillethun, A. (1999). National atlas of Norway: Vegetation. Norwegian Mapping Authority.
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Elmendorf, S. C., Beck, P. S. A., Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., Blok, D., Tape, K. D., Rayback, S. A., Macias-Fauria, M., Forbes, B. C., Speed, J. D. M., Boulanger-Lapointe, N., Rixen, C., Lévesque, E., Schmidt, N. M., Baittinger, C., Trant, A. J., Hermanutz, L., Collier, L. S., ... Vellend, M. (2015). Climate sensitivity of shrub growth across the tundra biome. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(9), 887– 891. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2697
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Forbes, B. C., Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., Lantz, T., Blok, D., Tape, K. D., Macias-Fauria, M., Sass-Klaassen, U., Lévesque, E., Boudreau, S., Ropars, P., Hermanutz, L., Trant, A., Collier, L. S., Weijers, S., Rozema, J., Rayback, S. A., Schmidt, N. M., ... Hik, D. S. (2011). Shrub expansion in tundra ecosystems: Dynamics, impacts and research priorities. *Environmental Research Letters*, 6(4), 45509. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/6/4/045509
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Kerby, J. T., Phoenix, G. K., Bjerke, J. W., Epstein, H. E., Assmann, J. J., John, C., Andreu-Hayles, L., Angers-Blondin, S., Beck, P. S. A., Berner, L. T., Bhatt, U. S., Bjorkman, A. D., Blok, D., Bryn, A., Christiansen, C. T., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Cunliffe, A. M., Elmendorf, S. C., ... Wipf, S. (2020). Complexity revealed in the greening of the Arctic. *Nature Climate Change*, 10(2), 106–117. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0688-1
- Nakagawa, S., & Schielzeth, H. (2013). A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(2), 133–142. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.2041-210x.2012.00261.x
- Nicotra, A. B., Atkin, O. K., Bonser, S. P., Davidson, A. M., Finnegan, E. J., Mathesius, U., Poot, P., Purugganan, M. D., Richards, C. L., Valladares, F., & van Kleunen, M. (2010). Plant phenotypic plasticity in a changing climate. *Trends in Plant Science*, 15(12), 684–692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2010.09.008
- Nielsen, S. S., Arx, G. V., Damgaard, C. F., Abermann, J., Buchwal, A., Büntgen, U., Treier, U. A., & Normand, S. (2017). Xylem Betula nana in Western Greenland. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 49(3), 359–371. https://doi.org/10.1657/AAAR0016-041
- Niittynen, P., Heikkinen, R. K., & Luoto, M. (2018). Snow cover is a neglected driver of Arctic biodiversity loss. *Nature Climate Change*, 8(11), 997–1001. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0311-x
- Oberhuber, W., Sehrt, M., & Kitz, F. (2020). Hygroscopic properties of thin dead outer bark layers strongly influence stem diameter variations on short and long time scales in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 290, 108026. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2020.108026

- Ögren, E. (2001). Effects of climatic warming on cold hardiness of some northern woody plants assessed from simulation experiments. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 112(1), 71–77. https://doi.org/10.1034/ j.1399-3054.2001.1120110.x
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Peter Solymos, M., Stevens, H. H., Szoecs, E., & Wagner, H. (2020). *vegan: Community ecology package*. Retrieved from https://CRAN.R-project.org/packa ge=vegan
- Pape, R., & Löffler, J. (2016). Broad-scale assumptions on available pasture resources and reindeer's habitat preferences shown to be decoupled from ecological reality of arctic-alpine landscapes. Erdkunde, 70(2), 169–192. https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.2016.02.05
- Pape, R., & Löffler, J. (2017). Determinants of arctic-alpine pasture resources: The need for a spatially and functionally fine-scaled perspective. *Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography, 99*(4), 353–370. https://doi.org/10.1080/04353676.2017.1368833
- Pérez-Ramos, I. M., Matías, L., Gómez-Aparicio, L., & Godoy, Ó. (2019). Functional traits and phenotypic plasticity modulate species coexistence across contrasting climatic conditions. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 2555. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-10453-0
- Pfennigwerth, A. A., Bailey, J. K., & Schweitzer, J. A. (2017). Trait variation along elevation gradients in a dominant woody shrub is populationspecific and driven by plasticity. *AoB Plants*, 9(4), plx027. https:// doi.org/10.1093/aobpla/plx027
- Phoenix, G. K., & Bjerke, J. W. (2016). Arctic browning: Extreme events and trends reversing arctic greening. *Global Change Biology*, 22(9), 2960–2962. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13261
- Post, E., Alley, R. B., Christensen, T. R., Macias-Fauria, M., Forbes, B. C., Gooseff, M. N., Iler, A., Kerby, J. T., Laidre, K. L., Mann, M. E., Olofsson, J., Stroeve, J. C., Ulmer, F., Virginia, R. A., & Wang, M. (2019). The polar regions in a 2°C warmer world. *Science Advances*, 5(12), eaaw9883. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaw9883
- R Core Team. (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-proje ct.org/
- Rajalahti, T., Arneberg, R., Kroksveen, A. C., Berle, M., Myhr, K.-M., & Kvalheim, O. M. (2009). Discriminating variable test and selectivity ratio plot: Quantitative tools for interpretation and variable (biomarker) selection in complex spectral or chromatographic profiles. *Analytical Chemistry*, 81(7), 2581–2590. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ac802514y
- Raunkiær, C. (2015). Life forms of plants and statistical plant geography. Isha Books; Facsimile Publishers.
- Rizzi, J., Nilsen, I. B., Stagge, J. H., Gisnås, K., & Tallaksen, L. M. (2018). Five decades of warming: Impacts on snow cover in Norway. *Hydrology Research*, 49(3), 670–688. https://doi.org/10.2166/nh.2017.051
- Ropars, P., Lévesque, E., & Boudreau, S. (2015). How do climate and topography influence the greening of the forest-tundra ecotone in northern Québec? A dendrochronological analysis of Betula glandulosa. *Journal of Ecology*, 103(3), 679–690. https://doi. org/10.1111/1365-2745.12394
- Rossi, S., Deslauriers, A., Griçar, J., Seo, J.-W., Rathgeber, C. B. K., Anfodillo, T., Morin, H., Levanic, T., Oven, P., & Jalkanen, R. (2008). Critical temperatures for xylogenesis in conifers of cold climates. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 17(6), 696–707. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2008.00417.x
- Savolainen, O., Pyhäjärvi, T., & Knürr, T. (2007). Gene flow and local adaptation in trees. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, *38*(1), 595–619. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecols ys.38.091206.095646
- Seebacher, F., White, C. R., & Franklin, C. E. (2015). Physiological plasticity increases resilience of ectothermic animals to climate change.

Nature Climate Change, 5(1), 61-66. https://doi.org/10.1038/ NCLIMATE2457

- Steppe, K., Sterck, F., & Deslauriers, A. (2015). Diel growth dynamics in tree stems: Linking anatomy and ecophysiology. *Trends in Plant Science*, 20(6), 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplan ts.2015.03.015
- Stushnoff, C., & Junttila, O. (1986). Seasonal development of cold stress resistance in several plant species at a coastal and a continental location in North Norway. *Polar Biology*, 5(3), 129–133. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF00441691
- Szmidt, A. E., Nilsson, M.-C., Briceño, E., Zackrisson, O., & Wang, X.-R. (2002). Establishment and genetic structure of *Empetrum hermaphroditum* populations in northern Sweden. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 13(5), 627–634. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1654-1103.2002.tb02090.x
- Valladares, F., Matesanz, S., Guilhaumon, F., Araújo, M. B., Balaguer, L., Benito-Garzón, M., Cornwell, W., Gianoli, E., Kleunen, M., Naya, D. E., Nicotra, A. B., Poorter, H., & Zavala, M. A. (2014). The effects of phenotypic plasticity and local adaptation on forecasts of species range shifts under climate change. *Ecology Letters*, 17(11), 1351– 1364. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12348
- Vinzi, E. V. (2010). Handbook of partial least squares: Concepts, methods and applications. In Springer handbooks of computational statistics. Springer. ISBN 9783540328254.
- Violle, C., Enquist, B. J., McGill, B. J., Jiang, L., Albert, C. H., Hulshof, C., Jung, V., & Messier, J. (2012). The return of the variance: Intraspecific variability in community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 27(4), 244–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.11.014
- Virtanen, R., Oksanen, L., Oksanen, T., Cohen, J., Forbes, B. C., Johansen, B., Käyhkö, J., Olofsson, J., Pulliainen, J., & Tømmervik, H. (2016).
 Where do the treeless tundra areas of northern highlands fit in the global biome system: Toward an ecologically natural subdivision of the tundra biome. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6(1), 143–158. https://doi. org/10.1002/ece3.1837
- Wang, Y., Wang, Y., Li, Z., Yu, P., & Han, X. (2020). Interannual variation of transpiration and its modeling of a larch plantation in Semiarid Northwest China. *Forests*, 11(12), 1303. https://doi.org/10.3390/ f11121303
- Wasof, S., Lenoir, J., Gallet-Moron, E., Jamoneau, A., Brunet, J., Cousins, S. A. O., De Frenne, P., Diekmann, M., Hermy, M., Kolb, A., Liira, J., Verheyen, K., Wulf, M., & Decocq, G. (2013). Ecological niche shifts of understory plants along a latitudinal gradient of temperate forests in north-western Europe. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 22(10), 1130–1140. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12073
- Weijers, S., Beckers, N., & Löffler, J. (2018). Recent spring warming limits near-treeline deciduous and evergreen alpine dwarf shrub growth. *Ecosphere*, 9(6), e02328. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2328

- Weijers, S., & Löffler, J. (2020). Auswirkungen des Klimawandels auf das Wachstum von Zwergsträuchern in Hochgebirgen. In J. L. Lozán, S.-W. Breckle, H. Grassl, D. Kasang, F. Paul, & U. Schickhoff (Eds.), Warnsignal Klima: Hochgebirge im Wandel (pp. 23-27). Wissenschaftliche Auswertungen.
- Weiss, N. A. (2016). wBoot: Bootstrap methods. Retrieved from https:// CRAN.R-project.org/package=wBoot
- Wold, H. (1975). Soft modelling by latent variables: The non-linear iterative partial least squares (NIPALS) approach. *Journal of Applied Probability*, 12, 117–142. https://doi.org/10.1017/S002190020 0047604
- Wold, S. (1978). Cross-validatory estimation of the number of components in factor and principal components models. *Technometrics*, 20(4), 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1080/00401706.1978.10489693
- Wold, H. (1980). Evaluation of econometric models. Academic Press.
- Xu, L., Myneni, R. B., Chapin III, F. S., Callaghan, T. V., Pinzon, J. E., Tucker, C. J., Zhu, Z., Bi, J., Ciais, P., Tømmervik, H., Euskirchen, E. S., Forbes, B. C., Piao, S. L., Anderson, B. T., Ganguly, S., Nemani, R. R., Goetz, S. J., Beck, P. S. A., Bunn, A. G., ... Stroeve, J. C. (2013). Temperature and vegetation seasonality diminishment over northern lands. *Nature Climate Change*, 3(6), 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nclimate1836
- Young, A. B., Watts, D. A., Taylor, A. H., & Post, E. (2016). Species and site differences influence climate-shrub growth responses in West Greenland. *Dendrochronologia*, 37, 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.dendro.2015.12.007
- Zweifel, R. (2016). Radial stem variations a source of tree physiological information not fully exploited yet. *Plant, Cell & Environment, 39*(2), 231–232. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12613
- Zweifel, R., Drew, D. M., Schweingruber, F., & Downes, G. M. (2014). Xylem as the main origin of stem radius changes in Eucalyptus. Functional Plant Biology, 41(5), 520–534. https://doi.org/10.1071/ FP13240

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of the article at the publisher's website.

How to cite this article: Dobbert, S., Pape, R., & Löffler, J. (2021). How does spatial heterogeneity affect inter- and intraspecific growth patterns in tundra shrubs? *Journal of Ecology*, 109, 4115–4131. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13784